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PREFACE

Accounting Trends & Techniques—1999, Fifty-Third Edition, is a compilation of data obtained
by a survey of 600 annual reports to stockholders undertaken for the purpose of analyzing the
accounting information disclosed in such reports. The annual reports surveyed were those of
selected industrial, merchandising, and service companies for fiscal periods ending between
February 27, 1998 and January 31, 1999.

Significant accounting trends, as revealed by a comparison of current survey findings with
those of prior years, are highlighted in numerous comparative tabulations throughout this
publication. These tables show trends in such diverse accounting matters as financial statement
format and terminology and the accounting treatment of transactions and events reflected in the
financial statements.

Accounting techniques are illustrated by excerpts from the annual reports of the survey
companies. References (in the form of a listing of company identification numbers—see the
following paragraph) to additional illustrations of an accounting technique may be requested from
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants by contacting Andy Mrakovcic at:

Harborside Financial Center
201 Plaza Three, Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881
Telephone: (201) 938-3062
Fax: (201) 938-3780
Email: amrakovcic@aicpa.org

Each of the 600 survey companies included in this edition has been assigned an identification
number which is used for reference throughout the text in the discussion of pertinent information.
250 of the companies were listed in the fortieth (1986) edition and each retained the number
assigned in that edition. The other 350 companies in the 1986 edition have been eliminated. Most
of the eliminated companies were eliminated because of a business combination with another
company. The identification numbers of the eliminated companies have not been reused.
Numbers 601 through 950 have been assigned to the replacement companies. The 600
companies in the current edition are listed in the Appendix of 600 Companies both alphabetically
and by their identification number.

Beginning with Accounting Trends & Techniques—1999, Fifty-Third Edition, a new Section 4,
Comprehensive Income, has been included. Former sections 4—Stockholders' Equity, 5—
Statement of Cash Flows, and 6—Independent Auditors' Report, have been renumbered as
sections 5, 6, and 7, respectively.

Special acknowledgment is due to Matthew Calderisi, CPA; J. Richard Chaplin, CPA; Gregory
Frydman, CPA; William A. Godla, CPA; Toni Monier, CPA; Joseph M. Nestor, CPA; and Anthony
Tarallo, CPA for their assistance in the analysis of the financial reports and preparation of the
manuscript.

George N. Dietz, CPA—Senior Manager, Accounting & Auditing Publications
AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Accounting Trends & Techniques: (201) 938-3062
AICPA Technical Hotline: (888) 777-7077, option 2
AICPA Member Satisfaction (order department): (888) 777-7077, option 1
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TABLE 1-1: INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATIONS

AGVEISING ..ot
Aerospace........ .
Apparel, ShOES .......vcvrerrerresreresrenesenesenions
Beverages........c...coo.eune.
Building materials, glass
Chemicals ...........ooorvvemerennsressrsssssssnssennens
Computer and data services.............veen......
Computers, office equipment.......
Electronics, electrical equipment..
Engineering, construction............c.ccenereennee..
Entertainment..........c.cccovvrervnnresrinens

Forest and paper products
FUPRIRUPE ..o sessessenseneans
Hotels, Casinos..........courvereerernermmrenreniseenns
Industrial and farm equipment......................
Medical products...........cceevvvemmerinsecrennecnene.
Metal products...........ccccvureernnrmnrsesrnssensinnenes

Mining, crude oil production ...........ccc.ourrenn...
Motor vehicles and parts.............cccrverrennne.
Petroleum refining..............ccerveeeeirmrerersenenns
Pharmaceuticals...........ccc.onerenrcrnrneerniennnn.
Publishing, printing...........cocceeererernccennerennens
Retailing-grocery stores...............cocvmvverrrunees
Retailing-other stores .............comronsevererieonns
Rubber and plastic products ..........ccccvsruenn.
Scientific, photographic, and

control equipment
Semiconductors ..........
S0apS, COSMELICS ........cvrcvererennrraresseesserarnenes
Textiles............. e
TODACCO ...,
Transportation equipment .......c..coveeerrrnrnenne
Waste management.............cooevuereremeerneenas
WhOIESEIEFS ...........cconremmecrrceannnenreerenmrnes
Not otherwise classified .............ccoverurrerinnnee
Total Companies

Section 1: General
. |

THIS SECTION OF THE SURVEY is concerned with
general information about the 600 companies selected for
the survey and with certain accounting information usually
disclosed in notes accompanying the basic financial
statements.

COMPANIES SELECTED FOR SURVEY

All 600 companies included in the survey are registered with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. Many of the
survey companies have securities traded on one of the
major stock exchanges—82% on the New York and 3% on
the American. The remaining 15% were traded on “over-the-
counter” exchanges. Table 1-1 presents an industry
classification of the 600 survey companies; Table 1-2
indicates the relative size of the survey companies as
measured by dollar amount of revenue.

TABLE 1-2: REVENUE OF SURVEY COMPANIES
1998 1997 1996 1995

Less than $100,000,000..................... 23 28 28 32
Between $100,000,000 and

$500,000,000 .........cceevvrerrrenreennes 74 76 86 101
Between $500,000,000 and

$1,000,000,000.......c0cc0rverrrvrrenne 44 55 60 68
Between $1,000,000,000 and

$2,000,000,000 .......cecveievmerrenreennes 134 132 120 114
More than $2,000,000,000................. 325 309 306 285
Total Companies..............c...coeecrncen. 600 600 600 600




2 Section 1: General

INFORMATION REQUIRED BY RULE
14a-3 TO BE INCLUDED IN ANNUAL
REPORTS TO STOCKHOLDERS

Rule 14a-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 states
that annual reports furnished to stockholders in connection
with the annual meetings of stockholders should include
audited financial statements—balance sheets as of the 2
most recent fiscal years, and statements of income and of
cash flows for each of the 3 most recent fiscal years. Rule
14a-3 also states that the following information, as specified
in Regulation S-K, should be included in the annual report to
stockholders:

Selected quarterly financial data.

Disagreements with accountants on accounting

and financial disclosure.

Summary of selected financial data for last 5 years.

. Description of business activities.

Segment information.

. Listing of company directors and executive officers.

. Market price of Company’s common stock for each
quarterly period within the two most recent fiscal
years.

8. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial

condition and results of operations.

9. Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about

market risk.

Examples of items 1, 3, 8, and 9 follow. Included with the
item 8 examples are excerpts from management’s
discussion and analysis as to forward looking information,
euro conversion, and year 2000. Certain survey companies
discussed the year 2000 problem in the notes to financial
statements. Such disclosures are presented on pages 83—
84.

Examples of segment information disclosures are
presented on pages 23—35.

Noos® P
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Quarterly Financial Data
CHAMPION INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION (DEC)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
16. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
{in millions of dollars, except per share amounts) March 31 June30  September30  December 31
Net sales: 1998 $1,477.0 $1,4738 $1,358.0 $1,344.2
1997 1,366.7 1,407.5 1,478.4 1,4829
Gross profit: 1998 $ 1846 $ 186.7 $ 1764 $ 1523
1997 871 129.2 185.4 193.7
Income (loss) before taxes (a): 1998 $ 251 $ 430 $ 419 $ (72.6)
1997 (59.6) (25.6) 30.2 (841.6)
Income taxes (benefit) (a,b): 1998 $ 6.1 $ 109 $ 106 $ (65.5)
1997 (22.5) (14.3) 10.1 (321.4)
Net income (loss) (a,b): 1998 $ 19.0 $ 321 $ 31.3 $ (71)
1997 (37.1) (11.3) 20.2 (520.2)
Basic earnings (loss) per
common share (a,b): 1998 $ 20 $ 33 $ 33 $ (07)
1997 (:39) (12) 21 (5.42)
Diluted earnings (loss) per
common share (a,b): 1998 $ .20 $ 33 $ 32 $ (07)
1997 (:39) (12) 21 (5.42)

@

(b)

In the fourth quarter of 1997, the company recorded a provision for restructuring of $891 million ($552 million after-tax, or $5.76 per

share). (Note 10)

In the fourth quarter of 1998, the company recorded a provision for restructuring of $80 million ($49 million after-tax, or $.52 per share).

(Note 10)

In the fourth quarter of 1998, the company recorded a benefit of $30 million, or $.32 per share, resuiting from the reversal of previously

established reserves that are no longer required.
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OXFORD INDUSTRIES, INC. (MAY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

L (In Part): Summarized Quarterly Data (Unaudited):
Following is a summary of the quarterly resuits of operations for the years ended May 29, 1998, May 30, 1997 and May 31,

1996:

Fiscal Quarter
$ in thousands, except per share amounts First Second Third Fourth Total
1998
Net sales: $193,242 $208,062 $178,677 $194,537 $774,518
Gross profit 36,645 41,679 35,520 40,984 154,828
Net eamings 5410 7,781 5,391 6,041 24,623
Basic earnings per share 0.61 0.88 0.61 0.69 279
Diluted earnings per share 0.61 0.87 0.60 0.67 275
1997*
Net sales $172,517 $203,234 $167,470 $159,974 $703,195
Gross profit 31,574 36,959 33,597 34,883 137,013
Net earnings 3475 6,599 4,399 5174 19,647
Basic earnings per share 0.40 0.75 0.51 0.59 225
Diluted earnings per share 0.40 0.75 0.50 0.58 2.3
1996** N
Net sales $189,254 $187,066 $138,600 $149,523 $664,443
Gross profit 32,123 31,844 22,465 29,399 115,831
Net earnings (loss) 278 2,623 (2,020) 1,313 2,194
Basic earnings (loss) per share 0.03 0.30 (0.23) 0.15 0.25
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.03 0.30 (0.23) 0.15 0.25

*
wk

Includes an after-tax LIFO adjustment in the fourth quarter of $1,266,088, or $.09 per share favorable in 1997.
Includes an after-tax adjustment in the first quarter of $2,700,000 or $.31 per share for a provision for environmental remediation.
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SCHERING-PLOUGH CORPOQORATION (DEC)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in millions, except per share figures)
Quarterly Data (Unaudited)
Three months ended March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997
Net sales $1,908 $1,568 $2,124 $1,720 $1,986 $1,709  $2,059 $1,781
Cost of sales 380 289 423 330 394 326 404 363
Gross Profit 1,528 1,279 1,701 1,390 1,592 1,383 1,655 1,418
Selling, general and administrative 712 594 828 679 762 681 839 710
Research and development 224 179 261 209 257 220 265 239
Other, net (4) 9 9 8 1 15 (4) 14
Income before income taxes 596 497 603 494 572 467 555 455
Income taxes 146 122 148 121 140 114 136 112
Netincome $ 450 $ 375 $ 455 $ 373 $ 432 $33 §419 $ 343
Basic earnings per common share $ 3 $ .26 $ 3 $ 25 $ .29 $ 24 $ .29 $ .23
Diluted earnings per common share .30 .25 31 .25 29 24 .28 23
Dividends per common share 095 .083 1 .095 A1 .095 Bk .095
Common share prices:
High 42’} 20" 46" )ie 24" 53" 27 57'f 317
Low 307t 16°) 39's 17 43 23 45" 257}
Average shares outstanding for basic EPS
(in millions) 1,466 1,463 1,467 1,464 1,469 1,465 1,470 1,465
Average shares outstanding for diluted EPS
(in millions) 1,485 1,476 1,488 1,480 1,490 1,482 1,489 1,482

Certain 1997 amounts have been restated to refiect the 1998 2-for-1 stock split.

The Company’s common shares are listed and principally
traded on the New York Stock Exchange. The approximate
number of holders of record of common shares as of

December 31, 1998, was 47,000.
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Selected Information For Five Years

AMERON INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION (NOV)

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Year ended November 30
(Dollars in thousands except per share data) 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
Per common share data
Net income (basic) $ 517" $ 484 $ 3.89 $ 3.16 $ 2767
Net income (diluted) 5.08" 473 3.87 3.15 2.75°
Dividends 1.28 1.28 1.28 1.28 1.28
Basic average shares 4,016,852 4,003,452 3,966,490 3,944,363 3,916,072
Diluted average shares 4,084,377 4,094,885 3,982,006 3,954,544 3,924,456
Stock price-high 64°%s 70 50 37 43"
Stock price—ow 33 46'fs 34'fs 29 31
Pricefearnings ratio (range) 13-7 15-10 139 12-9 16-12
Operating results
Sales $ 552,146 $ 533,506 $ 496,940 $ 481,405 $ 417,682
Gross profit 139,212 135,683 129,263 116,731 103,975
Interest expense (15,646) (12,433) (11,134) (11,715) (11,191)
Provision for income taxes (11,171) (11,874) (8,297) (5,190) (7,297)
Net income 20,746" 19,372 15,410 12,452 10,7907
Net income/sales 3.8% 3.6% 3.1% 2.6% 2.6%
Return on equity 13.0% 13.0% 11.0% 9.6% 9.0%
Financial condition at year end
Working capital $ 146,860 $ 154,027 $ 121,858 $ 114,458 $ 103,904
Property, plant and equipment, net 157,918 127,678 125,687 114,116 112,953
Investments, advances and equity in affiliated companies 22,182 33,777 33,722 36,197 37,315
Total assets 500,219 433,225 411,666 371,381 350,856
Long-term debt, less current portion 165,308 140,917 112,598 91,565 92,847
Cash flow
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment $ 32,744 $ 24,860 $ 25227 $ 16,154 $ 14,934
Depreciation and amortization 18,699 16,676 16,445 16,226 15,995
Business acquisitions 46,419 — 29,032 — —

™ Includes net of tax gain of $17.5 million on sales of assets and net of tax charges of $14.1 million on asset write-downs and other charges.
@ Includes net of tax gain of $1.8 million on the sale of a Colombian subsidiary.



DATA GENERAL CORPORATION (SEP)

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Information Required by SEC Regulations

Year ended
In thousands, except per share amounts Sept. 26,1998  Sept27,1997  Sept. 28,1996  Sept. 30,1995 Sept. 24, 1994
Total revenues $1,462, 109 $1,533,169 $1,322,250 $1,159,316 $1,120,505
Total cost of revenues 1,071,491 1,021,569 877,692 772,047 733,114
Research and development 118,731 109.984 98,022 85,886 90,826
Selling, general, and administrative 338,108 338,443 309,259 334,337 341,343
Restructuring charge 82,400 — — 43,000 35,000
Total costs and expenses 1,610,730 1,469,996 1,284,973 1,235,270 1,200,283
Income (loss) from operations (148,621) 63,173 37,277 (75,954) (79,778)
Interest expense, net 1,014 4,873 5,632 4,116 8,168
Other income, net 240 — — 41,972 2,353
Income (loss) before income taxes (149,395) 58,300 31,645 (38,098) (85,593)
Income tax provision ,000 2,400 3,500 8,605 2,100
Net income (loss) $ (152,395) $ 55,900 $ 28,145 $ (46,703) $ (87,693)
Basic net income (loss) per share $ @1 $ 135 $ 073 $ (1.26) $ (249
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ (311) $ 126 $ 068 $  (1.26) $ (245
As of
{Dollars in thousands) Sept. 26,1998  Sept 27,1997  Sept. 28,1996  Sept. 30,1995  Sept. 24, 1994
Current assets $ 795,961 $ 858,236 $ 616,812 $ 591,485 $ 598,076
Current liabilities 430,714 391,822 366,184 370,226 326,865
Working capital $ 365,247 $466,414 $ 250,628 $ 221,259 $ 271,211
Total assets $1,065,064 $1,134,868 $ 860,443 $ 832,018 $ 821,864
Annual expenditures for property, plant, and equipment $ 114,247 $ 110,505 $ 94,670 $ 96471 $ 92,955
Long -term debt $ 212,750 $ 212,750 $ 149,971 $ 153,457 $ 156,942
Other liabilities $ 36,645 $ 11516 $ 15224 $ 28,791 $ 29,445
Stockholders’ equity $ 384,955 $ 518,780 $ 329,064 $ 279544 $ 308,612
Employees 4,700 5,100 4,900 5,000 5,800

Resuits of operations are for 52-week periods, except 1995, which is for a 53-week period.
The company has not declared or paid cash dividends since its inception.
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KELLWOOD COMPANY (APR)

SUPPLEMENTAL SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(Dollars in thousands except per share data) 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
Net sales $ 1,781,582 $1,521,005 $1,466,036 $1,364,766 $1,203,086
Net earnings 42,747 37,596 28,024 11,096 35,614
Earnings per share:

Basic $ 2.00 $ 178 $ 132 $ 53 $ 1.71

Diluted 1.95 1.75 1.31 52 1.68
Cash dividends declared per share 64 .60 .60 .60 55
Working capital $ 416,478 $ 247,114 $ 238,068 $ 236,922 $ 262,406
Total assets 1,015,513 874,587 796,688 768,137 641,857
Long-term debt 242,720 109,831 125,443 144,793 153,014
Total debt 399,754 284,369 272,406 277,336 170,940
Shareowners’ equity 384,165 347,814 325,192 308,197 306,956
Equity per share $ 1786 $ 1647 $ 1532 $ 1459 $ 1464

NOTE: All per share data have been adjusted to refiect stock splits.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

FEDDERS CORPORATION (AUG)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL
CONDITION

Fedders Corporation (the “Company”) is the largest
manufacturer of room air conditioners in North America
based on units sold. The Company has strong relationships
with retailers, which it has formed by establishing flexible,
accurate-response  manufacturing to accommodate
customers’ increasingly seasonal delivery requirements.

The Company’s business is currently largely domestic
and is affected by summer weather in major domestic
markets. During fiscal 1998, the Company’s domestic sales
reflect an increasingly seasonal pattern, with more
shipments occurring in the second half of the fiscal year and
fewer in the off-season first half since leading retailers
require just-in-time delivery. Favorable summer weather in
southern domestic markets in fiscal 1998 increased in-
season sales and depleted industry inventories in those
markets at fiscal year-end (August 31), which positions U.S.
manufacturers for a better year in fiscal 1999, assuming
normal weather. This follows a period affected by cool
summer weather in key U.S. markets in fiscal 1996 that
increased industry inventories at some manufacturers
(excluding the Company) and at retailers at the beginning of
fiscal 1997 and reduced fiscal 1997 results all year long. By
the end of the fiscal 1997 selling season, retail inventories
declined to more customary levels, which benefited U.S.
manufacturers in fiscal 1998.

The Company, in a move to enhance its competitiveness,
implemented a restructuring plan (the “Restructuring”)
during fiscal 1998. The Restructuring did not result in any
factory closings. However, it did involve shifting some
additional production from North America to China and

increasing component outsourcing. As part of the
Restructuring, all Fedders International activities, including
executive management located at the Company’s
headquarters in New Jersey, were relocated to Singapore.
The sales, marketing, service, research and design and
administrative support functions of Fedders North America
were relocated to the Company’s factory in lllinois.

During fiscal 1998, the Company’s international sales
were unfavorably affected by the international financial
crisis. In fiscal 1997, the Company nearly doubled its
international sales, as it did in the prior year.

In June 1998, the Company entered into a joint venture
with Bosch-Siemens Hausgerate GmbH (“BSH") in Estella,
Spain to manufacture room air conditioners in Spain for the
European market and for export. This adds to the
Company'’s international manufacturing presence, which
began with the 1996 joint venture in Ningbo, China to
manufacture air conditioners for export and for the Chinese
market.

In August 1996, the Company merged with NYCOR, Inc.
(the “Merger”), which, through its subsidiary Rotorex
Company, Inc., manufactured rotary compressors principally
for use in room air conditioners, and, through Melcor
Corporation, manufactured thermoelectric modules. Rotorex
has been the primary supplier of compressors to the
Company for 25 years. The Company believes that a
dedicated supply of compressors improves its flexibility to
accurately respond to the just-in-time requirements of its
customers. The supply of compressors from Rotorex, and
from its Asian compressor licensees, also is strategically
important for the Company’s international growth.

Results of Operations

Net sales in fiscal 1998 totaled $322.1 million, an increase
of 2.5% from sales of $314.1 million in fiscal 1997 but down
from record sales of $371.8 million in fiscal 1996. The sales
increase in fiscal 1998 reflects lower industry inventory
levels entering fiscal 1998 compared to fiscal 1997 and
favorable summer weather in the domestic southern market,
offset in part by a decrease in international sales as a result
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of the international financial crisis. The sales decrease in
fiscal 1997 reflects large, end-of-season industry inventory
carryover of room air conditioners from the cool summer of
fiscal 1996.

Operating Results as a Percent of Net Sales

1998 1997 1996
Gross profit 21.7% 223% 22.3%
Selling, general and
administrative expense 125 12.2 8.6
Restructuring 5.2 — -
Operating income 40 10.1 13.7
Interest expense 27 1.1 0.3
Pre-tax income 14 9.2 13.5

The gross profit in fiscal 1998 changed little from fiscal
1997. The gross profit as a percent of net sales declined in
fiscal 1998 due primarily to a change in the customer and
product mix from fiscal 1997. In fiscal 1997, gross profit
declined by 15.6% from fiscal 1996 due to the sales decline.
The gross profit as a percent of net sales remained
unchanged in fiscal 1997, from fiscal 1996, due primarily to
changes in customer and product mix offset, in part, by
lower absorption of factory overhead expense due to lower
production levels.

Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”)
increased as a percent of net sales in fiscal 1998 as a result
of a $2.9 million (0.9% of net sales) provision for the
implementation of an early retirement program. This more
than offset reductions in SG&A that resulted from the
Restructuring. SG&A increased as a percent of net sales in
fiscal 1997 from fiscal 1996 due, in part, to lower sales.
SG&A increased by $6.3 million from fiscal 1996 primarily
as a result of expenses related to operations acquired in the
Merger, including $1.8 million of amortization of goodwill
and $1.9 million of compressor research and development
expense. SG&A also increased in fiscal 1997 due to
infrastructure expansion to support future growth of
international business.

The Restructuring charge in fiscal 1998 of $16.8 million
consists of the write-down of fixed assets ($5.6 million), an
amount for lease terminations ($4.9 million), personnel-
related costs ($3.8 million) and administrative facility closing
costs ($2.5 million).

Net interest expense increased in fiscal 1998 by $5.2
million and as a percent of net sales from fiscal 1997. The
increase resulted from interest on the 9% Senior
Subordinated Notes due in 2007 (the “Notes”) issued late in
fiscal 1997. The increase was offset, in part, by a
redemption of 8.5% Convertible Subordinated Debentures
due in 2012 (the “Debentures”) that were assumed in the
Merger, and lower interest on very limited short-term
borrowing in fiscal 1998, compared to fiscal 1997. Higher
interest is also partially offset by the absence of preferred
stock dividends after the redemption of Convertible
Preferred Stock in September 1997. Net interest expense
increased in fiscal 1997 by $2.5 million and as a percent of
net sales from fiscal 1996, due to interest paid on the
Debentures.

Including the charges for the Restructuring and early
retirement, the Company’s net income decreased to $3.0

million in fiscal 1998 from $18.8 million in fiscal 1997 and a
record $31.2 million in fiscal 1996. Net income attributable
to common stockholders, excluding the after-tax effect of
charges for the Restructuring and early retirement, would
have been approximately $15.8 million in fiscal 1998
compared to $16.3 million in fiscal 1997. Net income
attributable to common stockholders in 1997 reflects the
dividend requirement of $2.4 million paid on the Company’s
Convertible Preferred Stock that was issued in connection
with the Merger and fully redeemed in September 1997. Net
income in fiscal 1998 and 1997 reflects an effective tax rate
of 35% versus 38% in fiscal 1996, principally due to a lower
effective rate on state taxes and the release of prior-year tax
provisions no longer required.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Working capital requirements are seasonal. Cash balances
peak in August, while greatest use of credit lines occurs
early in the calendar year. The Company ended fiscal 1998
with cash of $91.0 million compared to $110.4 million at
August 31 a year earlier, even after completing a $50.0
million stock repurchase program.

Net cash provided by operations in fiscal 1998 amounted
to $38.8 million. Accounts receivable increased by $5.5
million, reflecting higher volume in fourth quarter sales of
fiscal 1998 resulting from the favorable weather conditions
compared to fiscal 1997. Ending inventories decreased by
$10.6 million reflecting greater in-season sales. Accounts
payable increased by $15.2 million, and primarily reflect the
receipt of more raw materials during the month of August
than in the prior year due to greater production.
requirements. Accrued expenses increased by $1.3 million
and reflect an accrual for early retirement offset, in part, by
lower marketing-related accruals due to changing customer
mix. Accrued income taxes increased $4.4 million.

Net cash used in investing activities by the Company
consisted primarily of capital expenditures of $8.5 million
and an investment of $3.3 million in the Spanish joint
venture offset, in part, by the disposal of $1.8 million of fixed
assets, primarily real estate not utilized.

Net cash used in financing activities in fiscal 1998
amounted to $48.2 million. The Company repurchased
$45.8 million or 7.7 million shares of its Preferred, Common
and Class A Stock under a repurchase program funded in
fiscal 1997 through the offering of the Notes. In August
1998, the Company announced an authorization to
repurchase up to an additional $30 million of its outstanding
stock. Dividend payments amounted to $3.5 million in fiscal
1998.

During fiscal 1998, the Company’s $50 million, prime rate,
revolving credit facility was utilized for a brief period in
February and March with a maximum outstanding during the
year of $8.6 million. Management believes that cash,
earnings and borrowing capacity of the Company are
adequate to meet the needs of its operations and long-term
credit requirements, including capital expenditures and debt
maturities.

Year 2000

The inventory and assessment phases of the Company’s
Year 2000 plan are materially complete with respect to
internal information technology (“IT”) and non-IT systems,
such as embedded technology and microcontrollers. Testing
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and resolution phases of the plan are scheduled to be
complete in the 1999 third fiscal quarter, which ends May
31. The Company has material third-party relationships with
customers and suppliers that would have a material effect
on its business if the customer or supplier were to have
significant Year 2000 issues. Assessment of these
relationships, in part through on-site audits, is ongoing and
contingency plans are being developed to minimize the
effect of any such issues. Contingency planning includes
the use of alternate suppliers, which the Company has in
place for all significant components. The Company’s plan is
to be Year 2000 compliant in the third fiscal quarter of 1999.
The National Retail Federation has listed the Company as
being a compliant Year 2000 EDI vendor.

Many of the Company's IT systems are already
compliant. Non-compliant IT systems are being replaced in
the normal course of business and are not a cost of Year
2000. Related costs are being expensed as incurred and in
fiscal 1998 were immaterial to the operating results and are
not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
future earnings or cash flow.

INTERSTATE BAKERIES CORPORATION (MAY)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Resuits of Operations

Fiscal 1998 Compared With Fiscal 1997

Net sales for the fifty-two weeks ended May 30, 1998 were
$3,265,842,000, increasing $53,411,000 and 1.7%, over net
sales of $3,212,431,000 for the fifty-two weeks ended May
31, 1997. Excluding the impact of acquisitions and
dispositions, net sales for fiscal 1998 were up only slightly
over fiscal 1997. Selling prices remained relatively steady,
as did overalt unit volume. Branded units, after adjusting for
acquisitions and dispositions, were up slightly more than 1%
while non-branded units were down due to an emphasis on
selling higher-margin, branded products.

Gross profit for fiscal 1998 was $1,723,922,000,
representing 52.8% of net sales, an increase of
$77,756,000 over gross profit of $1,646,166,000, or 51.2%
of net sales, in fiscal 1997. This improvement in fiscal 1998
was attributable to lower ingredient costs, primarily flour, as
well as favorable mix changes to higher-margin, branded
products. These positive factors were partially offset by
higher labor and labor-related costs experienced in fiscal
1998.

Selling, delivery and administrative expenses were
$1,389,627,000, or 42.6% of net sales, for fiscal 1998
compared to $1,352,026,000, or 42.1% of net sales, for
fiscal 1997. The 2.8% year-over-year dollar increase in
selling, delivery and administrative expenses resulted from
inflationary increases, primarily in labor and labor-related
costs, as well as the impact of acquisitions, net of
dispositions.

Reflecting these factors, operating income for fiscal 1998
rose $40,449,000, or 21.2%, to $231,592,000, representing
7.1% of net sales, from $191,143,000, or 6.0% of net sales,
in fiscal 1997.

Interest expense decreased $3,968,000, or 17.6%, in
fiscal 1998 to $18,624,000 from $22,592,000 in fiscal 1997.
This decrease was due to somewhat lower average
borrowing levels and interest rates, as well as increased
interest capitalized on major capital projects during fiscal
1998.

The fiscal 1998 effective tax rate of 40.1% approximates
the statutory rate, while the fiscal 1997 rate of 42.6%
reflects the nondeductibility of amortization of various
intangibles.

Based upon these overall results, net income for fiscal
1998 increased $30,747,000, or 31.6%, to $127,924,000
from $97,177,000 in fiscal 1997. Reflecting this increase,
basic earnings per share improved 33.8% to $1.74 per
share in fiscal 1998 from $1.30 per share in fiscal 1997,
while diluted earnings per share improved 33.6% to $1.71
per share from $1.28 per share. Fiscal 1997 per share
amounts have been adjusted for a two-for-one stock split
effected in the form of a stock dividend paid November 3,
1997, as well as the fiscal 1998 adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 128,
“Earnings per Share,” which defines the computation of
basic and diluted earnings per share.

Fiscal 1997 Compared With Fiscal 1996

Net sales for the fifty-two weeks ended May 31, 1997 were
$3,212,431,000, an increase of $334,251,000 and 11.6%
over net sales of $2,878,180,000 for the fifty-two weeks
ended June 1, 1996. This increase in net sales was
primarily attributable to the acquisition of Continental Baking
Company (“CBC”) on July 22, 1995, with fiscal 1996 results
reflecting only forty-five weeks of CBC’'s operations.
Excluding the impact of fiscal 1997 acquisitions and
dispositions, net sales rose approximately 3.8%.

Fiscal 1997's gross profit was $1,646,166,000, or 51.2%
of net sales, up $221,177,000 from gross profit of
$1,424,989,000, or 49.5% of net sales, in fiscal 1996. This
margin improvement resulted from synergies realized
through continuing integration of existing and acquired
operations, particularly product sourcing efficiencies, and
favorable mix changes to higher-margin, branded products.
These factors, along with higher selling prices, more than
offset the effect of higher ingredient costs experienced in
fiscal 1997.

Selling, delivery and administrative expenses totaled
$1,352,026,000, or 42.1% of net sales, for fiscal 1997
compared to $1,236,586,000, or 43.0% of net sales, in fiscal
1996. Continued emphasis on cost control, integration
synergies and higher selling prices resulted in improved
selling, delivery and administrative expenses as a percent of
net sales in fiscal 1997.

Included in fiscal 1996 were other charges of $9,500,000
($5,738,000 and $.08 per basic and diluted share on an
after-tax basis) resulting from a payment due a union-
administered multi-employer pension plan which failed.

Based upon these factors, operating income for fiscal
1997 was $191,143,000, or 6.0% of net sales, a
$112,385,000 and 142.7% increase over fiscal 1996's
operating income of $78,758,000, or 2.7% of net sales.

Interest expense for fiscal 1997 was $22,592,000, a
decrease of $6,718,000 from fiscal 1996. The lower
expense reflects both lower average borrowing levels and
lower interest rates.
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The fiscal 1997 effective tax rate of 42.6%, as well as the
fiscal 1996 rate of 51.4%, reflects the nondeductibility of
amortization of various intangibles.

Reflecting the improved operations, net income for fiscal
1997 improved to $97,177,000, or $1.30 and $1.28 per
basic and diluted share, respectively, up from $24,463,000,
or $.35 per basic and diluted share, for fiscal 1996, a diluted
earnings per share improvement of 266%. Per share
amounts have been adjusted for a fiscal 1998 two-for-one
stock split, as well as the fiscal 1998 adoption of SFAS No.
128.

Capital Resources and Liquidity

The Company'’s primary source of liquidity is cash provided
by operations which totaled $201,622,000 for fiscal 1998, an
increase of $5,449,000 over fiscal 1997's $196,173,000.
This increase represents improved operations, offset by less
favorable changes in working capital components. Cash
generated by operations during fiscal 1998, along with
additional bank borrowings of $35,000,000 and stock
issuance proceeds of $10,630,000, was used to fund net
capital expenditures of $93,651,000, common stock
repurchases of $91,687,000, acquisitions of $43,743,000
and common stock dividends of $20,434,000. »

For fiscal 1999, the Company anticipates cash needs of
approximately $240,000,000, consisting of $95,000,000 of
planned capital expenditures, $25,000,000 of required debt
reduction, $20,000,000 of common stock dividends and
approximately $100,000,000 for two recently announced
acquisitions. Both of the acquisitions are subject to
regulatory approval, with closing dates expected to shortly
follow such approval. The Company expects these cash
needs to be funded by ongoing operations, borrowing
capacity under its existing bank credit facility and a new
$125,000,000 short-term credit facility from a major bank.
The short-term credit facility is expected to be replaced with
a new senior debt issuance during the second quarter of
fiscal 1999. In addition, the Company will continue to
evaluate among its investment alternatives the repurchase
of additional shares of its common stock under its stock
repurchase program.

Year 2000 Compliance

The Company has been assessing the impact that the turn
of the century will have on its internal computer systems for
several years. The Company has developed an overall plan
to evaluate and correct all date-related computer system
issues by mid-summer of 1999. This evaluation and
correction process has already been completed on a
number of the Company’s most critical systems, with testing
of changes already in process. The Company is also in the
process of communicating with significant suppliers and
customers to ascertain the status of their year 2000
compliance programs.

Based upon efforts to date and the assumed continued
implementation of its year 2000 compliance plan, the
Company does not anticipate that year 2000 issues will
significantly impact the business or that the costs
associated with year 2000 compliance will have a material
impact on future consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows of the Company.

New Accounting Standards

See Note 2 to the Company's consolidated financial
statements for discussions on new accounting standards
relating to (1) other comprehensive income, (2) segment
disclosures, (3) derivative instruments and hedging activities
and (4) disclosures about pension and other postretirement
benefit plans.

Forward-Looking Statements

The Company or its representatives may from time-to-time
provide information, in either written or oral form, which
contains forward-looking statements as defined in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In receiving
and reviewing such information, it should be kept in mind
that forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks
and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ
materially from those discussed or projected. Factors which
create these risks and uncertainties can be either internal to
the Company or related to general external market
conditions.

NATIONAL PRESTO INDUSTRIES, INC. (DEC)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

1998 Compared to 1997

Net sales decreased by $2,467,000 from $109,540,000 to
$107,073,000 or 2%.

Gross margins for 1998 increased $679,000 from
$35,541,000 to $36,220,000 or 34% versus 32% as a
percentage of sales in 1998 and 1997. This increase was
primarily the result of increased operating efficiencies and
cost savings.

Selling and general expenses decreased $5,436,000
largely due to reduced advertising expenses. As a
percentage of net sales, selling and general expenses
decreased from 21% to 17%. ;

Earnings before provision for income taxes increased
$5,406,000 from $21,990,000 to $27,396,000. The provision
for income taxes increased from $5,008,000 to $7,663,000,
which resulted in an effective income tax rate increase from
23% to 28% as a result of increased earnings subject to tax.
Net earnings increased $2,751,000 from $16,982,000 to
$19,733,000, or 16%.

The Company maintains adequate liquidity for all of its
anticipated capital requirements and dividend payments. As
of year-end 1998, there were no material capital
commitments outstanding.

Forward-looking statements in the Annual Report are
made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. There are certain
important factors that could cause resuits to differ materially
from those anticipated by some of the statements made
above. Investors are cautioned that all forward-looking
statements involve risks and uncertainty. In addition to the
factors discussed above, among the other factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially are the following:
consumer spending and debt levels; interest rates;
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continuity of relationships with and purchases by major
customers; product mix; competitive pressure on sales and
pricing, and increases in material or production cost which
cannot be recouped in product pricing. Additional
information concerning those and other factors is contained
in the Company’s Securities and Exchange Commission
filings, including but not limited to the Form 10-K, copies of
which are available from the Company without charge.

1997 Compared to 1996

Net sales increased by $3,532,000 from $106,008,000 to
$109,540,000, due to increased unit volume primarily as a
result of new product introductions.

Gross margins for 1997 increased $1,886,000 from
$33,621,000 to $35,507,000 due to the volume increase. As
a percentage of sales, gross margins were 32% in both
years.

Selling and general expenses were relatively unchanged.

Other income, principally interest, increased from the
1996 level primarily as a result of a higher rate of return on
a higher level of invested funds in the Company’s portfolio
of short-term marketable securities.

Both years were favorably impacted by litigation
judgments/settiements of a nonrecurring nature.

Earnings before provision for income taxes increased
$2,816,000 from $19,174,000 to $21,990,000. The provision
for income taxes increased from $4,454,000 to $5,008,000
as a result of increased earnings subject to tax. The
effective income tax rate was 23% in both years. Net
earnings increased $2,262,000 from $14,720,000 to
$16,982,000, or 15%.

Year 2000

The year 2000 (Y2K) issue is the/ result of computer
programs using a two-digit format to indicate the year in any
date. Computer systems with such software will be unable
to interpret dates beyond the year 1999, thus causing
computer errors which could lead to disruptions in
operations. In 1997 the Company began the work
necessary to address its Y2K exposure and focused
primarily on two areas:

Internal Systems: During 1997, the Company began
upgrading or replacing its affected programs or systems to
become Y2K compliant, and expects this effort to be
completed by March 31, 1999. Additionally, the Company is
in the process of conducting full scale year 2000 et seq.
simulations of mission critical systems to verify the efficacy
of the upgrades and replacements. Those simulations
should be completed by September 30, 1999. The
conversion costs have been expensed as incurred, and are
not considered material. At this time, the Company believes
it is unnecessary to adopt a contingency plan.

External (Supplier) Systems: The Company has
contacted suppliers of products and services to assess
whether the suppliers are Y2K compliant or to monitor their
progress toward Y2K compliance. The vast majority of the
Company’s key suppliers have responded that they either
are or will be Y2K compliant prior to the year 2000.
However, there can be no absolute assurance that suppliers
and others will timely resolve their own Y2K compliance
issues. Additionally, a small number of the Company's
suppliers have provided inadequate responses as to their
Y2K readiness, and as a result, the Company is

implementing a contingency plan to address potential
interruption of supplied products or services. The
contingency plan includes use of alternate suppliers and/or
stockpiling of certain supplied items. Costs-to-date for the
external compliance program have also been immaterial.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk

The Company’s interest income is affected by changes in
the general level of U.S. interest rates. Changes in U.S.
interest rates could affect the interest earned on the
Company’s cash equivalents and investments. Currently,
changes in U.S. interest rates would not have a material
effect on the interest earned on the Company's cash
equivalents and investments. A majority of these cash
equivalents and investments earn a fixed rate of interest
while the remaining portion earn interest at a variable rate.
The Company uses sensitivity analysis to determine its
exposure to changes in interest rates. The Company does
not anticipate that exposure to interest rate market risk will
have a material impact on the Company due to the nature of
the Company’s investments.

Forward Looking Information Excerpts

GUILFORD MILLS, INC. (SEP)

Safe Harbor-Forward-Looking Statements

From time to time, the Company may publish forward-
looking statements relative to such matters as anticipated
financial performance, business prospects, technological
developments, new products, research and development
activities and similar matters. The Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for
forward-looking statements.

All statements other than statements of historical fact
included in this Annual Repont, including, without limitation
the statements under “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933 and Section 21E of the Exchange Act of 1934.
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those discussed in such forward-looking
statements include: 1. general economic factors including,
but not limited to, changes in interest rates, foreign currency
translation rates, consumer confidence, housing starts,
trends in disposable income, changes in consumer demand
for goods produced, and cyclical or other downturns; 2. the
overall level of automotive production and the production of
specific car models; 3. fashion trends; 4. information and
technological advances including Year 2000 issues; 5. cost
and availability of raw materials, labor and natural and other
resources; 6. domestic and foreign competition; 7. domestic
and foreign governmental regulations and trade policies;
8. reliance on major customers; 9. success of marketing,
advertising and promotional campaigns; or 10. inability to
achieve cost reductions through consolidations and
restructuring of acquired companies.



Information Required by SEC Regulations 13

KELLOGG COMPANY (DEC)

1999 Outlook

Management is not aware of any adverse trends that would
materially affect the Company’s strong financial position.
Should suitable investment opportunities or working capital
needs arise that would require additional financing,
management believes that the Company’s strong credit
rating, balance sheet, and earnings history provide a base
for obtaining additional financial resources at competitive
rates and terms. Based on the expectation of cereal volume
growth, and strong results from product innovation and the
continued global roll-out of convenience foods, management
believes the Company is well-positioned to deliver sales and
earnings growth for the full year 1999. The Company will
continue to identify and pursue streamlining and productivity
initiatives to optimize its cost structure.

The Company is currently reviewing strategies related to
the Lender’s Bagels business, given its performance since
acquisition. The Company has evaluated the recoverability
of Lender’s long-lived assets as of December 31, 1998, and
although this evaluation has not resulted in the recognition
of an impairment loss, management expects to update its
assessment during 1999.

Additional expectations for 1999 include a gross profit
margin of 51-52%, and SGA% of 36-37%, an effective
income tax rate of 36-37%, and capital spending of
approximately $270 million.

The foregoing projections concerning impact of future
borrowing costs, accounting changes, volume growth,
profitability, capital spending, and common stock
repurchase activity are forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ
materially due to the impact of competitive conditions,
marketing spending and/or incremental pricing actions on
actual volumes and product mix; the levels of spending on
system initiatives, properties, business opportunities,
continued streamlining initiatives, and other general and
administrative costs; raw material price and labor cost
fluctuations; foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;
changes in statutory tax law; interest rates available on
short-term financing; the impact of stock market conditions
on common stock repurchase activity; and other items.

TRW INC. (DEC)

Forward-Looking Statements

Statements in this filing that are not statements of historical
fact are forward-looking statements. In addition, from time to
time, the Company and its representatives make statements
that are forward-looking. All forward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties. This section provides
readers with cautionary statements identifying, for purposes
of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, important factors that could
-cause the Company'’s actual results to differ materially from
those contained in forward-looking statements made in this
report or otherwise made by, or on behalf of, the Company.
The following are some of the factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from estimates contained in
the Company’s forward-looking statements:

The Company’s consolidated results could be affected by:
the continued development of and demand for new
products; the ability to continue technical innovation;
availability of funding for research and development; the
ability to successfully identify and integrate acquisitions;
pricing pressures from customers; pricing pressures
resulting from the European Economic Union’s conversion
to a single currency; the ability to effectively implement the
company-wide Y2K compliance program in accordance with
the estimated timetable and costs described herein; the
introduction of competing products or technology by
competitors; the ability to meet performance and delivery
requirements on systems for customers; the economic,
regulatory and political instability of certain emerging
countries; economic conditions in Brazil and Asia; the
effects of changes in laws and regulations as they relate to
the Company’s businesses; foreign exchange rates; the
cost and availability of funds; interest rate risk; the impact of
legal proceedings; and the ability to attract and retain skilled
employees with high-level technical competencies.

The Company’s automotive business also could be
affected by: the ability to effectively implement the
Company’s automotive restructuring program; changes in
consumer debt levels and interest rates; the cyclical nature
of the automotive industry; moderation or decline in the
automobile build rate; successful new product launches;
successful implementation of the Company’s Project ELITE
(Earning Leadership in Tomorrow’s Environment) and the
ability to achieve cost reductions; work stoppages; customer
warranty claims; changes to the regulatory environment
regarding automotive safety; and the Company’s ability to
increase the vehicle content of its products per vehicle.

The Company’s space, defense and information systems
business also could be affected by: the level of defense
funding by the government; the Company’s ability to receive
contract awards; the termination of existing government
contracts; and the ability to develop and market products
and services for customers outside of the traditional space,
defense and information systems markets.

Certain statements contained in this report or otherwise
made by or on behalf of the Company regarding the
purchase of LucasVarity, particularly those regarding
synergies, future performance and costs, depend on certain
events, risks and uncertainties that may be outside of the
Company’'s control. Factors which could cause actual
operating results to differ materially from those described in
such forward-looking statements include: unanticipated
events and circumstances may occur rendering the
transaction less beneficial to the Company than anticipated;
the Company and LucasVarity face intense competition in
their markets and there is, accordingly, no guarantee that
after consummation of the transaction the Company will
achieve the expected financial and operating results and
synergies; and the ability of the Company and LucasVarity
to integrate successfully their operations and thereby
achieve the anticipated cost savings and be in a position to
take advantage of potential opportunities for growth.

The foregoing list of important factors is not exclusive.

The Company cautions that any forward-looking
statement reflects only the beliefs of the Company or its
management at the time the statement is made. The
Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-
looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after
the date on which the statement was made.
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TEKTRONIX, INC. (MAY)

Forward Looking Statements

Statements and information included in the Chairman’s
letter and Management Review and elsewhere in this report
that relate to the Company’s goals, strategies and
expectations as to future results and events are based on
the Company’s current expectations. They constitute
forward looking statements subject to a number of risk
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those currently expected or desired. As with many high
technology companies, risk factors that could cause the
Company’s actual results or activities to differ materially
from these forward looking statements include, but are not
limited to: worldwide economic and business conditions in
the electronics industry, including the continuing effect of
the Asian economic crisis on demand for the Company’s
products; competitive factors, including pricing pressures,
technological developments and products offered by
competitors; changes in product and sales mix, and the
related effects on gross margins; the Company’s ability to
deliver a timely flow of competitive new products, and
market acceptance of these products; the availability of
parts and supplies from third party suppliers on a timely
basis and at reasonable prices; inventory risks due to
changes in market demand or the Company’s business
strategies; changes in effective tax rates; customer demand;
currency fluctuations; the fact that a substantial portion of
the Company’s sales are generated from orders received
during the quarter, making prediction of quarterly revenues
and earnings difficult; and other risk factors listed from time
to time in the Company’s Securities and Exchange
Commission reports and in press releases.

Additional risk factors specific to the Company’s current
plans and expectations that could cause the Company’'s
actual results or activities to differ materially from those
stated include: the significant operational issues the
Company faces in executing its strategy in Video and
Networking; the timely introduction of new products
scheduled during the Company’s fiscal year, which could be
affected by engineering or other development program
slippages, the ability to ramp up production or to develop
effective sales channels; the customers’ acceptance of, and
demand for, those products; and changes in the regulatory
environment affecting the transition to high-definition
television within the time frame anticipated by the Company.

Forward looking statements in this report speak only as of
the date made. The Company undertakes no obligation to
publicly release the result of any revisions to these forward
looking statements which may be made to reflect
subsequent events or circumstances or to reflect the
occurrence of unanticipated events.

Euro Currency Conversion Excerpts

FORT JAMES CORPORATION (DEC)

Euro Conversion

On January 1, 1999, eleven of the fifteen members of the
European Union (the “Participating Countries”) established
fixed conversion rates between their existing sovereign
currencies (the “Legacy Currencies”) and a single new
currency ({the “Euro”). For a three-year transition period,
transactions can be conducted in both the Euro and the
Legacy Currencies. After June 30, 2002, the Euro will be
sole legal tender of the participating countries. The adoption
of the Euro will affect a multitude of financial systems and
business applications.

The Company has operations in seven of the Participating
Countries and has product sales in all of the Participating
Countries. The Company’s European businesses affected
by the Euro conversion are establishing plans to address
the information system issues and the potential business
implications of converting to a common currency. As part of
this process, the Company is evaluating its information
technology systems. The Company believes it will be able to
modify its financial systems and business activities to
accommodate the conversion and transition to the Euro.
The Company is unable to determine the financial impact of
the conversion on its operations, if any, given that the
impact will depend on the competitive situations which exist
in the various regional markets in which the Company
participates and potential actions which may or may not be
taken by the Company’'s competitors and suppliers.

HARSCO CORPORATION (DEC)

Euro Currency Conversion

On January 1, 1999, certain countries of the European
Monetary Union established fixed conversion rates between
their legacy currencies and one common currency, the euro.
The euro now trades on currency exchanges and may be
used in business transactions. Beginning in January 2002,
new euro-denominated notes and coins will be issued and
the existing legacy currency notes and coins will be
withdrawn from circulation by July 1, 2002. The Company’s
arrangements for euro bank accounts and the modification
of certain loan arrangements to accommodate the euro are
near completion. The Company is evaluating other systems
and business issues raised by the euro conversion. These
issues include the need to adapt computer and other
business systems and equipment and the long-term
competitive implications of conversion. In 1998, the
Company derived approximately 22% of its sales from the
European geographic area, including non-European
Monetary Union countries. The Company believes the euro
conversion will not have a material effect on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations.



Information Required by SEC Regulations 15

HONEYWELL INC. (DEC)

Euro Currency

In January 1999, the European Monetary Union (EMU)
entered into a three-year transition phase during which a
common currency called the Euro was introduced in
participating countries. Initially, this new currency is being
used for financial transactions, and progressively, it will
replace the old national currencies that will be withdrawn by
July 2002. The transition to the Euro currency will involve
changing budgetary, accounting and fiscal systems in
companies and public administrations, as well as the
simultaneous handling of parallel currencies and conversion
of legacy data. ‘

Uncertainties Related to the Euro Conversion: In 1996,
Honeywell began studying the ongoing process of European
integration, focusing on issues and opportunities created by
the EMU. Task teams were established to develop
Honeywell’'s Euro strategies and policies. The findings of
these teams have been integrated into our strategic and
operational plans. At this time, there are no significant
remaining uncertainties related to the Euro conversion and
no material impact has been identified.

Competitive Implications: Making a broader European
market requires product lines to become more international
and less local. In 1993, Honeywell restructured and its
market focus was changed from a country basis to a
European line-of-business approach. Today, our pricing
strategies are largely European, except in those instances
where technical or cultural market characteristics warrant
price differentiation. The expectations of our customers, with
respect to the currency to be used in the transition period
have been reflected in our changeover strategies, resulting
in a pro-active dual currency capability since January 1,
1999. The same approach with our suppliers will allow us to
benefit from the increased price transparency on the cost
side. Plans are in place, including shared service centers
and consolidation of operations, to pursue the economies of
scale offered by the single European market. We believe
converting to the Euro has no material impact on
Honeywell’'s competitive position.

Information Technology and Other Systems: Compliance
with European Commission regulations concerning
conversion, triangulation and rounding rules related to the
Euro introduction, have been addressed in detailed action
plans involving all information systems in all Honeywell
units, both for in-house and purchased systems. The cost of
modification is insignificant, as the action plan builds on new
systems implementation required for shared services and
Year 2000 readiness. Timelines for implementation have
been established, adequate resources are available and
contingency plans are in place. We believe converting the
information technology and other systems to the Euro has
no material impact on Honeywell.

Currency Risk: With the convergence of short-term
interest rates in the EMU countries, observed during the last
two years, the foreign exchange exposure between the
currencies of these countries has diminished considerably.
Our foreign exchange exposure management has
systematically been adapted to this evolution, thereby
benefiting from reduced hedging cost. The definitive fixing of
the exchange rates will only make this benefit permanent
without creating any other issue or opportunity other than

eliminating the spread on the spot exchange. All balance
sheet exposures between EMU currencies and non-EMU
currencies are systematically hedged from month to month.
The functional currency will not change to Euro in 1999 in
any of the Honeywell units concerned. Current plans call for
functional currency conversion by year-end 2001. We do not
anticipate this change will have a material impact on
Honeywell. We believe converting to the Euro has no
material impact on Honeywell’s currency exchange cost
and/or risk exposure.

Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments, Continuity of
Contracts and Taxation: We believe converting to the Euro
has no material impact on outstanding derivatives, other
financial instruments, continuity of contracts or taxation.

THE McGRAW-HILL COMPANIES, INC. (DEC)

Euro Conversion

On January 1, 1999, certain member nations of the
European Economic and Monetary Union (“‘EMU”) adopted
a common currency, the euro. For a three and a half-year
transition period, noncash- transactions may be
denominated in either the euro or in the old national
currencies. After July 1, 2002, the euro will be the sole legal
tender for EMU countries. The adoption of the euro will
affect a multitude of financial systems and business
applications as the commerce of these nations will be
transacted in the euro and the existing national currency.
For the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997,
approximately 5% of the company’s revenues were derived
from EMU countries.

The company continues to address euro related issues
and its impact on information systems, currency exchange
rate risk, taxation, contracts, competition and pricing. Action
plans currently being implemented are expected to be in
compliance with all laws and regulations; however, there
can be no certainty that external factors will not have an
adverse effect on the company’s operations. The company
does not expect these costs to be material to its results of
operations, financial condition or liquidity.

MINNESOTA MINING AND MANUFACTURING
COMPANY (DEC)

The Euro Conversion

On January 1, 1999, 11 of the 15 member countries of the
European Union (EU) established fixed conversion rates
through the European Central Bank (ECB) between existing
local currencies and the euro, the EU’s new single currency.
The participating countries agreed to adopt the euro as their
common legal currency on that date. From that date, the
euro is traded on currency exchanges and is available for
non-cash transactions.

In February 1997, the company created a European
Monetary Union (EMU) Steering Committee and project
teams representing all company business and staff units in
Europe. The objective of these teams is to ensure a smooth
transition to EMU for the company and its constituencies.
The teams are assessing the euro's impact on the
company’s business and pricing strategies for customers
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and suppliers. The teams also are focused on ensuring that
the company’s business processes and IT systems can
process transactions in both euros and local currencies
during the transition period and can convert all relevant
local-currency data to the euro by December 31, 2001, in
the participating countries.

The European market contributed 26 percent of
consolidated 3M sales and 20 percent of consolidated
operating income, excluding the restructuring charge, in
1998. The company believes that the euro will, over time,
increase price competition for the company’s products
across Europe due to cross-border price transparency, but
adverse effects of increased price competition will be offset
somewhat by new business opportunities and efficiencies.
The company, however, is not able to estimate the
anticipated net long-term impact of the euro introduction on
the company.

The company has made significant investments in IT
systems and has consolidated IT operations in Europe.
These investments are expected to enable the company to
manage customer orders, invoices, payments and accounts
in both euros and in local currencies during the transition
period. During this period, the company anticipates
spending $35 million to $50 million to complete the
conversion. Because the company believes its IT systems
will be ready by December 31, 2001, for the euro
conversion, it has not developed contingency plans at this
time. '

Year 2000 Excerpts

DEERE & COMPANY (OCT)

Year 2000

The company has established a global program (the “Year
2000 Program”) to address the inability of certain computer
and infrastructure systems to process dates in the Year
2000 and later. The major assessment areas include
information systems, mainframe computers, personal
computers, the distributed network, the shop floor, facilities
systems, the company’'s products, product research and
development facilities, and the readiness of the company’s
suppliers and distribution network. The program includes
the following phases: identification and assessment,
business criticality analysis, project work prioritization,
compliance plan development, remediation and testing,
production implementation, and contingency plan
development for mission critical systems.

The company is on schedule to become Year 2000
compliant with its mission critical activities and systems,
allowing substantial time for further testing, verification and
the final conversion of less important systems. Over 90
percent of the company’s systems identified as being
mission critical have been tested and verified as being Year
2000 compliant. The company’s goal has been to have all
remaining mission critical and non-mission critical systems
compliant by October 31, 1999, and the progress to date
makes this goal realistic. The company has initiated
information and infrastructure systems modifications to

ensure that both information technology (IT) and non-IT
systems are compliant.

The company is assessing the Year 2000 readiness of its
suppliers and dealers, raising awareness among its supply
base by sponsoring seminars and developing contingency
plans for its mission critical suppliers. The company is
surveying over 3,000 of its major suppliers and is following
up as appropriate with prioritization based on mission
criticality. The company is requiring suppliers of new
software or equipment and third parties who develop or
modify software to provide a written warranty that their
product is Year 2000 compliant and has been tested
accordingly. In some instances, the company is
independently testing the software.

The total cost of the modifications and upgrades to date
has not been material and the future costs to become Year
2000 compliant are not expected to be material. These
costs are expensed as incurred and do not include the cost
of scheduled replacement software. Other major systems
projects have not been deferred due to the Year 2000
compliance projects.

Although no assurances can be given as to the
company’s compliance, particularly as it relates to third-
parties, based upon the progress to date, the company does
not expect the consequences of any of the company’s
unanticipated or unsuccessful modifications to have a
material adverse effect on its financial position or results of
operations. However, the failure to correct a material Year
2000 problem could result in the interruption of certain
normal business activities and operations. The company’s
most reasonably likely worst case scenario is that the Year
2000 noncompliance of a critical third party, such as an
energy supplier, could cause the supplier to fail to deliver,
with the result that production is interrupted at one or more
facilities. Such a disruption in production could result in lost
sales or profits. The company is developing contingency
plans, which should be complete by early 1999, should any
Year 2000 failures occur in any of the assessment areas
noted above.

DONALDSON COMPANY, INC. (JUL)

Year 2000 and Euro Currency Issues

The company has developed plans to address the potential
for business interruption related to the impact of Year 2000
on computer systems. Financial, information and operating
systems (including any equipment with embedded
microprocessors) have been surveyed and assessed. In
most cases, identified problems have already been rectified
or detailed plans are in place to modify impacted systems
prior to the end of 1998. In some cases identified problems
will be addressed with repair projects to be completed in
1999. Progress against these plans is monitored and
reported to senior management and to the Audit Committee
of the Board of Directors on a regular basis. Implementation
of required changes to, and testing of, critical business
systems is expected to be complete by the end of 1998.
Changes to all other systems are expected to be complete
by July 1999. Testing of non-critical systems will be
performed on a spot basis; more extensive testing may be
initiated if it is deemed appropriate.
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The company has also surveyed its significant suppliers
to assess the potential impact on operations if key third
parties are not successful in converting their systems in a
timely manner. Responses to these surveys are incomplete
at this time. Responses received to date indicate that our
suppliers are aware of the Year 2000 issue and are
implementing all necessary changes, mostly scheduled for
completion by mid-1999. Vendors not responding to surveys
are now being evaluated and follow-up action will take place
over the next several months.

Incremental costs (including contractor expenses and the
cost of internal resources dedicated to achieving Year 2000
compliance) are charged to expense as incurred. Total
costs for all relevant activity is estimated to be $5 million, of
which approximately 70 percent has been spent to date.

In general, the company has a relatively low risk profile
relative to Year 2000 issues. Only a small percentage of our
products contain microprocessors and all of our product
range is now Year 2000 compliant. Our information systems
(financial, purchasing, manufacturing planning, etc.) are
easily inventoried and detailed modification plans exist and
are being executed. Our manufacturing systems are, in
general, standard pieces of equipment with relatively few
proprietary or unique operating systems or controls. At this
time, the company does not have in place a comprehensive,
global contingency plan relative to potential Year 2000
disruptions. Rather, each significant system either has been
repaired and tested, or is being repaired. For systems
currently being reworked, contingency plans exist to
address unforeseen problems.

The most reasonably likely negative scenario is that
modification work will not proceed on schedule, causing
some increase to the total cost of achieving Year 2000
compliance. The impact on the company's results of
operations if the company or its suppliers or customers are
not fully Year 2000 compliant is not reasonably
determinable. However, since we are depending on our
ability to execute modification plans and our vendors to
continue material supply without interruption, there can be
no assurance that unforeseen difficulties will not arise for
the company or its customers and that related costs will not
thereby be incurred. This dependence on the performance
of our employees, contractors and vendors, as it relates to
the Year 2000 issue, does not appear significantly different
from our dependence on these groups relative to a wide
range of other expectations (e.g., product quality,
dependable delivery, technical support, etc.).

JOHNSON & JOHNSON (DEC)

Year 2000

The Year 2000 problem may occur when computer systems
use the two digits “00” to represent the year 2000. As a
result, these systems may not process dates after 1999,
causing system errors or failures. The Company has had a
program in place since the fourth quarter of 1996 to address
Year 2000 issues in our critical business areas relating to
information management systems (IM), non-IM systems
with embedded technology, products, suppliers and
customers. A report on this program’s process has been
provided to the Board of Directors.

The Company has completed its review of critical IM
systems and is in the process of correcting issues as
necessary. These corrective actions will be substantially
complete by the second quarter of 1999. Additionally, the
Company is reviewing all other automated systems
including non-IM systems with embedded technology and
adjusting these systems as needed. This phase is also
expected to be completed by the end of the second quarter
of 1999.

The Company has made substantial progress in its
assessment and testing plan for all its products. The
Company has substantially completed this plan at year-end
1998 with full completion expected by the third quarter of
1999.

The Company’s ability to implement its Year 2000
program and the related non-implementation costs cannot
be accurately determined at this time. Although a failure to
completely correct one system may adversely affect other
systems, the Company does not believe that these effects
are likely. A material adverse effect on the financial
condition and results of operations of the business may
occur if a significant number of such failures should take
place, requiring manual backup methods and related costs.

The Company has been reviewing and has requested
assurances on the status of Year 2000 readiness of its
critical suppliers. Many of these suppliers however, have
either declined to provide or have limited their assurances
on the status of their Year 2000 readiness. The Company
has established a plan for continued monitoring of critical
suppliers during 1999.

Although the Company has contacted major customers to
assess the status of their Year 2000 issues, their Year 2000
readiness is unclear. If a significant number of suppliers and
customers experience disruptions as a result of Year 2000
issues, this could have a material adverse effect on the
financial position and results of operations of the Company.

The Company is formulating contingency plans to deal
with the impact of Year 2000 problems on critical suppliers
and major customers. For critical suppliers, these plans may
include identifying the availability of alternate utilities and
raw material supply sources as well as increasing levels of
inventory. To mitigate the effects of lack of Year 2000
readiness of major customers, the Company has few
alternatives other than manual methods. Regardless of the
contingency plans developed, there can be no assurance
that these plans will address all Year 2000 problems or that -
implementation of these plans will be successful.

The total cost of addressing the Company’s Year 2000
readiness issues is not expected to be material to the
Company’s financial condition or results of operations.
Since the initiation of the Year 2000 readiness program in
1996, the Company estimates that it has expensed
approximately $125 million in internal and external costs on
a pre-tax basis. The Company currently estimates that the
total costs for addressing Year 2000 readiness will
approximate $200 million on a pre-tax basis. These costs
are being expensed as incurred and are funded through
operating cash flows. No projects material to the financial
condition or results of operations of the Company have
been deferred or delayed as a result of the Company’'s Year
2000 program.
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KNAPE & VOGT MANUFACTURING COMPANY
(JUN)

Year 2000 Compliance

The Year 2000 issue is the result of computer systems that
use two digits rather than four to define the applicable year,
which may prevent such systems from accurately
processing dates ending in the year 2000 and after. This
could result in system failures or in miscalculations causing
disruption of operations, including, but not limited to, an
inability to process transactions, to send and receive
electronic data, or to engage in routine business activities
and operations.

In 1995 the Company established a Year 2000 task force
for Information Technology (“IT") to develop and implement
a Year 2000 readiness program. The Company has
developed a Year 2000 readiness plan, and has completed
the audit, assessment and scope phases of its plan. The
Company has completed an inventory of the software
applications that it uses.

The Company has also installed its Corporate Information
System software at its subsidiaries to improve efficiency and
facilitate Year 2000 compliance. The Company estimates
that the implementation phase is 50% complete for the
Company’s IT systems. The Company’s readiness program
includes installing software releases designed to cause the
software to be Year 2000 compliant. The Company is in the
process of testing its IT systems for Year 2000 compliance,
and expects testing activities to continue into 1999. The
Company’s goal is to be substantially Year 2000 compliant
by December 1998, to allow for testing all systems during
1999.

In addition, in 1997 the Company began evaluating non-
IT systems such as imbedded chips in production
equipment and personal computer hardware and software.
With respect to these non-IT systems, the Company has
completed the audit phase, and the assessment and scope
phases are approximately 50% complete. The Company is
presently in the process of testing and implementation, and
is upgrading its non-IT systems to become Year 2000
compliant. The Company’s goal is to complete the
remediation of non-IT systems by June 30, 1999.

In addition to reviewing its internal systems, the Company
has had formal communications with its significant
customers, vendors and freight companies concerning Year
2000 compliance, including electronic commerce. There can
be no assurance that the systems of other companies that
interact with the Company will be sufficiently Year 2000
compliant so as to avoid an adverse impact on the
Company’s operations, financial condition and results of
operations. The Company does not believe that its products
and services involve any Year 2000 risks.

The Company does not presently anticipate that the costs
to address the Year 2000 issue will have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of
operations or liquidity. Present estimated cost for
remediation are as follows: ‘

Previous Fiscal Years Fiscal 1999

Labor $313,000 $276,000

Sofiware 4,000 44,000

Hardware 34,000 0
Year 2000 solution

providers 101,000 76,000

$452,000 $396,000

The Company presently anticipates that it will complete its
Year 2000 assessment and remediation by December 31,
1999. However, there can be no assurance that the
Company will be successful in implementing its Year 2000
remediation plan according to the anticipated schedule. In
addition, the Company may be adversely affected by the
inability of other companies whose systems interact with the
Company to become Year 2000 compliant and by potential
interruptions of utility, communication or transportation
systems as a result of Year 2000 issues.

Although the Company expects its internal systems to be
Year 2000 compliant as described above, the Company
intends to prepare a contingency plan that will specify what
it plans to do if it or important external companies are not
Year 2000 compliant in a timely manner. The Company
expects to prepare its contingency plan during 1999.

RYERSON TULL, INC. (DEC)

Year 2000

The Company’s State of Readiness

The Company began planning to address Year 2000 issues
in 1996. As part of this process, the Company established a
Year 2000 panel with representatives from all business
units. This panel has monitored the progress of the
Company’s Year 2000 compliance and met regularly
throughout 1998. In 1999, Year 2000 activities will be
related to contingency planning. Therefore, the Company
executive staff and the business unit presidents will now
serve as the monitoring and advisory board for Year 2000
matters. This will ensure that the top management of the
Company is actively involved in the issue and is directing
the final stages of preparation.

During 1998, Company personnel and outside consultants
identified and corrected problems that may have interfered
with Year 2000 readiness. The primary focus was on the
Company’s internal computer systems.

An assessment of the majority of the Company’s
hardware, software and procedures was completed in 1997.
This assessment identified 40 major systems areas. These
were further broken down into upgrade units. Each of the
units with the exception of two systems identified below was
corrected to be Year 2000 compliant, tested and installed.
All unit testing was completed by the end of 1998. The
Company is conducting integrated testing during the first
quarter of 1999.

The Company has also performed an assessment of
microprocessors embedded in its equipment, distribution
facilities and corporate offices. Based on vendor
representations and internal testing, the Company believes
that it has no Year 2000 compfiance issues in this area.
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The Company addressed all Year 2000 issues which are
critical to its operations, with two exceptions—payroll and
accounts receivable. Both operations are handled through
software packages and the Company expects to have
complete Year 2000 software releases installed and tested
by the end of the first quarter of 1999.

The Company has identified a number of suppliers whose
Year 2000 compliance may be critical to the Company.
These suppliers include metal suppliers, outside processing
facilities and contract carriers. The Company intends to
survey these suppliers as to their Year 2000 compliance.
The Company will use the results of these surveys to aid in
contingency planning.

The Costs to Address the Company’s Year 2000 Issues

The Company has estimated that expenses incurred
through the end of 1998 totaled approximately $5.5 million.
Currently, it is expected that the Company will spend an
additional $1.0 million to bring its systems into Year 2000
compliance. This estimate is based on information currently
available and may need to be increased as more
information becomes available and as compliance
implementation and contingency planning proceed.

The Risks of the Company’s Year 2000 Issues

Although the Company believes it is unlikely, it is possible
the Company could experience an adverse impact that
could be material to the results of operations or the financial
position of the Company as a result of potential failure by
major customers or suppliers, or a delay or oversight in the
Company’s effort, to address Year 2000 issues.

In addition, if the suppliers of necessary
telecommunications, energy and transportation needs fail to
provide their services, such failure could aiso have an
adverse impact on the results of operations or financial
position of the Company.

The Company'’s Contingency Plans

The Company expects to establish contingency plans, in
the event all systems and critical suppliers have not been
made Year 2000 compliant, during 1999.

Market Risk Information Excerpts From
Management’s Discussion And Analysis

BRUNSWICK CORPORATION (DEC)

Risk Management

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and
commodity prices. The Company enters into various
hedging transactions to mitigate these risks in accordance
with guidelines established by the Company’s management.
The Company does not use financial instruments for trading
or speculative purposes.

The Company uses foreign currency forward and option
contracts to manage foreign exchange exposure related to
transactions, assets and liabilities that are subject to risk
from foreign currency rate changes. The Company’s
principal currency exposures relate to the Taiwanese dollar,
Japanese yen, Canadian dollar, European currencies and
the Australian dollar. Hedging of an asset or liability is

accomplished through the use of financial instruments as
the gain or loss on the hedging instrument offsets the gain
or loss on the asset or liability. Hedging of anticipated
transactions is accomplished with financial instruments as
the realized gain or loss occurs on or near the maturity date
of the anticipated transaction.

The Company uses interest-rate swap agreements to
mitigate the effect of changes in interest rates on the
Company’s investments and borrowings. The Company’s
net exposure to interest-rate risk primarily consists of fixed-
rate instruments. Interest-rate risk management is
accomplished through the use of interest-rate swaps and
floating-rate instruments that are benchmarked to U.S. and
European short-term money market interest rates.

Raw materials used by the Company are exposed to the
effect of changing commodity prices. Accordingly, the
Company uses commodity swap agreements to manage
fluctuations in prices of anticipated purchases of certain raw
materials.

The Company uses a value-at-risk (VAR) computation to
estimate the maximum potential one-day reduction in the
fair market value of its interest rate-sensitive financial
instruments and to estimate the maximum one-day
reduction in pretax earnings related to its foreign currency,
interest rate and commodity price-sensitive derivative
financial instruments. The VAR computation includes the
Company’'s debt; foreign currency forwards and options;
interest rate swap agreements; and commodity swap
agreements.

The amounts shown below represent the estimated
potential loss that the Company could incur from adverse
changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates or
commodity prices using the VAR estimation model. The
VAR model uses the variance-covariance statistical
modeling technique and uses historical foreign exchange
rates, interest rates and commodity prices to estimate the
volatility and correlation of these rates and prices in future
periods. It estimates a loss in fair market value using
statistical modeling techniques and includes substantially all
market risk exposures. The estimated potential losses
shown in the table below have no effect on the Company’s
results of operations or financial condition.

Amount in Confidence
Risk category millions  Time period level
Foreign exchange $0.1 1 day 95%
Interest rates $5.2 1 day 95%
Commodity prices $— 1 day 95%

The 95 percent confidence level signifies the Company’s
degree of confidence that actual losses would not exceed
the estimated losses shown above. The amounts shown
disregard the possibility that interest rates, foreign currency
exchange rates and commodity prices could move in the
Company’s favor. The VAR model assumes that all
movements in rates and commodity prices will be adverse.
Actual experience has shown that gains and losses tend to
offset each other over time, and it is highly unlikely that the
Company could experience losses such as these over an
extended period of time. These amounts should not be
considered projections of future losses, since actual results
may differ significantly depending upon activity in the global
financial markets.
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H.J. HEINZ COMPANY (APR)

Market Risk Factors

The following discussion about the Company’s risk-
management  activities includes  “forward-looking”
statements that involve risk and uncertainties. Actual results
could differ materially from those projected in the forward-
looking statements.

The Company is exposed to market risks from adverse
changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
commodity prices. As a policy, the Company does not
engage in speculative or leveraged transactions, nor does
the Company hold or issue financial instruments for trading
purposes.

Foreign Exchange Rate Sensitivity: The Company’s cash
flow and earnings are subject to fluctuations due to
exchange rate variation. Foreign currency risk exists by
nature of the Company’s global operations. The Company
manufactures and sells its products in a number of locations
around the world, and hence foreign currency risk is well
diversified.

When appropriate, the Company may attempt to limit its
exposure to changing foreign exchange rates through both
operational and financial market actions. These actions may
include entering into forward, option and swap contracts to
hedge existing exposures, firm commitments and,
potentially, anticipated transactions. The instruments are
used to reduce risk by essentially creating offsetting
currency exposures. As of April 29, 1998, the Company held
contracts for the purpose of hedging certain intercompany
cash flows with an aggregate notional amount of
approximately $630 miillion. In addition, the Company also
held separate contracts in order to hedge purchases of
certain raw materials and finished goods and for payments
arising from certain foreign currency denominated
obligations totaling approximately $280 million. Most of the
Company’s contracts mature within one year of the fiscal
year-end. The contracts that effectively meet the risk
reduction and correlation criteria, as measured on a
currency-by-currency basis are accounted for as hedges.
Accordingly, gains and losses are deferred in the cost basis

of the underlying transaction. In those circumstances when
it is not appropriate to account for the contracts as hedges,
any gains and losses from market-to-market and settlement
are recorded in miscellaneous income and expense. At April
29, 1998, unrealized gains and losses on outstanding
foreign currency contracts are not material. As of April 29,
1998, the potential gain or loss in the fair vaiue of the
Company’s outstanding foreign currency contracts,
assuming a hypothetical 10% fluctuation in the currencies of
such contracts, would be approximately $90 million.
However, it should be noted that any change in the value of
the contracts, real or hypothetical, would be significantly
offset by an inverse change in the value of the underlying
hedge items. in addition, this hypothetical calculation
assumes that each exchange rate would change in the
same direction relative to the U.S. dollar.

Substantially all of the Company’s foreign affiliates’
financial instruments are denominated in their respective
functional currencies. Accordingly, exposure to exchange
risk on foreign currency financial instruments is not material.

Interest Rate Sensitivity: The Company is exposed to
changes in interest rates primarily as a result of its
borrowing and investing activities used to maintain liquidity
and fund business operations. The Company continues to
utilize commercial paper to fund working capital
requirements in the U.S. and Canada. The Company also
borrows in different currencies from other sources to meet
the borrowing needs of its foreign affiliates. The nature and
amount of the Company’s long-term and short-term debt
can be expected to vary as a result of future business
requirements, market conditions and other factors. The
Company may utilize interest rate swap agreements to
lower funding costs, to diversify sources of funding or to
alter interest rate exposure. There are no interest rate swap
agreements outstanding at April 29, 1998.

The following table summarizes the Company’s debt
obligations at April 29, 1998. The interest rates represent
weighted-average rates, with the period end rate used for
the variable rate debt obligations. The fair value of the debt
obligations approximated the recorded value as of April 29,
1998.

Expected Fiscal Year of Maturity
(Dollars in thousands) 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003  Thereafter Total
Fixed rate $ 34519  $582,538 $18513 $ 14464  $457,190  $346,889 $1,454,113
Average interest rate 721% 7.01% 7.75% 9.53% 6.28% 6.42%
Variable rate $305,107 $ 3,687 —  $1,340,824 - $ 7432  $1,657,050
Average interest rate 6.40% 5.75% — 5.64% — 5.30%

Commodity Price Sensitivity: The Company is the purchaser
of certain commodities such as corn, wheat and soybean
meal and oil. The Company generally purchases these
commodities based upon market prices that are established
with the vendor as part of the purchase process. In general,
the Company does not use significant levels of commodity
financial instruments to hedge commodity prices due to a
high correlation between the commodity cost and the
ultimate selling price of the product. On occasion, the
Company may enter into commodity future or option
contracts, as deemed appropriate, to reduce the effect of
price fluctuations on some future manufacturing
requirements. Such contracts are accounted for as hedges,

with gains and losses recognized as part of cost of products
sold, and generally have a term of less than one year. As of
April 29, 1998, unrealized gains and losses related to
commodity contracts held by the Company were not
material nor would they have been given a hypothetical 10%
fluctuation in market prices. It should be noted that any
change in the value of the contracts, real or hypothetical,
would be significantly offset by an inverse change in the
value of the underlying hedged items.
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PHILIP MORRIS COMPANIES INC. (DEC)
Market Risk

The Company is exposed to market risk, primarily related to
foreign exchange, commodity prices and interest rates.
These exposures are actively monitored by management.
To manage the volatility relating to these exposures, the
Company enters into a variety of derivative financial
instruments. The Company's objective is to reduce, where it
is deemed appropriate to do so, fluctuations in earnings and
cash flows associated with changes in interest rates, foreign
currency rates and commodity prices. It is the Company’s
policy and practice to use derivative financial instruments
only to the extent necessary to manage exposures. Since
the Company uses currency rate-sensitive and commodity
price-sensitive instruments to hedge a certain portion of its
existing and anticipated transactions, the Company expects
that any loss in value for those instruments generally would
be offset by increases in the value of those hedged
transactions. The Company does not hold or issue
derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative
purposes.

Foreign Exchange Rates: The Company is exposed to
foreign exchange movements, primarily in European,
Japanese, other Asian and Latin American currencies.
Consequently, it enters into various contracts, which change
in value as foreign exchange rates change, to preserve the
value of commitments and anticipated transactions. The
Company uses foreign currency option contracts to hedge
certain anticipated foreign currency revenues and raw
materials purchases. The Company also enters into short-
term currency forward contracts, primarily to hedge
intercompany transactions denominated in foreign
currencies and to hedge the purchase of commodities. At
December 31, 1998, the Company had long and short
forward exchange/option contracts with U.S. dollar
equivalent values of $3.6 billion and $4.5 billion,
respectively. At December 31, 1997, the Company had long
and short forward exchange/option contracts with U.S.
dollar equivalent values of $1.3 billion and $1.2 billion,
respectively.

The Company also seeks to protect its foreign currency
net asset exposure, primarily the Swiss franc and German
mark, through the use of foreign-currency denominated debt
or currency swap agreements. At December 31, 1998 and
1997, the notional amounts of currency swap agreements
aggregated $2.5 billion and $1.4 billion, respectively.

Commodities: The Company is exposed to price risk
related to anticipated purchases of certain commodities
used as raw materials by the Company’s food businesses.
Accordingly, the Company enters into commodity future,
forward and option contracts to manage fluctuations in
prices of anticipated purchases, primarily coffee, cocoa,
sugar, wheat and corn. At December 31, 1998 and 1997,
the Company had net long commodity positions of $158
million and $266 million, respectively. Unrealized losses on
net commodity positions were immaterial at December 31,
1998 and 1997.

Interest Rates: The Company manages its exposure to
interest rate risk through the proportion of fixed rate debt
and variable rate debt in its total debt portfolio. To manage
this mix, the Company may enter into interest rate swap
agreements, in which it exchanges the periodic payments,
based on a notional amount and agreed-upon fixed and
variable interest rates. The Company’s percentage of fixed
rate debt to total debt (consumer products and financial
services) was 93% and 98% at December 31, 1998 and
1997, respectively. The decrease reflects an interest rate
swap agreement entered into by the Company during 1998.
The agreement effectively converts $800 million of fixed rate
debt to variable rate debt. The Company had no interest
rate swap agreements at December 31, 1997.

Use of the above-mentioned derivative financial
instruments has not had a material impact on the
Company’s financial position at December 31, 1998 and
1997 or the Company’s results of operations for the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996.

Value at Risk: The Company uses a value at risk (“VAR”)
computation to estimate the potential one-day loss in the fair
value of its interest rate-sensitive financial instruments and
to estimate the one-day loss in pre-tax earnings of its
foreign currency and commodity price-sensitive derivative
financial instruments. The VAR computation includes the
Company’s debt; short-term investments; foreign currency
forwards, swaps and options; and commodity futures,
forwards and options. Anticipated transactions, foreign
currency trade payables and receivables, and net
investments in foreign subsidiaries, which the foregoing
instruments are intended to hedge, were excluded from the
computation.

The VAR estimates were made assuming normal market
conditions, using a 95% confidence interval. The Company
used a “variance/co-variance” model to determine the
observed interrelationships between movements in interest
rates and various currencies. These interrelationships were
determined by observing interest rate and forward currency
rate movements over the preceding quarter for the
calculation of VAR amounts at December 31, 1998 and
1997 and over each of the four preceding quarters for the
calculation of average VAR amounts during each year. The
values of foreign currency and commodity options do not
change on a one-to-one basis with the underlying currency
or commodity and were valued accordingly in the VAR
computation.

The estimated potential one-day loss in fair value of the
Company’s interest rate-sensitive instruments, primarily
debt, under normal market conditions and the estimated
potential one-day loss in pre-tax earnings from foreign
currency and commodity instruments under normal market
conditions, as calculated in the VAR model, follow:
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Earnings impact
(in millions} At12/31/98  Average High Low
Instruments sensitive to:
Foreign currency rates $41 $17 $41 $7
Commodity prices $2 $4 $6 $2
Fair value impact
(in millions) At12/31/08  Average High Low
Instruments sensitive to:
Interest rates $47 $45 $60 $36
Earnings impact
(in millions) At 12/31/97  Average High Low
Instruments sensitive to:
Foreign cuprency rates $5 $7 $15 $3
Commaodity prices $7 $8 $17 $5
Fair value impact
(in millions) At12/31/97  Average High Low
Instruments sensitive to:
Interest rates $37 $40 $47 $37

The VAR computation is a risk analysis tool designed to
statistically estimate the maximum probable daily loss from
adverse movements in interest rates, foreign currency rates
and commodity prices under normal market conditions. The
computation does not purport to represent actual losses in
fair value or earnings to be incurred by the Company, nor
does it consider the effect of favorable changes in market
rates. The Company cannot predict actual future
movements in such market rates and does not present
these VAR results to be indicative of future movements in
such market rates or to be representative of any actual
impact that future changes in market rates may have on its
future results of operations or financial position.

PILGRIM’S PRIDE CORPORATION (SEP)

Market Risk Sensitive Instruments and Positions

The risk inherent in the Company’s market risk sensitive
instruments and positions is the potential loss arising from
adverse changes in the price of feed ingredients, foreign
currency exchange :rates and interest rates as discussed
below. The sensitivity analyses presented do not consider
the effects that such adverse changes may have an overall
economic activity nor do they consider additional actions
management may take to mitigate its exposure to such
changes. Actual results may differ.

Feed Ingredients:

The Company is a purchaser of certain commodities,
primarily corn and soybean meal. As a result, the
Company's earnings are affected by changes in the price

and availability of such feed ingredients. As market

conditions dictate, the Company from time to time will lock-
in future feed ingredient prices, using various hedging
techniques including forward purchase agreements with
suppliers and futures contracts. The Company does not use
such financial instruments for trading purposes and is not a

party to any leveraged derivatives. Market risk is estimated
as a hypothetical 10% increase in the weighted-average
cost of the Company’s primary feed ingredients as of
September 26, 1998. Based on projected 1999 feed
consumption, such an increase would result in an increase
to cost of sales of approximately $16.3 million in 1999, after
considering the effect of forward purchase commitments
and future contracts outstanding as of September 26, 1998.
As of September 26, 1998, the Company had hedged
approximately 45.6% of its 1999 feed requirements.

Foreign Currency

The Company’s earnings are affected by foreign
exchange rate fluctuations related to the Mexican peso net
monetary position of its Mexico subsidiaries. The Company
primarily manages this exposure by attempting to minimize
its Mexican peso net monetary position, but has also from
time to time considered executing hedges to help minimize
this exposure. However, such instruments have historically
not been economically feasible. The Company is also
exposed to the effect of potential exchange rate fluctuations
to the extent that amounts are repatriated from Mexico to
the United States. However, the Company currently
anticipates that the cash flows of its Mexico subsidiaries will
continue to be reinvested in its Mexico Operations. In
addition, the Mexican peso exchange rate can directly and
indirectly impact the Company’s results of operations and
financial position in several manners, including potential
economic recession in Mexico resulting from a devalued
peso. The impact on the Company’s financial position and
results of operations of a hypothetical change in the
exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the Mexican
peso cannot be reasonably estimated. Foreign currency
exchange losses, representing the decline in the U.S. dollar
value of the net monetary assets of the Company’s Mexico
subsidiaries, were $2.3 million, $0.4 million and $1.3 million
for 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. The operating loss of
the Company’s Mexico subsidiaries of $8.2 million in 1996
was primarily the result of the peso devaluation and other
economic factors at least partially attributable to the peso
devaluation. On December 3, 1998, the Mexican peso
closed at 10.0 to 1 U.S. dollar, a decrease from 10.24 at
September 26, 1998. No assurance can be given as to the
future valuation of the Mexican peso and how further
movements in the peso could affect future earnings of the
Company.

Interest Rates

The Company’s earnings are also affected by changes in
interest rates due to the impact those changes have on its
variable-rate debt instruments. The Company has variable-
rate debt instruments representing approximately 22.5% of
its total long-term debt at September 26, 1998. If interest
rates average 25 basis points more in 1999, than they did
during 1998, the Company’s interest expense would be
increased by $0.1 million. These amounts are determined
by considering the impact of the hypothetical interest rates
on the Company's variable-rate long-term debt at
September 26, 1998.

Market risk for fixed-rate long-term debt is estimated as
the potential increase in fair value resulting from a
hypothetical 25 basis points decrease in interest rates and
amounts to approximately $0.7 million, using discounted
cash flow analysis.
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PIONEER HI-BRED INTERNATIONAL, INC. (AUG)

Market Risks

The Company uses derivative instruments to manage risks
associated with its grower compensation costs and foreign-
currency-based transactions.

The Company uses derivative instruments such as
commodity futures and options to hedge the commodity risk
involved in compensating growers. Pioneer contracts with
independent growers to produce the Company's finished
seed inventory. Contracts with growers generally allow them
to settle with Pioneer for the market price of grain for a
period of time following harvest. It is the Company's policy
to hedge commodity risk prior to setting the retail price of
seed. The hedge gains or losses are accounted for as
inventory costs and expensed as cost of goods sold when
the associated crop inventory is sold. At August 31, 1998
and 1997, net unrealized losses on these contracts for corn
and soybeans totaled $13 milion and $4 million,
respectively. A 10 percent change in the market price of the
commodity contracts would impact 1998 net unrealized
losses by approximately $1 million. The contract volumes at
year end depend upon the acreage contracted with growers,
the crop yield, the percentage growers have marketed to
Pioneer, and the percentage of crop hedged by the
Company. Since these positions are a hedge to inventory
costs, any change in the cost of these positions is offset by
an opposite change in inventory costs.

The Company uses derivative instruments such as
forward exchange contracts, purchased options, and cross
currency swaps to hedge foreign-currency-denominated
transactions such as exports, contractual flows, and royalty
payments. While derivative hedge instruments are subject
to price fluctuations from exchange and interest rate
movements, the Company expects these price changes to
generally be offset by changes in the U.S. dollar value of
foreign sales and cash flows. Therefore, hedging gains and
losses are matched with the costs of the underlying
exposures and accounted for in inventory, sales, or net
financial costs. At August 31, 1998 and 1997, net unrealized
losses from foreign-currency hedge contracts totaled $1
million and $4 million, respectively. A 10 percent change in
exchange rates would impact 1998 net unrealized losses by
approximately $14 million.

The Company does not trade in commodity-based or
financial instruments with the objective of earning financial
gain on rate or price fluctuations, nor does it trade in these
instruments when there are no underlying transaction
related exposures.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 14
requires that financial statements presented in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles include
specified information relating to a reporting entity’s
operations in different industries, its foreign operations and
export sales, and its major customers. SFAS No. 14
describes the information to be presented and the formats

for presenting such information. Effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 1997, Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 131 supersedes SFAS No. 14 in
reporting information about a public business enterprise’s
operating segments. Operating segments are components
of an enterprise about which separate financial information
is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating
decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in
assessing performance. P

Table 1-3 shows the type of segment information most
frequently presented as an integral part of the financial
statements of the survey companies. Examples of segment
information disclosures follow.

TABLE 1-3: SEGMENT INFORMATION

Number of Companies
1998 1997 1996 1995

Industry segments :
Revenue 387 306 312 327
Operating income or loss................ 305 2n 279 297
Identifiable assets ............... 32 297 307 328
Depreciation expense 365 300 31 322
Capital expenditures ..........c...ceecven. 358 297 303 319

Geographic area
Revenue 297 283 281 272
Operating income or 10ss................ 11 213 208 221
Identifiable assets ............ccecoreennenes 177 269 258 259
Depreciation expense .................... 38 17 16 28
Capital expenditures ..., 25 18 17 24

Export sales 111 168 154 167

Sales to major customers.................. 136 145 137 166

AGCO CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

12. Segment Reporting

The company has four geographic reportable segments:
North America; South America; Europe/Africa/Middle East;
and Asia/Pacific. Each segment distributes a full range of
agricultural equipment and related replacement parts. The
accounting policies of the segments are the same " as
described in the summary of significant accounting policies.
The Company evaluates segment performance based:6n
income from operations. Sales for each segment are based
on the location of the third-party customer. All intercompany
transactions between segments have been eliminated. The
Company’s selling, general and administrative expenses
and engineering expenses are charged to each segment
based on the region where the expenses are incurred. As a
result, the components of operating income for one segment
may not be comparable to another segment. Segment
results for 1998, 1997 and 1996 are as follows (in millions):
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Europe/Africa/ Asia/

North America  South America Middle East Pacific ~ Consolidated
1998
Net sales $940.9 $315.3 $1,597.8 $ 874 $2,941.4
Income from operations 57.0 13.5 136.2 15.8 2225
Depreciation and amortization 14.3 89 329 1.5 576
Assets 876.7 260.9 9225 30.2 2,090.3
Capital expenditures 145 6.4 40.1 — 61.0
1997
Net sales $956.6 $334.3 $1,781.4 $152.1 $3,224.4
Income from operations 108.3 193 1924 321 3521
Depreciation and amortization 1.1 94 272 1.7 494
Assets 799.9 2452 926.4 33.6 2,005.1
Capital expenditures 20.4 7.2 444 0.1 721
1996
Net sales $862.6 $100.3 $1,184.9 $169.7 $2,3175
Income from operations 94.1 (0.3) 125.1 35.3 254.2
Depreciation and amortization 9.3 29 15.1 1.9 29.2
Assets 7158 2534 614.3 39.7 1,623.2
Capital expenditures 12.2 0.8 320 0.2 452

A reconciliation from the segment information to the consolidated balances for income from operations and assets is set forth

below (in millions):

1998 1997 1996
Segment income from operations $ 2225 $ 3521 $ 2542
Restricted stock compensation expense (12.0) (14.8) (20.0)
Nonrecurring expenses (40.0) (18.2) (22.3)
Consolidated income from operations $ 1705 $ 3191 $ 2119
Segment assets $2,090.3 $2,005.1 $1,623.2
Cash and cash equivalents 159 31.2 4147
Receivable from affiliates 15.2 185 125
Investments in affiliates 95.2 87.6 80.5
Other current and noncurrent assets 163.3 139.5 153.0
Intangible assets 370.5 339.0 205.6
Consolidated total assets $2,750.4 $2,620.9 $2,116.5

Net sales by customer location for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 were as follows (in millions):
1998 1997 1996

Net sales:

United States $ 759.0 $ 7385 $ 690.0
Canada 142.4 182.6 153.8
Germany 4493 470.5 1413
France 3215 3478 231.2
United Kingdom and Ireland 122.2 179.5 2171
Other Europe 540.3 614.6 4224
South America 3153 3343 100.3
Middle East 1158 105.7 923
Asia 36.7 87.8 102.7
Australia 50.7 64.3 67.0
Africa 487 63.3 80.6
Mexico, Central America and Caribbean 39.5 35.5 18.8
$2,941.4 $3,224 4 $2,317.5
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Net sales by product for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 were as follows (in millions):

1998 1997 1996

Net sales:
Tractors $1,8388 $1,990.6 $1,393.0
Combines 2935 330.5 2625
Other machinery 3185 389.7 258.6
Replacement parts 490.6 513.6 403.4
$2,941.4 $3,224.4 $2,3175

BAXTER INTERNATIONAL INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Segment Information: The company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, “Disclosures about
Segments of an Enterprise and Related information” (SFAS
No. 131) in 1998. This statement establishes standards for
the reporting of information about operating segments in
annual and interim financial statements and requires
restatement of prior year information. Operating segments
are defined as components of an enterprise for which
separate financial information is available that is evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision maker(s) in
deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
performance. SFAS No. 131 also requires disclosures about
products and services, geographic areas and major
customers. The adoption of SFAS No. 131 did not affect
results of operations or financial position but did affect the
disclosure of segment information, as presented in Note 13.

13. Segment Information

Baxter is a global leader in providing critical therapies for
life-threatening conditions. The company operates in four
segments, each of which are strategic businesses that are
managed separately because each business develops,
manufactures and sells distinct products and services. The
segments and a description of their businesses are as
follows: 1.V. Systems/Medical Products, technologies and
systems to provide intravenous fluid and drug delivery;
Blood Therapies, biopharmaceutical and blood-collection

and separation products and technologies; Renal, products
and services to treat end-stage kidney disease; and
CardioVascular, products and services to treat late-stage
heart disease and vascular disorders. The company’s
products and services are used in more than 100 countries,
with the principal markets being the United States, Europe,
Japan and Latin America. The four segments’ principal
products include intravenous solutions and infusion pumps;
blood-clotting therapies, vaccines, and machines for
collecting, separating and storing blood; dialysis equipment,
solutions and supplies; and prosthetic heart valves and
cardiac catheters, respectively.

Management utilizes more than one measurement and
multiple views of data to measure segment performance
and to allocate resources to the segments. However, the
dominant measurements are consistent with the company’s
consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, are
reported on the same basis herein. Management evaluates
the performance of its segments and allocates resources to
them primarily based on pretax income along with cash
flows and overall economic returns. Intersegment sales are
generally accounted for at amounts comparable to sales to
unaffiliated customers, and are eliminated in consolidation.
The accounting policies of the segments are substantially
the same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies, as discussed in Note 1.

Certain items are maintained at the company’s corporate
headquarters (Corporate) and are not allocated to the
segments. They primarily include most of the company’s
debt and cash and equivalents and related net interest
expense, corporate headquarters costs, certain non-
strategic investments and nonrecurring gains and losses,
deferred income taxes, certain portions of goodwill, certain
foreign currency fluctuations, hedging activities, and certain
litigation liabilities and related insurance receivables.
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y L.V. Systems/

As of and for the years ended Medical Cardio-

December 31 (in millions) Products Therapies Renal Vascular Other Total
1998

Net sales $2,314 $1,530 $894 - $6,599
Depreciation and amortization 137 81 64 $ 43 426
Pretax income 388 396 349 164 (748) 549
Assets 2,285 2,642 1,360 836 2,962 10,085
Expenditures for long-lived assets 146 212 129 49 60 596
1997

Net sales $2,110 $1.765 $1,384 $879 - $6,138
Depreciation and amortization 128 98 67 65 $ 40 398
Pretax income 329 375 339 153 (673) 523
Assets 1,937 2,305 1,055 856 2,554 8,707
Expenditures for long-lived assets 135 100 52 18 496
1996

Net sales $1,956 $1,284 $1,343 $855 — $5,438
Depreciation and amortization 118 49 65 63 $ 53 348
Pretax income 280 250 332 153 (222) 793
Assets 1,794 1,103 987 776 2,936 7,596
Expenditures for long-lived assets 130 92 106 49 21 398

included in 1997 pretax income for the Blood Therapies
segment is a $17 million gain relating to the disposal of a
non-strategic investment, and a $32 million gain relating to
the divestiture of certain assets of the Immunotherapy
division.

With respect to depreciation and amortization, and
expenditures for long-lived assets, the differences between
thé segment totals and the consolidated totals relates to
assets maintained at Corporate.

As of and for the years
ended December 31 (in millions) 1998 1997 1996
Pretax income
Total pretax income from
segments $1,297 $1,196 $1,015
Unallocated amounts
“In-process research and
development charges (116) (352) -
" Charge for exit and other
* - reorganization costs (131) — —
Net litigation charge (178) - -
Interest expense, net (161) (163) (103)
Certain currency exchange
rate activity (119) (48) @n
Gain on disposal of
investment 20 - —
Other corporate items (63) (110) (92)
Consolidated income before
income taxes $ 549 $ 523 $ 793
Assets
Total segment assets $7,123 $6,153 $4,660
Unallocated assets
Cash and equivalents 709 465 761
Deferred income taxes 596 290 233
Insurance receivables 639 735 872
Certain portions of goodwill 635 659 682
Other corporate assets 383 405 388
Consolidated total assets $10,085 $8,707 $7,59%

Geographic Information: The following geographic area data
include net sales based on product shipment destination
and long-lived assets based on physical location.

As of and for the years ended

December 31 (in millions) 1998 1997 1996
Net sales

United States $3,145 $2,887 $2,665
Japan 543 570 602
Other countries 2911 2,681 21N
Consolidated totals $6,599 $6,138 $5,438
Long-lived assets

United States $1,448 $1,267 $1,170
Other countries 1,225 1,093 673
Consolidated totals $2,673 $2,360 $1,843

CONSOLIDATED PAPERS, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

11. Segment Information

The company’s principal business is the manufacture of
paper and paper-related products. Consolidated Papers,
Inc. is a leading manufacturer of coated and
supercalendered printing papers. The company is also the
nation’s leading manufacturer of coated specialty papers
used in consumer product packaging and labeling. Other
products and services include recycled pulp made from
printed, preconsumer and postconsumer scrap paper,
paperboard, paperboard products, corrugated products, and
hospitality and lodging services provided at a company-
owned hotel.

The company’s headquarters and major operating
facilities are all located in the United States. Some
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forestlands and a small wood production facility are located
in Canada. These Canadian operations account for $.6
million of consolidated total assets.

The principal markets for the company’s products are in
the United States. Export sales, primarily to Canada,
amounted to $88.2 million in 1998, $65.8 million in 1997 and
$37.4 million in 1996.

Sales to one customer amounted to 13.6%, 14.3% and
13.0% of consolidated net sales in 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively. Sales to another customer amounted to 10.1%
and 10.2% of net sales in 1998 and 1997.

The company is managed along product lines including
coated and supercalendered printing papers, coated
specialty papers, paperboard products, and corrugated
products. Several operating divisions producing
groundwood-free, groundwood and supercalendered
printing papers have been aggregated into the coated and
supercalendered printing papers reportable segment
because these operating segments are similar in economic
characteristics, products, production processes, type of
customer and distribution methods. The coated specialty
papers, paperboard products and corrugated products
operating segments do not meet the quantitative thresholds
for a reportable segment and thus are included in the
“Other” category.

The coated and supercalendered printing papers
reportable segment derives revenues from the sale of
printing papers used by commercial printers and publishers
for magazines, annual reports, advertising brochures,
catalogs, coupons and newspaper inserts. The “Other”
category includes the sales of coated specialty papers
(used for flexible packaging, pressure-sensitive labels and
technical papers), recycled pulp, paperboard products and
corrugated products, as well as revenues from the
company-owned hotel.

Segment sales include intersegment sales valued at
arm’s-length transfer prices. Segment operating profit is
revenue less direct and allocable operating expenses.
Segment identifiable assets are those which are directly
used in or identified to segment operations. Corporate items
include nonoperating overhead, selling, general and
administrative expense, research and development
expenditures, interest expense, intersegment eliminations,
and other income and deductions items. Corporate assets
are principally cash and cash equivalents, certain nontrade
receivables, prepaid items, equity method investments, and
certain nonoperating fixed assets.

Financial information by business segment follows:

Printing Corporate ~
(in thousands) Papers Other ltems Total
1998
Revenues $1,751,226 $281,690 $(43,601) $1,989,315
Segment profit (loss) 323,475 16,575 (161,781) 178,269
Total assets 2,754,789 325,538 547,159 3,627,486
Capital expenditures 315,459 29,663 3,734 348,856
Depreciation and amortization 160,514 18,168 (4,434) 174,248
1997
Revenues $1,440,005 $284,820 $(45,514) $1,679,311
Segment profit (loss) 264,710 28,578 (102,894) 190,394
Total assets 2,514,870 313,684 518,956 3,347,510
Capital expenditures 181,582 50,338 4,278 236,198
Depreciation and amortization 105,063 21,248 2,289 128,600
1996
Revenues $1,296,536 $277,122 $(28,567) $1,545,091
Segment profit (loss) 325,654 44,133 (80,617) 289,170
Total assets 1,675,482 401,015 555,745 2,532,242
Capital expenditures 175,501 108,550 3,842 287,893
Depreciation and amortization 87,808 17,867 2,145 107,820
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THE BFGOODRICH COMPANY (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

N. Business Segment Information

The Company’s operations are classified into two reportable
business segments: BFGoodrich Aerospace (‘Aerospace”)
and BFGoodrich Performance Materials (“‘Performance
Materials. The Company’'s two reportable business
segments are managed separately based on fundamental
differences in their operations.

Aerospace consists of four business groups:
Aerostructures; Landing Systems; Sensors and Integrated
Systems; and Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul. They
serve commercial, military, regional, business and general
aviation markets. Aerospace’s major products are aircraft
engine nacelle and pylon systems; aircraft landing gear and
wheels and brakes; sensors and sensor-based systems;
fuel measurement and management systems; aircraft
evacuation slides and rafts; ice protection systems, and
collision warning systems. Aerospace also provides
maintenance, repair and overhaul services on commercial
airframes and components.

Performance Materials consists of three business groups:
Textile and Industrial Coatings, Polymer Additives and
Specialty Plastics, and Consumer Specialties. They serve
various markets such as personal-care, pharmaceuticals,
printing, textiles, industrial, construction and automotive.
Performance Materials’ major products are thermoplastic
polyurethane;  high-heat-resistant  plastics;  synthetic
thickeners and emulsifiers; polymer emulsions, resins and
additives, and textile thickeners, binders, emulsions and
compounds.

The Company’s business is conducted on a global basis
with manufacturing, service and sales undertaken in various
locations throughout the world. Aerospace’s products and
services and Performance Materials’ products are
principally sold to customers in North America and Europe.

Segment operating income is total segment revenue
reduced by operating expenses identifiable with that
business segment. Corporate includes general corporate
administrative costs and Advanced Technology Group
research expenses.

The Company evaluates performance and allocates
resources based on operating income. The accounting
policies of the reportable segments are the same as those
described in the summary of significant accounting policies.
There are no intersegment sales.

{in millions) 1998 1997 1996
Sales
Aerospace $2,7552  $2,4683  $2,021.4
Performance Materials 1,195.6 904.7 824.4
Total sales $3,950.8 $3,373.0 $2,845.8
Operating income
Aerospace $ 3864 $ 260.3 $ 2536
Performance Materials 145.8 128.2 109.5
532.2 388.5 363.1
Corporate General and
Administrative
Expenses’ (55.4) (138.4) (52.8)
Total operating income $ 476.8 $ 250.1 $ 3103
Assets
Aerospace $2,372.5 $2,347.0 $2,169.2
Performance Materials 1,369.5 877.3 784.6
Corporate 4506 * 269.6 626.0
Total assets $4,192.6 $3,493.9 $3,579.8
Capital Expenditures
Aerospace $ 134.1 $ 819 $ 646
Performance Materials 70.6 732 975
Corporate 38 48 35.0
Total capital expenditures ~ $ 208.5 $ 159.9 $ 197.1
Depreciation and Amortization
Expenses
Aerospace $ 873 $ 826 § 793
Performance Materials 753 482 39.0
Corporate 28 8.0 215
Total depreciation and
amortization $ 1654 $ 138.8 $ 1398
Geographic areas
Net sales
United States $2,631.7 $2,307.8 $1,989.7
Europe' 84338 723.7 525.2
Other Foreign 475.3 341.5 330.9
Total $3,950.8 $3,373.0 $2,845.8
Property
United States $1,104.8 $ 9473 $1,015.1
Europe 148.3 116.5 108.3
Other Foreign 28 1.3 18.6
Total $1,255.9 $1,065.1 $1,142.0

' European sales in 1998, 1997 and 1996 included $262.3 million,
$418.9 milion and $248.5 million, respectively, of sales to
customers in France. Sales were allocated to geographic areas
based on where the product was shipped to.

? Corporate general and administrative expenses in 1997 include
merger costs of $77.0 million.

in 1998, 1997 and 1996, sales to Boeing, solely by the
Aerospace Segment, totaled 14 percent, 14 percent and 13
percent, respectively, of consolidated sales. Sales to Boeing
include sales to McDonnell Douglas which merged with
Boeing in 1997.



Segment Information 29

ELI LILLY AND COMPANY (DEC)

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Dollars in millions)

The company operates in one significant business
segment—pharmaceutical products. Operations of the
animal health business are not material and are included
with pharmaceutical products for purposes of segment
reporting.

Year ended December 31 1998 1997 1996
Net sales—to unaffiliated
customers
Neurosciences $4,487.8 $3,515.3 $2,665.8
Endocrinology 1,482.5 1,381.8 1,286.6
Anti-infectives 1,160.9 1,2725 1,465.6
Animal health 614.4 589.8 5473
Cardiovascular 536.9 421.0 3254
Gastrointestinal 4180 525.4 532.2
Oncology 339.2 210.6 104.1
Other pharmaceutical 197.1 713 7.3
Net sales $9,236.8 $7,987.7 $6,998.3

Geographic information
Net sales—to unaffiliated

customers":

United States $5,836.2 $4,881.8 $3917.3
Western Europe 1,692.3 1,462.9 1,455.2
Other foreign countries 1,708.3 1,643.0 1,625.8

$9,236.8 $7,987.7 $6,998.3

Long-lived assets:

United States $3,421.9 $3,333.4 $3,595.1
Western Europe 6754 632.2 663.4
Other foreign countries 654.4 663.9 685.6

$4,751.7 $4,629.5 $4,944.1

' Net sales are attributed to the countries based on the location of
the subsidiary making the sale.

The largest category of products is the neurosciences
group, which includes Prozac, Zyprexa, Darvon® and
Permax. Endocrinology products consist primarily of
Humulin, Humatrope, Humalog and lletin. Anti-infectives
include primarily Ceclor, Keflex, Lorabid, Nebcin®, Tazidime
and Vancocin. Cardiovascular products consist primarily of
ReoPro and Dobutrex. The gastrointestinal group is entirely
composed of Axid. Oncology products consist primarily of
Gemzar. Animal health products include Tylan; Micotil;
Surmax; Rumensin®, a nonhormonal cattle feed additive;
anticoccidial agents for use in broilers and layer
replacements, the largest of which is Coban® and other
products for livestock and poultry. The other pharmaceutical
product group includes Evista and other miscellaneous
pharmaceutical products and services.

Most of the pharmaceutical products are distributed
through wholesalers that serve physicians and other health
care professionals, pharmacies and hospitals. In 1998, the
company’s four largest wholesalers each accounted for
between 10 percent and 17 percent of consolidated net
sales. Animal health products are sold to wholesale
distributors, retailers, manufacturers and producers.

Total assets on the consolidated balance sheet include
amounts from the discontinued operations of PCS (see Note
3). Total assets from continuing operations for 1998, 1997
and 1996 were $10.6 billion, $10.6 billion and $9.9 billion,
respectively. Long-lived assets disclosed above consist of
property and equipment, goodwill and certain sundry assets
of the continuing operations.

The company is exposed to the risk of changes in social,
political and economic conditions inherent in foreign
operations, and the company'’s results of operations and the
value of its foreign assets are affected by fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates.

POTLATCH CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

13. Segment Information

in the fourth quarter of 1998, the company adopted the
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 131,
“Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information,” which establishes standards for reporting
information about a company’s operating segments. The
company has divided its operations into three reportable
segments: wood products, printing papers and pulp and
paper, based upon similarities in product lines,
manufacturing processes, marketing and management of its
businesses. The wood products segment produces oriented
strand board, lumber, plywood and particleboard. The
printing papers segment produces coated printing papers.
The pulp and paper segment produces bleached kraft pulp,
paperboard and consumer tissue.

The reporting segments follow the same accounting
policies used for the company’s consolidated financial
statements and described in the summary of significant
accounting policies. Management evaluates a segment’s
performance based upon profit or loss from operations
before income taxes. Intersegment sales or transfers are
recorded based on prevailing market prices.

Following is a tabulation of business segment information
for each of the past three years. Corporate information is
included to reconcile segment data to the consolidated
financial statements.
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(Dollars in thousands) 1998 1997 1996
Segment sales:
Wood products:
Oriented strand board $171,464 $ 106807 $ 150,545
Lumber 225,668 247,232 201,022
Plywood 54,561 64,511 57,468
Particleboard 14,494 12,875 12,087
Logs, chips, etc. 124,536 119,435 111,118
590,723 550,860 532,240
Printing papers 406,277 429,217 441,037
Pulp and paper:
Pulp 12,467 11,183 12,346
Paperboard 390,708 420,054 404,136
Tissue 235,799 218,310 222,169
638,974 649,547 638,651
1,635974 1,629,624 1,611,928
Elimination of
intersegment sales (70,096) (60,754) (57,479)
Total consolidated net sales ~ $1,565,878  $ 1,568,870 §$ 1,554,449
Intersegment sales or transfers:'
Wood products $ 69984 $ 60649 $ 57,033
Printing papers — 35 2719
Pulp and paper 112 70 167
Total $ 7009 $ 60754 $ 57479
Operating income:
Wood products $ 73811 $ 47674 $ 68,056
Printing papers 14,204 33,358 48,570
Pulp and paper 53,394 51,043 40,867
141,409 132,075 157,493
Corporate items:
Administration expense (37,247) (31,385) (30,752)
Interest expense (49,744) (46,124) (43,869)
Cther, net 3,757 69 3,454
Consolidated earnings
before taxes on income $ 58175 § 54635 $ 86,326
Depreciation, Amortization
and Cost of Fee Timber
Harvested:
Wood products $ 54245 $ 50586 $ 49,072
Printing papers 41,618 39,436 35,318
Pulp and paper 53,525 58,689 56,092
149,388 148,711 140,482
Corporate 890 1,074 1,039
Total $150,278 § 149,785 § 141,521
Assets:
Wood products $671,381 $ 690468 $ 698,151
Printing papers 685,743 644,457 592,228
Pulp and paper 825,547 842,337 850,612
2182671 2,177,262 2,140,991
Corporate 194,635 187,874 124,688
Total consolidated assets $2,377,306  $2,365,136  $2,265,679

Capital Expenditures:
Wood products $ 28404  $ 31578  § 43,992
Printing papers 87,147 81,913 103,574
Pulp and paper 30,674 44,054 92,083
146,225 157,545 239,649
Corporate 802 940 259
Total $147,027  $158485  $239,908

Intersegment sales for 1998-1996, the majority of which were
based on prevailing market prices, consisted primarily of chips,
pulp logs and other fiber sales to the printing papers and pulp and
paper segments. The company’s timber, timberlands and related
logging facilities have been assigned to the wood products
segment.

All of the company’s manufacturing facilities and all other
assets are located within the continental United States.
However, the company sells and ships products to many
foreign countries. Geographic information regarding the
company’s net sales is summarized as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 1998 1997 1996
United States $1,392,223  $1,382,674 $1,357,801
Japan 64,129 69,494 89,355
Australia 23,022 30,869 32,585
Canada 31,234 35,867 25,599
China 25,939 23,061 24,279
Italy 18,631 11,933 8,866
Other foreign countries 10,700 14,972 15,964

Total consolidated net sales ~ $1,565,878  $1,568,870  $1,554,449

SARA LEE CORPORATION (JUN)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in millions)

Industry Segment Information

The corporation’s business segments are described in the
Operations Review on pages 22 through 35. During the
fourth quarter of 1998, the corporation adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, “Disclosures about
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” (SFAS
131). The adoption of SFAS 131 requires the presentation
of descriptive information about reportabie segments which
is consistent with that made available to the management of
the corporation to assess performance. As a result of this
change, the corporation now reports segment performance
on an after-tax basis and separately reports information on
its Foodservice operations. In determining the net income of
each segment of the corporation, interest expense is
allocated based upon the average invested capital in each
business, and effective tax rates are determined for each
business segment. The Foodservice business was
previously included in a reportable segment which included
the corporation’s packaged meats and bakery businesses.
The packaged meats and bakery businesses are now
presented in the Sara Lee Foods segment.
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Saralee Coffee Household and Branded
Foods and Tea Body Care  Foodservice Apparel Corporate inter-segment Total
1998
Sales' $5,441 $2,806 $2,003 $2,585 $7.317 $ — $(141) $20,011
Operating income (loss)’ 230 358 67 88 (840) (170) — (267)
Net interest (30) (16) 31) ) (92 — — (176)
Pretax income (loss) 200 342 36 81 (932) (170) — (443)
Netincome (loss)’ 19 239 (22) 51 (797) (113) — (523)
Assets 2,157 1,434 2,053 519 4,627 199' — 10,989
Depreciation and amortization 146 87 88 23 251 23 — 618
Additions to long-lived assets 257 187 328 52 169 3 — 996
1997
Sales' $5,357 $2,813 $1,843 $2,372 $7,482 $ — $(133)  $19,734
Operating income 394 440 228 82 761 (262) — 1,643
Net interest (24) (12 (24) (5) (4) — — (159)
Pretax income 370 428 204 7 667 (262) — 1,484
Net income 232 290 130 48 483 (174) — 1,009
Assets 2,295 1,921 1,530 454 6,471 282' — 12,953
Depreciation and amortization 150 90 78 17 326 19 680
Additions to long-lived assets 674 107 85 45 401 4 — 1,316
1996
Sales' $4,422 $2,896 $1,837 $2,201 $7,370 $ — $(102) $18,624
Operating income 349 428 214 73 729 (242) — 1,551
Net interest (21 (13) (24) (6) (109) — — (173)
Pretax income 328 415 190 67 620 (242) — 1,378
Net income 207 273 118 41 436 (159) — 916
Assets 1,629 2,033 1,57 416 6,635 318 - 12,602
Depreciation and amortization 118 86 78 17 312 23 —_ 634
Additions to long-lived assets 157 188 141 25 279 13 — 803

! includes sales between segments. Such sales are at transfer prices that are equivalent to market value.

* Includes provisions for restructuring reported in the 1998 Consolidated Statement of Income as follows: Sara Lee Foods $208; Coffee and
Tea $71; Household and Body Care $185; Foodservice $2; and Branded Apparel $1,574.

® Includes provisions for restructuring, net of tax, reported in the 1998 Consolidated Statement of Income as follows: Sara Lee Foods $133;
Coffee and Tea $46; Household and Body Care $164; Foodservice $1; and Branded Apparel $1,281.

* Principally cash and equivalents, centain fixed assets and certain other noncurrent assets.

Geographic Area Information

United States France  Netherlands Other Total
1998
Sales $11,849 $1,724 $1,311 $5,127 $20,011
Long-lived assets 2,452 500 1,246 1,349 5,547
1997
Sales $11,497 $1,764 $1,340 $5,133 $19,734
Long-lived assets 4,158 526 1,240 1,439 7,363
1996
Sales $11,244 $1,008 $1,400 $4,972 $18,624
Long-lived assets 4,191 137 1,370 1,517 7,215
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WEYERHAEUSER COMPANY (DEC)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations: The company’s principal business
segments, which account for the majority of sales, earnings
and the assets base, are:

* Timberlands, which is engaged in the management of
5.1 million acres of company-owned and .2 million acres of
leased commercial forestland in the United States (3.3
million acres in the South and 2 million acres in the Pacific
Northwest).

* Wood products, which produces a full line of solid wood
products that are sold primarily through the company’s own
sales organizations to wholesalers, retailers and industrial
users in North America, the Pacific Rim and Europe. it is
also engaged in the management of 27 million acres of
forestand in Canada wunder long-term licensing
arrangements (of which 18.9 miillion acres are considered to
be productive forestiand).

* Pulp, paper and packaging, which manufactures and
sells pulp, paper, paperboard and containerboard in North
American, Pacific Rim and European markets and
packaging products for the domestic markets, and which
operates an extensive wastepaper recycling system that
serves company mills and worldwide markets.

18. Business Segments

The company is principally engaged in the growing and
harvesting of timber and the manufacture, distribution and
sale of forest products. The business segments are
timberiands (including logs, chips and timber); wood
products (including softwood lumber, plywood and veneer;
composite panels; oriented strand board; hardwood lumber;
treated products; doors; raw materials; and building
materials distribution); pulp, paper and packaging (including
pulp, paper, containerboard, packaging, paperboard and
recycling); and real estate and related assets.

The timber-based businesses involve a high degree of
intergration among timber operations; building materials
conversion facilities; and pulp, paper, containerboard and
paperboard primary manufacturing and secondary
conversion facilities. This integration includes extensive
transfers of raw materials, semi-finished materials and end
products between and among these groups. The company's
accounting policies for segments are the same as those
described in “Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.” Management evaluates segment performance
based on the contributions to earnings of the respective
segments. Accounting for segment profitability in integrated
manufacturing sites involves allocation of joint conversion
and common facility costs based upon the extent of usage
by the respective product lines at that facility. Transfer of
products between segments is accounted for at current
market values.

An analysis and reconciliation of the company’s business
segment information to the respective information in the
consolidated financial statements is as follows:

For the three-year period ended December 27, 1998 1998 1997 1996
Dollar amounts in millions
Sales to and revenues from
unaffiliated customers:
Timberlands $ 636 $ 797 § 867
Wood products 4,475 4,577 4373
Pulp, paper and packaging 4312 4,609 4,648
Real estate and related assets 1,192 1,093 1,009
Corporate and other 151 134 217
$10,766  $11,210  $11,114
Intersegment sales:
Timberlands $ 488 $ 520 §$ 513
Wood products 184 190 246
Pulp, paper and packaging 74 95 88
Corporate and other 13 35 35
759 840 882
Total sales and revenues 11,525 12,050 11,996
Intersegment eliminations (759) (840) (882)
$10,766  $11,210  $11,114
Approximate contribution (charge)
to earnings:"”
Timberlands $ 487 § 535 § 503
Wood products 183 172 302
Pulp, paper and packaging 150 164 307
Real estate and related assets 124 m 43
Corporate and other (225) (186) (183)
719 796 972
Interest expense™ (324) (341 (338)
Less capitalized interest 68 84 86
Earnings before income taxes 463 539 720
Income taxes (169) (197) (257)
$ 294 $ 342 $ 463
Depreciation, amortization and
fee stumpage:
Timberlands $ 55 $ 72 $ 79
Wood products 188 171 148
Pulp, paper and packaging 348 353 355
Real estate and related assets 5 12 16
Corporate and other 20 20 19
$ 616 $ 628 $ 617
Noncash charges for closure or
disposition of facilities:
Wood products $ 25 $ 40 $ —
Pulp, paper and packaging 42 49 —
Corporate and other 4 — —
$ N $ 89 $ —
Equity in income/(loss) from equity
affiliates, joint ventures and
limited partnerships:
Timberlands $ 1 $ 3 $ —
Pulp, paper and packaging 27 (10) 5
Real estate and related assets 14 14 5
$ 42 $ 7 $ 10
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Capital expenditures (including Selected information related to the company’s operations
acquisitions): by geographical area is as follows:
Timberlands $ & $ 75 $ 505
Wood products 212 240 361 For the three-year period ended December 27, 1998
Pulp, paper and packaging 776 327 415 Dolias amounts in miffions 1998 1997 199%
Real estate and related assets 2 3 9 Sales to and revenues from
Corporate and other 32 24 37 unaffiliated customers:
United States $8999 $898 §$ 8676
$1,109 $_669 $1,527 Japan® 604 1,032 1,320
Investments in and advances to Canada 514 510 473
equity affiliates, joint ventures Europe 338 354 323
.?Pd glen:;tecé partnerships: s 21 s 218 s Other foreigh countries 311 329 322
imberlands —
Pulp, paper and packaging 264 33 35 $10,766  $11,210  $11,114
Real estate and related assets 120 116 115 Export sales from the
United States:
$ 602 §$365 810 Japan® $ 501 § 893 1185
As;ets;eﬂ d $ $1,67 $1,578 et 2% o o
imberlands 1,675 1,676 1,571
Wood products 2120 2128 2080 $1089 $1527 1758
Puip, paper and packaging 6,346 6,589 6,721 Eamings before income taxes:
Real estate and related assets 1,900 2,004 2,628 United States $ 413 § 432 §$ 614
Corporate and other 1,164 1,160 1,184 Foreign entities 50 107 106
13,214 13,557 14,191 $ 463 $ 539 §$§ 720
Less: Intersegment eliminations (380) (482) (595) Long-lived assets:
$12,834  $13075  $13,59% United States $6649 $7426 § 7,562
) o ] Canada 1,345 903 930
Certain reclassifications have been made to conform prior years’ Other foreign countries 2 12 5
data to the current format.
“nterest expenses of $17million, $40 million and $67 million in $8,020 $8341  § 8497

1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively, is included in the
determination of “approximate contribution to earnings” and
excluded from “interest expense” for financial services
businesses.

19. Geographical Areas

The company attributes sales to and revenues from
unaffiliated customers in different geographical areas on the
basis of the location of the customer.

Export sales from the United States consist principally of
pulp, paperboard, logs, lumber and wood chips to Japan;
containerboard, pulp, lumber and recycling material to other
Pacific Rim countries; and pulp and hardwood lumber to
Europe.

Long-lived assets consist of timber and timberlands and
property and equipment used in the generation »f revenues
in the different geographical areas.

" 1998 export sales to Japan include only one month’s sales of

newsprint due to the company’s change in ownership of its
newsprint subsidiary from 80 percent to 50 percent in
February.
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WHIRLPOOL CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

14. Business Segment Information

The company adopted the Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 131, “Disclosures about
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” during
the fourth quarter of 1998. Statement No. 131 established
standards for reporting information about operating
segments in annual financial statements and in interim
financial reports issued to stockholders. Operating
segments are defined as components of an enterprise about
which separate financial information is available that is
evaluated on a regular basis by the chief operating decision
maker, or decision making group, in deciding how to
allocate resources to an individual segment and in
assessing performance of the segment.

The company identifies such segments based upon
geographical regions of operations because each operating
segment manufactures home appliances and related
components, but serves strategically different markets. The
chief operating decision maker evaluates performance
based upon each segment’s operating income, which is
defined as income before interest income or interest
expense, taxes and minority interests. Intersegment sales
and transfers are generally at current market prices, as if
the sales or transfers were to third parties. The “Other”
segment primarily includes corporate expenses and
eliminations.

The company generally evaluates business segments
based on net sales, not including intersegment appliance
sales. Intersegment sales are included in Other/
Eliminations. Latin America consists of the company’s
Brazilian subsidiaries in 1997 and 1998. Total assets are
those assets directly associated with the respective
operating activities. Other assets consist principally of
assets related to corporate activities, including the equity
investment in Brazil in 1996 and the assets of discontinued
operations held for sale in 1997.

Substantially all of the company’s trade receivables are
from distributors and retailers.

Sales activity with Sears, Roebuck and Co., a North
American major home appliance retailer, represented 17%,
20% and 21% of consolidated net sales in 1998, 1997 and
1996. Related receivables were 16%, 17% and 24% of
consolidated trade receivables for December 31, 1998,
1997 and 1996.
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The company conducts business in two countries which
individually comprised over ten percent of consolidated net
sales and total assets within the last three years. The United
States represented 50%, 57% and 58% of net sales for
1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively, while Brazil totaled 20%
for 1998. As a percentage of total assets, the United States
accounted for 53%, 64% and 79% at the end of 1998, 1997
and 1996. Brazil accounted for 24% and 28% of total assets
at the end of 1998 and 1997, respectively. The company’s
Brazilian affiliates were consolidated in November of 1997
and therefore not included in both 1996 calculations and
only in the total asset calculation for 1997.
North Latin Other and Total
(millions of dollars) America Europe America Asia Eliminations Whirlpool
Geographic segments
Net sales
1998 $5,599 $2,439 $2,090 $313 $ (118) $10,323
1997 $5,263 $2,343 $ 447 $400 $ 164 $ 8,617
1996 $5,310 $2,494 $ — $461 $ 258 $ 8,523
Intangible amortization
1998 $ 3 $ 16 $ 6 $ 4 $ 10 $ 39
1997 $ 3 $ 16 $ 1 $ 4 $ 10 $ 34
1996 $ — $ 19 $ — $ 4 $ 12 $ 35
Depreciation
1998 $ 143 $ 94 $ 126 $ 15 $ 21 $ 399
1997 $ 145 $ 110 $ 3 $ 13 $ 51 $ 322
1996 $ 145 $ 107 $ — $ 13 $ 53 $ 318
Restructuring costs and special
charges
1998 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
1997 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 396 $ 396
1996 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 30 $ 30
Operating profit (loss)
1998 $ 630 $ 122 $ 120 $(17) $ (167) $ 688
1997 $ 546 $ 54 $ 22 $ (62) $ (549) $ 11
1996 $ 545 $ (15) $ — $ (70) $ (182) $ 278
Total assets
1998 $2,091 $2,298 $2,499 $722 $ 325 $ 7,935
1997 $2,046 $1,999 $2,403 $672 $1,150 $ 8,270
1996 $2,020 $2,501 $ — $722 $2,772 $ 8,015
Capital expenditures
1998 $ 188 $ 78 $ 239 $ 25 $ 12 $ 542
1997 $ 128 $ 84 $ 49 $100 $ 17 $ 378
1996 $ 148 $ 103 $ — $ 63 $ 22 $ 336
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NATURAL BUSINESS YEAR

A natural business year is the period of 12 consecutive
months which ends when the business activities of an entity
have reached the lowest point in their annual cycle. In many
instances, the natural business year of a company ends
December 31.

Table 1-4 summarizes, by the month in which a fiscal
year ends, the fiscal year endings of the survey companies.
For tabulation purposes, if a fiscal year ended in the first
week of a month, the fiscal year was considered to have
ended in the preceding month.

For 1998, 151 survey companies were on a 52-53 week
fiscal year. During 1998, 9 survey companies changed the
date of their fiscal year end. Examples of fiscal year end
changes and of fiscal year definitions follow.

TABLE 1-4: MONTH OF FISCAL YEAR END

January 25 24 21 23
February 11 10 1" 1
March.......ccceueen. 14 14 15 15
April 9 10 10 8
L OO 14 14 14 16
June 52 53 57 58
July 8 11 1 14
August................ 14 14 15 15
September 38 36 a7 35
October........coevueerrieernsersrnserenenne 23 22 23 23
November ... 15 15 14 17

Subtotal 223 223 228 235
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Change in Date of Fiscal Year End

BAKER HUGHES INCORPORATED

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

December 31,1998 December 31,1997
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Year Ended Three Months Ended ~ Year Ended September 30,
December 31, 1998 December 31,1997 1997 1996
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended Three Months Ended Year Ended September 30,
December 31, 1998 December 31,1997 1997 1996

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Basis of Presentation

Change in Year-end: On August 27, 1998, the Board of
Directors of Baker Hughes approved a change in the fiscal
year-end of the Company from September 30 to December
31, effective with the calendar year beginning January 1,
1998. A three-month transition period from October 1, 1997
through December 31, 1997 (the “Transition Period”)
precedes the start of the 1998 fiscal year. “1997” and “1996”
refer to the respective years ended September 30, the
Transition Period refers to the three months ended
December 31, 1997 and “1998” refers to the twelve months
ended December 31, 1998.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Stockholders of Baker Hughes Incorporated:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated
statements of financial position of Baker Hughes
Incorporated and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998
and 1997, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the year
ended December 31, 1998, the three month period ended
December 31, 1997 and for each of the two years in the
period ended September 30, 1997. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Baker Hughes Incorporated and its subsidiaries at
December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 1998, the three month period ended
December 31, 1997 and for each of the two years in the
period ended September 30, 1997 in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company changed its method of accounting
for impairment of long-lived assets to be disposed of
effective October 1, 1996 to conform with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 121.
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BASSETT FURNITURE INDUSTRIES, INCORPORATED

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

November 28, 1998 and November 30, 1997

For the years ended November 28, 1998, November 30, 1997, November 30, 1996

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended November 28, 1998, November 30, 1997, November 30, 1996

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

A (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Fiscal Year. The
consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
the Company and its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly
owned. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The Company
changed its fiscal year effective 1998 to end on the
Saturday nearest November 30. Prior to 1998, the fiscal
year ended on November 30.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Bassett
Furniture Industries, Incorporated:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated (a
Virginia corporation) and subsidiaries as of November 28,
1998 and November 30, 1997, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for the years then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. The accompanying 1996
financial statements of Bassett Furniture Industries,
Incorporated and subsidiaries were audited by other
auditors whose report dated December 17, 1996, expressed
an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the 1998 and 1997 financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Bassett Furniture Industries,
Incorporated and subsidiaries as of November 28, 1998 and
November 30, 1997, and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles.
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THE DIAL CORPORATION

Consolidated Balance Sheet

December 31,1998

January 3,1998

Statement of Consolidated Operations and Comprehensive Income

Fiscal year ended
December 31, 1998 January 3,1998 December 28, 1996
Statement of Consolidated Cash Flows
Fiscal year ended
December 31, 1998 January 3,1998 December 28, 1996

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

B (In Pant): Significant Accounting Policies

Beginning with 1998, the Company's fiscal year end is
December 31. Prior to 1998, the Company's fiscal year
ended on the Saturday closest to the end of December.
Fiscal year 1998 consisted of 52 weeks, fiscal year 1997
consisted of 53 weeks and fiscal year 1996 consisted of 52
weeks.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of The Dial
Corporation;

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of The Dial Corporation as of December 31, 1998,
and January 3, 1998, and the related consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income, cash
flows and stockholders’ equity for each of the three fiscal
years in the period ended December 31, 1998. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of The Dial Corporation as of December 31, 1998, and
January 3, 1998, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period
ended December 31, 1998, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.
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FLOWERS INDUSTRIES, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheet

January 2, 1999 January 3, 1998 January 28, 1997
Consolidated Statement of Income
For the 52 For the 27
weeks ended weeks ended For the 52 weeks ended
January 2, 1999 January 3, 1998 June 28, 1997  June 29, 1996
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the 52 For the 27
weeks ended weeks ended For the 52 weeks ended
January 2, 1999 January 3, 1998 June 28,1997  June 29, 1996

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Basis of Presentation and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies

Change in Fiscal Year End: In January 1998, Flowers
changed its fiscal year end from the Saturday nearest June
30 to the Saturday nearest December 31. Unless stated
otherwise, all references to (i) “fiscal 1996” shall mean
Flowers’ full fiscal year ended June 29, 1996; (i) “fiscal
1997” shall mean Flowers’ full fiscal year ended June 28,
1997; (iii) “twenty-seven week transition period ended
January 3, 1998” shall mean Flowers’ twenty-seven week
transition period from June 29, 1997 through January 3,
1998, and (iv) “fiscal 1998" shall mean the Company'’s full
fiscal year ended January 2, 1999. As a result, the
Company has presented its financial position as of January
2, 1999, January 3, 1998 and June 28, 1997 and has
presented its results of operations, cash flow and changes
in stockholders’ equity for fiscal 1998, the twenty-seven
week transition period ended January 3, 1998, fiscal 1997
and fiscal 1996. For comparative purposes, the Company
has included unaudited condensed consolidated financial
information of Flowers in Note 15 for the fifty-two weeks
ended January 3, 1998 and the twenty-seven weeks ended
January 4, 1997.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Flowers
industries, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet and the related consolidated statements of income, of
changes in stockholders’ equity and of cash flows present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Flowers industries, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”)
at January 2, 1999, January 3, 1998 and June 28, 1997,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
the year ended January 2, 1999, for the twenty-seven week
period ended January 3, 1998, and for each of the two
years in the period ended June 28, 1997, in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards which require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above.

As discussed in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, during the year ended January 2,
1999, the Company changed its method of accounting for
start-up costs and organizational costs. In addition, during
the twenty-seven week period ended January 3, 1998, the
Company changed its method of accounting for business
process reengineering costs and the measurement date
used in its accounting for pensions.
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LACLEDE STEEL COMPANY

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations
and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

3. Change in Fiscal Year

Effective September 30, 1998 the Company changed its
year end from December 31 to September 30. The
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income (loss), stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows
are presented for the nine months ended September 30,
1998 and each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 1997. For comparative purposes only, the
following table presents the condensed results of operations
for the nine months ended September 30, 1998 and 1997:

Condensed Consolidated Nine months ended
Statements of Operations September 30,
(in thousands, except per share 1998 1997
amounts) (Unaudited)
Net sales $232,289 $245,356
Costs and expenses 284,961 244,202
Eamings (loss) before income

taxes (52,672) 1,154
Provision (benefits) for income

taxes 31,140 489
Net income (loss) $(83,812) $ 665
Basic and diluted net earnings

(loss) per share $ (20.73) $ 009

September 30,1998 December 31,1997
Nine months ended Year ended December 31,
September 30, 1998 1997 1996
Nine months ended Year ended December 31,
September 30, 1998 1997 1996

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Laclede Steel
Company and Chapter 11 Trustee of Laclede Steel
Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Laclede Steel Company and Subsidiaries
(Debtors-in-Possession) as of September 30, 1998 and
December 31, 1997, and the related statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’
equity (deficit) and cash flows for the nine months ended
September 30, 1998 and for each of the two years in the
period ended December 31, 1997. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
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In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Laclede Steel Company and Subsidiaries at September
30, 1998 and December 31, 1997, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for the nine months ended
September 30, 1998 and each of the two years in the period
ended December 31, 1997 in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1, on November 30, 1998, the
Company filed for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the
Federal Bankruptcy Code. The accompanying consolidated
financial statements do not purport to reflect or provide for
the consequences of the bankruptcy proceedings. In
particular, such consolidated financial statements do not
purport to show (a) as to assets, their realizable value on a
liquidation basis or their availability to satisfy liabilities; (b)
as to prepetition liabilities, the amounts that may be allowed
for claims or contingencies, or the status and priority
thereof; (c) as to stockholder accounts, the effect of any
changes that may be made in the capitalization of the
Company; or (d) as to operations, the effect of any changes
that may be made in its business.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have
been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as
a going concern. As discussed in Note 1, the Company’'s
recurring losses from operations, negative working capital,
stockholders’ capital deficiency and defaults under the
Company’s debt agreements raise substantial doubt about
its ability to continue as a going concern.

Management's plans concerning these matters are also
discussed in Note 1. The consolidated financial statements
do not include adjustments that might result from the
outcome of this uncertainty.
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MILACRON INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Consolidated Statement of Earnings

December 31, 1998 and December 27, 1997

Fiscal years ended December 31, 1998, December 27, 1997 and December 28, 1996

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Fiscal years ended December 31, 1998, December 27, 1997 and December 28, 1996

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (In Part)

Change in Fiscal Year End: Effective in 1998, the company
changed its fiscal year from a 52-53 week year ending on
the Saturday closest to December 31 to a calendar year
ending on December 31. Fiscal year ends are as follows:

1998: December 31, 1998
1997: December 27, 1997
1996: December 28, 1996

The change in fiscal year did not have a material effect on
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows for
the year 1998.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Board of Directors
Milacron inc.

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheet of Milacron Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
1998, and December 27, 1997, and the related
Consolidated Statements of Earnings, Comprehensive
Income and Shareholders’ Equity, and Cash Flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the
company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Milacron Inc. and subsidiaries at
December 31, 1998, and December 27, 1997, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 1998, in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles.
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WANG LABORATORIES, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

A (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Effective July 1, 1998, the Company changed its fiscal year
from a twelve month period ending June 30 to a twelve
month period ending December 31. The consolidated
financial statements include presentation of the transition
period beginning on July 1, 1998 and ending on December
31, 1998.

The following table presents certain financial information
for the six months ended December 31, 1998 and 1997,
respectively (amounts in millions except per share
amounts):

Six months ended
December 31,
1998 1997
(Unaudited)

Revenues $1,818.0 $651.1
Gross Profit $ 3642 $144.2
Income (loss) from continuing

operations before income taxes

and minority interests $ (235 $37.2
Provision for income taxes $ 142 $134
Income (loss) from continuing

operations $ (39.8) $238
Net income (loss) applicable

to common stockholders $ (46.8) $16.7
Diluted earnings (loss) per

common share $ (1.01) $0.42
Weighted average common

shares 46.2 40.3

December 31,

June 30, June 30,
1998 1998 1997
Six months
ended
December 31, Year ended June 30,
1998 1998 1997 1996
Six months
ended
December 31, Year ended June 30,
1998 1998 1997 1996

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Board of Directors
Wang Laboratories, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Wang Laboratories, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 1998, June 30, 1998 and
1997, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the six
months ended December 31, 1998 and for each of the three
years in the period ended June 30, 1998. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Wang Laboratories, Inc.
and subsidiaries at December 31, 1998, June 30, 1998 and
1997, and the consolidated results of their operations and
their cash flows for the six months ended December 31,
1998 and for each of the three years in the period ended
June 30, 1998, in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.
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Definition of Fiscal Year

BROWN GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Period: The Company’s fiscal year is the 52 or
53-week period ending the Saturday nearest to January 31.
Fiscal years 1998, 1997 and 1996 ended on January 30,
1999, January 31, 1998, and February 1, 1997,
respectively. Fiscal years 1998, 1997 and 1996 each
included 52 weeks.

THE MAY DEPARTMENT STORES COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (In Part)

Fiscal Year: The Company’s fiscal year ends the Saturday
closest to January 31. Fiscal years 1998, 1997, and 1996
ended on January 30, 1999, January 31, 1998, and
February 1, 1997, respectively. References to years in this
annual report relate to fiscal years rather than calendar
years.

MERRIMAC INDUSTRIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Period: The Company'’s fiscal year is the 52-53
week period ending on the Saturday closest to December
31. The Company has quarterly dates that correspond with
the Saturday closest to the last day of each calendar quarter
and each quarter consists of 13 weeks in a 52-week year.
Every fifth year, the additional week to make a 53-week
year (fiscal year 1997 was the latest and fiscal year 2002
will be the next) is added to the fourth quarter, making such
quarter consist of 14 weeks.

SPEIZMAN INDUSTRIES, INC.

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fiscal Year: The Company maintains its accounting records
on a 52-53 week fiscal year. The fiscal year ends on the
Saturday closest to June 30. Years ending June 27, 1998,
June 28, 1997 and June 29, 1996 included 52 weeks.

VARIAN ASSOCIATES, INC.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (In Part)

Fiscal Year: The Company’s fiscal years reported are the
52- or 53-week periods which ended on the Friday nearest
September 30. Fiscal year 1998 comprises the 53-week
period ended on October 2, 1998. Fiscal years 1997 and
1996 comprise the 52-week periods ended on September
26, 1997 and September 27, 1996, respectively.

COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Rule 14a-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires
that annual reports to stockholders should include
comparative balance sheets, and statements of income and
of cash flows for each of the 3 most recent fiscal years. All
of the survey companies are registered with the Securities
and Exchange Commission and conformed to the
aforementioned requirements of Rule 14a-3.

In their annual reports, the survey companies usually
present an income statement as the first financial statement
followed by either a balance sheet or a statement of
changes in retained earnings. For 1998, 354 survey
companies presented an income statement as the first
financial statement followed by a balance sheet; 12 survey
companies presented an income statement as the first
financial statement followed by a statement of changes in
retained eamings; and 193 survey companies presented a
balance sheet as the first financial statement followed by an
income statement. The remaining 41 survey companies
presented an income statement as the first financial
statement followed by either a statement of change in
stockholders’ equity or a statement of cash flows.

Prior to 1986, the financial statements, with rare
exception, were presented on consecutive pages. Beginning
in 1986 certain survey companies did not present their
financial statements on consecutive pages but interspersed
the Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations among the financial
statements by having comments discussing the content of a
financial statement follow the presentation of a financial
statement. Such interspersed material was not covered by
an auditor’s report and was not presented in lieu of notes.
For 1998, 13 survey companies did not present their
financial statements on consecutive pages.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

Table 1-5 shows that most of the survey companies state
financial statement amounts in either thousands or millions
of dollars. )
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TABLE 1-5: ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
1998 1997 1996 1995

To nearest dollar...........cccvveercreernnn 31 30 33 40
To nearest thousand dollars:
Omitting 000.........cconveeerrerirrersnnces 345 349 352 354
Presenting 000...........ccoouvvervvereenns .9 13 17 20
To nearest million dollars.................... 215 208 198 186
Total Companies...............cocneuenee. 600 600 600 600

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Securities and Exchange Commission Regulations S-X and
S-K, and SAS No. 32 state the need for adequate disclosure
in financial statements. Normally the financial statements
alone cannot present all information necessary for adequate
disclosure without considering appended notes which
disclose information of the sort listed below:

Changes in accounting principles.

Retroactive adjustments.

Long-term lease agreements.

Assets subject to lien.

Preferred stock data.

Pension and retirement plans.

Restrictions on the availability of retained earnings for cash
dividend purposes.

Contingencies and commitments.

Depreciation and depletion policies.

Stock option or stock purchase plans.

Consolidation policies.

Computation of earnings per share.

Subsequent events.

Quarterly data.

Segment information.

Financial instruments.

Table 1-6 summarizes the manner in which financial
statements refer to notes. Notes on specific topics are

illustrated in this publication in the sections dealing with
such topics.

TABLE 1-6: NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1998 1997 1996 1995

General reference only.............cenuenn. 431 445 431 431
General and direct references........... 167 155 169 168
Direct reference only ..........cc..ecvmnenee 2 — — 1
Total Companies ..............cccoeeriennne 600 600 600 600

DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

APB Opinion No. 22 requires that the significant accounting
policies of an entity be presented as an integral part of the
financial statements of the entity. Opinion No. 22 sets forth
guidelines as to the content and format of disclosures of
accounting policies. Opinion No. 22 states that the
preferable format is to present a Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies preceding notes to financial statements
or as the initial note.

Table 1-7 shows the nature of information frequently
disclosed in summaries of accounting policies and the
number of survey companies disclosing such information.
Examples of summaries of accounting policies follows.

TABLE 1-7: DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Number of Companies

1998 1997 1996 1995
Depreciation methods ...........ccoceu.... 587 586 581 584
Consolidation policy ...... ; 578 583 583 585
Use of estimates.............ccooevevenenane. 568 582 577 358
INVeNtory Pricing ..........cceeeseuseeusensenes 543 555 555 560
Property... . 521 526 509 510
Cash equivalents..........cceerseeecenrens 503 509 492 495
Amortization of intangibles .. 448 439 419 415
Earnings per share calculation.......... 413 475 482 470
Financial instruments ............ccovcuveee 406 398 327 311
Translation of foreign currency.......... 366 358 351 338
Interperiod tax allocation............ 359 358 362 384
Stock-based compensation............... 281 290 253 219
Employee benefits................. 101 290 253 219
Nature of operations...............covcenneee 267 274 239 204
Research and development costs...... 173 178 181 165
Fiscal years ..........c..cccvvimnnniencinncns 157 158 156 156
Advertising costs ..........cc..cce.. 151 129 123 —
Environmental costs............... 136 145 130 122
Credit risk concentrations 124 126 100 91
Capitalization of interest.................... 81 75 86 89
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ABBOTT LABORATORIES (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business and Concentration of Risk: The
Company’s principal business is the discovery,
development, manufacture and sale of a broad line of health
care products and services. Due to the nature of the
Company’s operations, it is not subject to significant
concentration risks relating to customers, products or
geographic locations.

Basis of Consolidation: The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of the parent company and
subsidiaries, after elimination of intercompany transactions.
The accounts of foreign subsidiaries are consolidated as of
November 30 due to the time needed to consolidate these
subsidiaries. No events occurred related to these foreign
subsidiaries in December 1998, 1997, and 1996 which
materially affected the financial position or results of
operations.

Use of Estimates: The financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles and necessarily include amounts based on
estimates and assumptions by management. Actual resuits
could differ from those amounts. Significant estimates
include amounts for litigation, income taxes, sales rebates
and inventory and accounts receivable exposures.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investment Securities: Cash
equivalents consist of time deposits and certificates of
deposit with original maturities of three months or less.
Investments in marketable equity securities are classified as
available-for-sale and are recorded at fair value with any
unrealized holding gains or losses, net of tax, included as a
component of earnings and other comprehensive income
employed in the business. Investments in debt securities
are classified as held-to-maturity, as management has both
the intent and ability to hold these securities to maturity, and
are reported at cost, net of any unamortized premium or
discount. Income relating to these securities is reported as
interest income.

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
(first-in, first-out basis) or market. Cost includes material
and conversion costs.

Property and Equipment: Depreciation and amortization
are provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. In 1998, the Company elected
early adoption of the provisions of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants’ Statement of Position 98-1,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed
or Obtained for Internal Use.” This statement requires
capitalization of certain costs incurred in the development of
internal-use software. Adoption of the provisions of this
statement did not have a material effect on the financial
statements of the Company. The following table shows
estimated useful lives of property and equipment:

Classification Expected Useful Lives
Buildings 10 to 50 years (average 29 years)
Equipment 3 to 20 years (average 11 years)

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying amount may not be recoverable. if the fair value is
less than the carrying amount of the asset, a loss is
recognized for the difference.

Iintangible Assets: Intangible assets, primarily purchased
intangible assets and goodwill resulting from business
acquisitions, are amortized on a straight-line basis over up
to 40 years. Accumulated amortization as of December 31,
1998, 1997, and 1996, was $163 million, $98 million, and
$55 million, respectively.

Product Liability: Provisions are made for the portions of
probable losses that are not covered by product liability
insurance.

Translation Adjustments: For foreign operations in highly
inflationary economies, translation gains and losses are
included in net foreign exchange (gain) loss. For remaining
foreign operations, translation adjustments are included as
a component of earnings and other comprehensive income
employed in the business.

Revenue Recognition: Revenue from product sales is
recognized upon shipment to customers. Provisions for
discounts and rebates to customers, and returns and other
adjustments are provided for in the same period the related
sales are recorded.

Research and Development: Internal research and
development costs are expensed as incurred. Third-party
research and development costs are expensed when the
contracted work has been performed or as milestone results
have been achieved.

Comprehensive Income: In 1998, the Company adopted
the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income.” As
a result, certain balance sheet reclassifications were made
to previously reported amounts to achieve the required
presentation of comprehensive income.

ALBERTSON'S, INC. (JAN)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year End: The Company’s fiscal year is generally 52
weeks and periodically consists of 53 weeks because the
fiscal year ends on the Thursday nearest to January 31
each year. Unless the context otherwise indicates,
reference to a fiscal year of the Company refers to the
calendar year in which such fiscal year commences.

Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements
include the results of operations, account balances and
cash flows of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All material intercompany balances have been
eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Company considers all
highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or
less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.
Investments, which consist of government-backed money
market funds and repurchase agreements backed by
government securities, are recorded at cost which
approximates market value.

Inventories: The Company values inventories at the lower
of cost or market. Cost of substantially all inventories is
determined on a last-in, first-out (LIFO) basis.
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Capitalization, Depreciation and Amortization: Land,
buildings and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation
is provided on the straight-line method over the estimated
useful life of the asset. Estimated useful lives are generally
as follows: buildings and improvements—10 to 35 years;
fixtures and equipment—3 to 8 years; leasehold
improvements—10 to 15 years; and capitalized leases—25
to 30 years. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in business circumstances
indicate the carrying value of the assets may not be
recoverable.

The costs of major remodeling and improvements on
leased stores are capitalized as leasehold improvements.
Leasehold improvements are amortized on the straight-line
method over the shorter of the life of the applicable lease or
the useful life of the asset. Capital leases are recorded at
the lower of the fair market value of the asset or the present
value of future minimum lease payments. These leases are
amortized on the straight-line method over their primary
term.

Beneficial lease rights and lease liabilities are recorded on
purchased leases based on differences between contractual
rents under the respective lease agreements and prevailing
market rents at the date of the acquisition of the lease.
Beneficial lease rights are amortized over the lease term
using the straight-line method. Lease liabilties are
amortized over the lease term using the interest method.

Upon disposal of fixed assets, the appropriate property
accounts are reduced by the related costs and accumulated
depreciation and amortization. The resulting gains and
losses are refiected in consolidated earnings.

Goodwill: Goodwill resulting from business acquisitions
represents the excess of purchase price over fair value of
net assets acquired and is being amortized over 40 years
using the straight-line method. Accumulated amortization
amounted to $2.7 milion as of January 28, 1999.
Periodically, the Company re-evaluates goodwill and other
intangibles based on undiscounted operating cash flows
whenever significant events or changes occur which might
impair recovery of recorded asset costs.

Self-Insurance: The Company is primarily self-insured for
property loss, workers’ compensation and general liability
costs. Self-insurance liabilities are based on claims filed and
estimates for claims incurred but not reported. These
liabilities are not discounted.

Unearned Income: Unearned income consists primarily of
buying and promotional allowances received from vendors
in connection with the Company’s buying and
merchandising activities. These funds are recognized as
revenue when earned by purchasing specified amounts of
product or promoting certain products.

Store Opening and Closing Costs: Noncapital
expenditures incurred in opening new stores or remodeling
existing stores are expensed in the year in which they are
incurred. When a store is closed, the remaining investment
in fixed assets, net of expected recovery value, is expensed.
For properties under operating lease agreements, the
present value of any remaining liability under the lease, net
of expected sublease recovery, is also expensed.

Advertising: Advertising costs incurred to produce media
advertising for major new campaigns are expensed in the
year in which the advertising takes first place. Other
advertising costs are expensed when incurred. Cooperative
advertising income from vendors is recorded in the period in
which the related expense is incurred. Net advertising
expenses of $48.7 million, $44.0 million and $34.7 million

were included with cost of sales in the Company's
Consolidated Earnings for 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively.

Stock Options: Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” encourages, but does not require,
companies to record compensation cost for stock-based
employee compensation plans at fair value. The Company
has chosen to continue to account for stock-based
compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed in
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpretations.
Accordingly, compensation cost of stock options is
measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted market price
of the Company’s stock at the date of the grant over the
option exercise price and is charged to operations over the
vesting period. Income tax benefits attributable to stock
options exercised are credited to capital in excess of par
value.

Company-owned Life Insurance: The Company has
purchased life insurance policies to cover its obligations
under deferred compensation plans for officers, key
employees and directors. Cash surrender values of these
policies are adjusted for fluctuations in the market value of
underlying investments. The cash surrender value is
adjusted each reporting period and any gain or loss is
included with other income (expense) in the Company’s
Consolidated Earnings. '

Income Taxes: The Company provides for deferred
income taxes resulting from temporary differences in
reporting certain income and expense items for income tax
and financial accounting purposes. The major temporary
differences and their net effect are shown in the “income
Taxes” note.

Earnings Per Share: Earnings per share (EPS) are
computed in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 128, “Earnings per Share.” Basic
EPS is computed by dividing consolidated net earnings by
the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding. Diluted EPS 'is computed by dividing
consolidated net earnings by the sum of the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding and the
weighted average number of potential common shares
outstanding. Potential common shares consist solely of
outstanding options under the Company’s stock option
plans. There were no outstanding options excluded from the
computation of potential common shares (option price
exceeded the average market price during the period) in
1998. Outstanding options excluded in 1997 and 1996
amounted to 1,520,000 shares and 24,000 shares,
respectively.

Reclassifications: Certain reclassifications have been
made in prior years' financial statements to conform to
classifications used in the current year.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements, in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles, requires
management to make estimates and assumptions. These
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.
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CLARCOR INC. (NOV)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

A. Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial
statements include all domestic and foreign subsidiaries that
are more than 50% owned and controlled. CLARCOR Inc.
and its subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “Company” or CLARCOR.

Minority interests represent an outside shareholder’'s 10%
ownership of the common stock of Filtros Baldwin de
Mexico (FIBAMEX) and outside shareholders’ 20%
ownership of Baldwin-Unifil S.A.

Foreign Currency Translation: Financial statements of
foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at
current rates, except that revenues, costs and expenses are
translated at average current rates during each reporting
period. Net exchange gains or losses resulting from the
translation of foreign financial statements and the effect of
exchange rate changes on intercompany transactions of a
long-term investment nature are accumulated and credited
or charged directly to a separate component of
shareholders’ equity.

Plant Assets: Depreciation is provided by the straight-line
and accelerated methods for financial statement purposes
and by the accelerated method for tax purposes. The
provision for depreciation is based on the estimated useful
lives of the assets (15 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements and 3 to 15 years for machinery and
equipment). It is the policy of the Company to capitalize
renewals and betterments and to charge to expense the
cost of current maintenance and repairs.

Excess of Cost Over Fair Value of Assets Acquired: The
excess of cost over fair value of assets acquired is being
amortized over a forty-year period, using the straight-line
method subject to impairment write-offs determined by
underlying cash flows. Accumulated amortization was
$7,809 and $7,192 at November 30, 1998 and 1997,
respectively.

Pensions and Postretirement Benefits: In February 1998,
the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 132 (SFAS 132), “Employers’ Disclosure
about Pensions and other Postretirement Benefits.”
Effective for fiscal year 1998, the Company adopted SFAS
132, which requires certain disclosures related to pensions
and postretirement benefits. See Note H.

Statements of Cash Flows: All highly liquid investments
that are readily saleable are considered to be short-term
cash investments. The carrying amount approximates fair
value. The Company has certain non-cash transactions
related to stock option and award plans that are described
in Note L.

Concentrations of Credit: Financial instruments that
potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit
risk consist principally of short-term cash investments and
trade receivables. The Company places its short-term cash
investments in high-grade municipal securities. At
November 30, 1998 and 1997, the Company held short-
term municipal securities with a total cost of $32,420 and
$27,620, respectively, with an original maturity of three
months or less. Cost approximates market for these

securities. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade
receivables are limited due to the Company's large number
of customers and their dispersion across many different
industries and locations.

Income Taxes: The Company provides for income taxes
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109 (SFAS 109), “Accounting for Income
Taxes.” SFAS 109 requires the recognition of deferred tax
liabilities and assets for the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of
assets and liabilities.

Stock-Based Compensation: On November 30, 1997, the
Company adopted the disclosure-only provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123
(SFAS 123), “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”
SFAS 123 encourages, but does not require, companies to
adopt a fair value based method for determining expense
related to stock-based compensation. The disclosures are
presented in Note L. The Company continues to account for
stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method
as prescribed under Accounting Principles Board Opinion
(APB) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,”
and related Interpretations.

Revenue Recognition: Revenue is recognized upon
shipment of goods to customers.

Net earnings Per Common Share: The Company adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128
(SFAS 128), “Earnings per Share” in the first quarter of
fiscal year 1998. SFAS 128 requires presentation of basic
earnings per share and diluted earnings per share,
simplifies computational guidelines, and increases the
comparability of earnings per share on an international
basis. Basic earnings per common share is based on the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the respective years. Diluted earnings per share is
based on the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding and dilutive common stock equivalents. See
Note M.

Use of Management’s Estimates: The preparation of the
financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the -
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Accounting Period: The Company’s fiscal year ends on
the Saturday closest to November 30. Each of the fiscal
years ended November 28, 1998, November 29, 1997, and
November 30, 1996, was comprised of fifty-two weeks. In
the consolidated financial statements, all fiscal years are
shown to begin as of December 1 and end as of November
30 for clarity of presentation.

Reclassifications: Certain reclassifications have been
made to conform prior years’ data to the current
presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on
reported earnings.
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NIKE, INC. (MAY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Consolidation: The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of the Company and its
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated. Prior to fiscal year 1997,
certain of the Company’s non-U.S. operations reported their
results of operations on a one month lag which allowed
more time to compile results. Beginning in the first quarter of
fiscal year 1997, the one month lag was eliminated. As a
result, the May 1996 charge from operations for these
entities of $4.1 million was recorded directly to retained
earnings in the first quarter of fiscal year 1997.

Recognition of Revenues: Revenues recognized include
sales plus fees earned on sales by licensees. Sales are
recognized upon shipment of product.

Advertising: Advertising production costs are expensed
the first time the advertisement is run. Media (TV and print)
placement costs are expensed in the month the advertising
appears. Total advertising and promotion expenses were
$1.13 billion, $978.3 million and $642.5 million for the years
ended May 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. Included
in prepaid expenses and other assets was $175.9 million
and $111.9 million at May 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively,
relating to prepaid advertising and promotion expenses.

Cash and Equivalents: Cash and equivalents represent
cash and short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less.

Inventory Valuation: Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost or market. Cost is determined using the last-in, first-out
(LIFO) method for substantially all U.S. inventories. Non-
g.s. inventories are valued on a first-in, first-out (FIFO)

asis.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation:
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost.
Depreciation for financial reporting purposes is determined
on a straight-line basis for buildings and leasehold
improvements and principally on a declining balance basis
for machinery and equipment, based upon estimated useful
lives ranging from two to forty years.

Identifiable Intangible Assets and Goodwill: At May 31,
1998 and 1997, the Company had patents, trademarks and
other identifiable intangible assets with a value of $220.7
million and $219.2 million, respectively. The Company’s
excess of purchase cost over the fair value of net assets of
businesses acquired (goodwilll was $321.0 million and
$326.3 million at May 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill are being
amortized over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis over five to forty years. Accumulated amortization was
$105.9 million and $81.2 million at May 31, 1998 and 1997,
respectively. Amortization expense, which is included in
other income/expense, was $19.8 million, $19.8 million and
$21.8 miillion for the years ended May 31, 1998, 1997 and
1996, respectively. Intangible assets are periodically
reviewed by the Company for impairments where the fair
value is less than the carrying value.

Other Liabilities: Other liabilities include amounts with
settlement dates beyond one year, and are primarily

composed of long-term deferred endorsement payments of
$9.5 million and $15.8 million at May 31, 1998 and 1997,
respectively. Deferred payments to endorsers relate to
amounts due beyond contract termination, which are
discounted at various interest rates and accrued over the
contract period.

Endorsement Contracts: Accounting for endorsement
contracts is based upon specific contract provisions.
Generally, endorsement payments are expensed uniformly
over the term of the contract after giving recognition to
periodic - performance compliance provisions of the
contracts. Contracts requiring prepayments are included in
prepaid expenses or other assets depending on the length
of the contract.

Foreign Currency Translation: Adjustments resulting from
translating foreign functional currency financial statements
into U.S. dollars are included in the currency translation
adjustment in shareholders’ equity.

Derivatives: The Company enters into foreign currency
contracts in order to reduce the impact of certain foreign
currency fluctuations. Firmly committed transactions and the
related receivables and payables may be hedged with
forward exchange contracts or purchased options.
Anticipated, but not yet firmly committed, transactions may
be hedged through the use of purchased options. Premiums
paid on purchased options and any gains are included in
prepaid expenses or accrued liabilities and are recognized
in earnings when the transaction being hedged is
recognized. Gains and losses arising from foreign currency
forward and option contracts, and cross-currency swap
transactions are recognized in income or expense as offsets
of gains and losses resulting from the underlying hedged
transactions. Hedge effectiveness is determined by
evaluating whether gains and losses on hedges will offset
gains and losses on the underlying exposures. This
evaluation is performed at inception of the hedge and
periodically over the life of the hedge. Occasionally, hedges
may cease to be effective or may be terminated prior to
recognition of the underlying transaction. Gains and losses
on these hedges are deferred and included in the basis of
the underlying transaction. Hedges are terminated if the
underlying transaction is no longer expected to occur and
the related gains and losses are recognized in earnings.
Cash flows from risk management activities are classified in
the same category as the cash flows from the related
investment, borrowing or foreign exchange activity. See
Note 15 for further discussion.

Income Taxes: Income taxes are provided currently on
financial statement earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries
expected to be repatriated. The Company intends to
determine annually the amount of undistributed non-U.S.
earnings to invest indefinitely in its non-U.S. operations.

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset
and liability method. This approach requires the recognition
of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future
tax consequences of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts and the tax bases of other assets and
liabilities. See Note 6 for futher discussion.

Earnings Per Share: Basic earnings per common share is
calculated by dividing net income by the average number of
common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted
earnings per common share is calculated by adjusting
outstanding shares, assuming conversion of all potentially
dilutive stock options.
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On October 23, 1996 and October 30, 1995, the
Company issued additional shares in connection with two-
for-one stock splits effected in the form of a 100% stock
dividend on outstanding Class A and Class B common
stock. The per common share amounts in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and accompanying notes have been
adjusted to reflect these stock splits.

Management Estimates: The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates,
including estimates relating to assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting -period. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications: Certain prior year amounts have been
reclassified to conform to fiscal 1998 presentation. These
changes had no impact on previously reported results of
operations or shareholders’ equity.

SYSCO CORPORATION (JUN)

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business and Consolidation: SYSCO Corporation (SYSCO)
is engaged in the marketing and distribution of a wide range
of food and related products to the foodservice or “food-
prepared-away-from-home” industry. These services are
performed from 70 distribution facilities for approximately
300,000 customers located in the 37 states where facilities
are situated, in 11 adjacent states and Alaska. The
company also has one facility in Vancouver, British
Columbia and one in Peterborough, Ontario, which service
customers in those areas.

The accompanying financial statements include the
accounts of SYSCO and its subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions and account balances have been
eliminated. Certain amounts in the prior years have been
reclassified to conform to the 1998 presentation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, sales and expenses. Actual
results could differ from the estimates used.

Earnings of acquisitions recorded as purchases are
included in SYSCO's results of operations from the date of
acquisition.

Inventories: Inventories consist of food and related
products held for resale and are valued at the lower of cost
{first-in, first-out method) or market.

Plant and Equipment: Capital additions, improvements
and major renewals are classified as plant and equipment
and are carried at cost. Depreciation is recorded using the
straight-line method which reduces the book value of each
asset in equal amounts over its estimated useful life.
Maintenance, repairs and minor renewals are charged to
earnings when they are incurred. Upon the disposition of an
asset, its accumulated depreciation is deducted from the
original cost, and any gain or loss is reflected in current
earnings.

Applicable interest charges incurred during the
construction of new facilities are capitalized as one of the

elements of cost and are amortized over the assets’
estimated useful lives. Interest capitalized during the past
three years was $2,095,000 in 1998, $2,215,000 in 1997
and $2,783,000 in 1996.

Goodwill and Intangibles: Goodwill and intangibles
represent the excess of cost over the fair value of tangible
net assets acquired and are amortized over 40 years using
the straight-line method. Accumulated amortization at June
27, 1998, June 28, 1997 and June 29, 1996 was
$74,554,000, $66,521,000 and $58,668,000, respectively.

Computer Systems Development Project: in the second
quarter of fiscal 1998, SYSCO recorded a one-time, after-
tax, non-cash charge of $28,053,000 to comply with a new
consensus ruling by the Emerging Issues Task Force of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (EITF Issue No. 97-
13), requiring reengineering costs associated with computer
systems development to be expensed as they are incurred.
Prior to this ruling, SYSCO had capitalized business
process reengineering costs incurred in connection with its
SYSCO Uniform  Systems information systems
redevelopment project in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.

No costs were capitalized in fiscal 1998 and fiscal 1997,
while $2,994,000 was capitalized during fiscal 1996.
Amounts that remain capitalized are being amortized as
completed portions of the project are put into use.
Accumulated amortization, including the one-time charge, at
June 27, 1998, June 28, 1997 and June 29, 1996 was
$36,532,000, $1,624,000 and $753,000, respectively.

Insurance Program: SYSCO maintains a self-insurance
program covering portions of workers’ compensation and
general and automobile liability costs. The amounts in
excess of the self-insured levels are fully insured. Self-
insurance accruals are based on claims filed and an
estimate for significant claims incurred but not reported.

Income Taxes: SYSCO follows the liability method of
accounting for income taxes as required by the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.
109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.”

Cash Flow Information: For cash flow purposes, cash
includes cash equivalents such as time deposits, certificates
of deposit and all highly liquid instruments with original
maturities of three months or less.

New Accounting Standards: In the second quarter of
fiscal 1998, SYSCO adopted SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per
Share.” SFAS No. 128 replaced the previously reported
primary and fully-diluted earnings per share with basic and
diluted earnings per share. Unlike primary earnings per
share, basic earnings per share excludes any dilutive effect
of stock options. Diluted earnings per share under SFAS
No. 128 is very similar to the previously reported fully-
diluted earnings per share. Earnings per share amounts for
each period have been presented and restated to conform
to the SFAS No. 128 requirements.

In fiscal 1998, SYSCO adopted SFAS No. 130,
“Reporting Comprehensive Income.” The adoption of this
standard did not have an effect on SYSCO’s reported net
earnings in fiscal 1998 as SYSCO has no additional
comprehensive income under the statement.

in March 1998, the AICPA issued Statement of Position
(SOP) 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” The SOP
provides guidance with respect to accounting for the various
types of costs incurred for computer software developed or
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obtained for SYSCO’s use. SYSCO is required to and will
adopt SOP 98-1 in the first quarter of fiscal 2000 and
believes that adoption will not have a significant effect on its
consolidated results of operations or financial position.

In April 1998, the AICPA issued SOP 98-5, “Reporting on
the Costs of Start-Up Activities.” At adoption, SOP 98-5
requires SYSCO to write-off any unamortized start-up costs
as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle
and, going forward, expense all start-up activity costs as
they are incurred. SYSCO is required to and will adopt SOP
98-5 in the first quarter of fiscal 2000 and believes that
adoption will not have a significant effect on its consolidated
results of operations or financial position.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” which is effective for
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999. SYSCO is
required to and will adopt SFAS No. 133 in the first quarter
of fiscal 2000. SYSCO does not expect adoption to have a
significant effect on its consolidated results of operations or
financial position.

ACCOUNTING CHANGES

APB Opinion No. 20 “defines various types of accounting
changes and establishes guides for determining the manner
of reporting each type.” Table -1-8 lists the accounting
changes disclosed in the annual reports of the survey
companies. As shown in Table 1-8, most of the accounting
changes disclosed by the survey companies were changes
made to conform to requirements stated in authoritative
pronouncements which became effective during 1997.
Table 1-8 does not include those survey companies
disclosing, for the first time, pro forma information in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123 or those survey companies making
disclosures in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards Nos. 128-132.
Examples of accounting change disclosures follow.

TABLE 1-8: ACCOUNTING CHANGES
Number of Companies
1998 1997 1996 1995
Software development costs
(SOP 98-1) ....oorierrerererermsrirrnneiees
Start-up costs (SOP 98-5) ................
Business process reengineering
costs (EITF 97-13) .....ccovvvcrnnenen. 1
Inventories
Depreciable lives ...............cuu........
Software revenue recognition.............
Impairment of long-lived assets
(SFAS 121) .o

3
Reporting entity...........cc.coevrenrveenrrnnnes 2
Cther........ errrseisnssenssssnsen 13

39
I
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Software Development Costs

DAYTON HUDSON CORPORATION (JAN)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Internal Use Software

The Company adopted SOP 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs
of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal
Use,” in first quarter 1998. The adoption resulted in
decreased expense, which increased pre-tax earnings by
approximately $68 million, net of depreciation, for 1998
($.09 per share), partially offsetting its other systems
expenses. The annual impact of software capitalization will
diminish significantly over the next few years. Software is
depreciated over four years.

PRIMEDIA INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts})

2 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Recent Accounting Pronouncements: In 1998, the Company
adopted the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants’ (“AICPA") Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98-1,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed
or Obtained for Internal Use.” Under the Company's
previous accounting policy, costs for internal use software,
whether developed or obtained, were generally expensed as
incurred. In compliance with SOP 98-1, the Company
expenses costs incurred in the preliminary project stage
and, thereafter, capitalizes costs incurred in the developing
or obtaining of internal use software. Certain costs, such as
maintenance and training, are expensed as incurred.
Capitalized costs are amortized over a period of not more
than five years and are subject to impairment evaluation in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for
Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.” The adoption of
SOP 98-1 resulted in an increase in operating income and a
decrease in net loss of approximately $12,450 ($.09 per
share) for the year ended December 31, 1998.
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PREMARK INTERNATIONAL, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

New Accounting Pronouncements: Effective for fiscal year
1998, the company adopted the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants’ Statement of Position (SOP)
98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” The statement
requires capitalization of certain costs incurred in the
development of internal-use software, including external
direct material and service costs, employee payroll and
payroli-related costs. Prior to adoption of SOP 98-1, the
company expensed these costs as incurred. The effect of
this change in accounting principle on earnings in 1998 is
immaterial.

Start-Up Costs
AMCAST INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION (AUG)

Consolidated Statements of Income

($ in thousands) 1998 1997 1996
Income before Cumulative Effect

of Accounting Change $16,765  $12983  $15926
Cumulative effect of accounting

change, net of tax (8,588) — -
Net income $ 8,177 $12,983 $15,926
Basic Earning per Share
Income before cumulative effect

of accounting change $ 1.82 $ 1.50 $ 1.85
Cumulative effect of accounting

change (93) - -
Net income $ .89 $ 1.50 $ 1.85
Diluted Earnings per Share
Income before cumulative effect

of accounting change $ 1.81 $ 1.48 $ 1.84
Cumulative effect of accounting :

change (.93) — —
Net income $ .88 $ 1.48 $ 1.84

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
($ in thousands except per share amounts)

Accounting Policies (In Part)

Effective September 1, 1997, the Company also adopted
the provisions of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants’ Statement of Position (SOP) 98-5, “Reporting
on the Costs of Start-Up Activities.” SOP 98-5 provides
guidance on the financial reporting of start-up and
organization costs and requires such costs to be expensed

as incurred. The total amount of deferred start-up costs
reported as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle is $8,588, net of tax benefits of $5,044. The
Company'’s share of CTC’s cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle is $3,529, net of tax. Pro forma
earnings per share amounts, assuming the new accounting
principle is applied retroactively, are as follows:

1997 1996

Basic Earnings per Share:
Income before cumulative effort of

accounting change-as reported $1.50 $1.85
Income before cumulative effect of

accounting change-pro forma $1.52 $1.36
Net income-as reported $1.50 $1.85
Net income-pro forma $1.52 $1.36
Diluted Earnings per Share:
Income before cumulative effect

of accounting change-as reported $1.48 $1.84
Income before cumulative effect

of accounting change-pro forma $1.51 $1.36
Net income-as reported $1.48 $1.84
Net income-pro forma $1.51 $1.36

EXXON CORPORATION (DEC)

Consolidated Statement of Income

(millions of dollars) 1998 1997 1996
Income before cumulative effect
of accounting change $6,440 $8,460 $7,510
Cumulative effect of accounting
change (70) — —
Net income $6,370 $8,460 $7,510
Net income per common share
(dollars)
Before cumulative effect of
accounting change $ 264 $ 341 $ 3.01
Cumulative effect of
accounting change (0.03) — —
Net income $ 261 $ 341 $ 3.01

New income per common
share—assuming dilution

(dolars)
Before cumulative effect of

accounting change $261 $3.37 $299
Cumulative effect of

accounting change (0.03) — —
Net income $258 $3.37 $2.99

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

2. Accounting Change

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’
Statement of Position 98-5, “Reporting on the Costs of
Start-up Activities,” was implemented in the fourth quarter of



54 Section 1: General

1998, effective as of January 1, 1998. This statement
requires that costs of start-up activities and organizational
costs be expensed as incurred. The cumulative effect of this
accounting change on years prior to 1998 was a charge of
$70 million (net of $70 million income tax effect), or $0.03
per common share, that was reflected in the first quarter of
1998. This new accounting requirement did not have a
significant effect on 1998 income before the cumulative
effect of the accounting change.

Business Process Reengineering Costs

UNIFI, INC. (JUN)

Consolidated Statements of Income

(Amounts in thousands,

except per share data) 1998 1997 1996
Income before extraordinary item

and cumulative effect of

accounting change 128,901 115,665 78,377

Extraordinary item (net of

applicable income taxes of

$3,692) — — 5,898
Cumulative effect of accounting

change (net of applicable

income taxes of $2,902) 4,636 — —

Net income $124,265 $72,479

Earning per common share:
Income before extraordinary
item and cumulative effect
of accounting change $ 210 $ 18
Extraordinary item —
Cumulative effect of
accounting change 07 — —_
Net income per common share $§ 2.03 $ 183 $ 1.10
Earnings per common share—
assuming dilution:
Income before extraordinary
item and cumulative effect
of accounting change $ 208 $ 181 $1.18
Extraordinary item — — .09
Cumuiative effect of
accounting change 07 — —

Net income per common share § 2.01 $ 1.18 $ 1.09

$ 119

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

4 (In Part): Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change and
Extraordinary Charge

Pursuant to Emerging Issues Task Force No. 97-13 issued
in November 1997, the Company changed its accounting
policy in the second quarter of fiscal 1998 regarding a
project to install an entirely new computer software system
which it began in fiscal 1995. Previously, substantially all

direct external costs relating to the project were capitalized,
including the portion related to business process
reengineering. In accordance with this accounting
pronouncement, the unamortized balance of these
reengineering costs as of September 28, 1997, of $7.5
million ($4.6 million after tax) or $.07 per diluted share were
written off as a cumulative catch-up adjustment in the
second quarter of fiscal 1998.

Measurement of Goodwill impairment

THE BLACK & DECKER CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

2 (In Part): Strategic Repositioning

Change in Accounting for Goodwil: On a periodic basis
through December 31, 1997, the Corporation estimated the
future undiscounted cash flows of the businesses to which
goodwill related in order to determine that the carrying value
of the goodwill had not been impaired.

As a consequence of the strategic repositioning plan, the
Corporation elected to change its method of measuring
goodwill impairment from an undiscounted cash flow
approach to a discounted cash flow approach effective
January 1, 1998. On a periodic basis, the Corporation
estimates the future discounted cash flows of the
businesses to which goodwill relates. When such estimate
of the future discounted cash flows, net of the carrying
amount of tangible net assets, is less than the carrying
amount of goodwill, the difference will be charged to
operations. For purposes of determining the future
discounted cash flows of the businesses to which goodwill
relates, the Corporation, based upon historical results,
current projections, and internal earnings targets,
determines the projected future operating cash flows, net of
income tax payments, of the individual businesses. These
projected future cash flows are then discounted at a rate
corresponding to the Corporation’s estimated cost of capital,
which also is the hurdle rate used by the Corporation in
making investment decisions. Future discounted cash flows
for the recreational products business, the glass container-
forming and inspection equipment business, and the
household products business in North America, Latin
America, and Australia included an estimate of the proceeds
from the sale of such businesses, net of associated selling
expenses and taxes. The Corporation believes that
measurement of the value of goodwill through a discounted
cash flow approach is preferable in that such a
measurement facilitates the timely identification of
impairment of the carrying value of investments in
businesses and provides a more current and, with respect
to the businesses to be sold, more realistic valuation than
the undiscounted approach.

In connection with the Corporation’s change in accounting
policy with respect to measurement of goodwill impairment,
$900.0 million of goodwill was written off through a charge
to operations during the first quarter of 1998. That goodwill
write-off represented a per-share net loss of $9.80 both on a
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basic and diluted basis for 1998. The write-off of goodwill
related to the Building Products segment and the Fastening
and Assembly Systems segment and included a $40.0
million write-down of goodwill associated with one of the
divested businesses, and represented the amount
necessary to write-down the carrying values of goodwill for
those businesses to the Corporation’s best estimate, as of
January 1, 1998, of those businesses’ future discounted
cash flows using the methodology described in the
preceding paragraph. This change represents a change in
accounting principle which is indistinguishable from a
change in estimate.

Reporting Entity
ASHLAND INC. (SEP)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

A (In Part): Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation: The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of Ashland and its majority-
owned subsidiaries, except Arch Coal, Inc. Investments in
joint ventures, 20% to 50% owned affiliates and Arch Coal
are accounted for on the equity method. Ashland Coal, Inc.
and Arch Mineral Corporation merged on July 1, 1997, to
form Arch Coal, Inc, in which Ashland has a 55%
ownership interest. In 1998, Ashland adopted Emerging
Issues Task Force Issue No. 96-16 (EITF 96-16), “Investor's
Accounting for an Investee When the Investor Has a
Majority of the Voting Interest but the Minority Shareholder
or Shareholders Have Certain Approval or Veto Rights.” The
adoption of EITF 96-16 resulted in a change in the method
of accounting for Ashland’s investment in Arch Coal from
consolidation to the equity method. As a result of the
accounting change and the restatement of prior periods for
comparison purposes, all of Ashland’s coal investments are
now accounted for on the equity method for all periods
presented. The change had no effect on Ashland’s net
income or common stockholders’ equity, but reduced its
revenues, costs, assets and liabilities, and changed certain
components of its cash flow.

EXXON CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

8 (In Part): Equity Company Information

During the fourth quarter of 1998, Exxon de-consolidated
the majority owned power companies in Hong Kong and
China. These financial statements reflect the de-
consolidation of these companies retroactive to January 1,
1998. These affiliates are now accounted for as equity
companies, in compliance with the Financial Accounting
Standards Board Emerging Issues Task Force ruling on

Issue No. 96-16, which requires equity company reporting
for a majority owned affiliate when minority shareholders
possess the right to participate in significant management
decisions. Exxon’s 1998 net income was not affected by the
de-consolidation. Below is a summary of the effect on
Exxon’s January 1, 1998 consolidated balance sheet related
to the de-consolidation of the power generation companies
in Hong Kong and China:

Increase/(Decrease)

(millions of dollars)

Net propoerty, plant and equipment $(4,156)
Other assets : (174)
Investments and advances 757
Total assets $(3,573)
Short and long-term debt $(2,475)
Other liabilities (586)
Minority interest (512)
Total liabilities $(3,573)

Valuation of Pension Plan Assets

KNIGHT-RIDDER, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans (In Part)

In the fourth quarter of 1998, the company changed the
method of accounting used to determine the market-related
value of plan assets, effective Dec. 29, 1997. The method
was changed to: (1) align the method of calculating the
return component of net periodic pension costs with the
related plans’ investment strategy; and (2) to minimize
significant year-to-year fluctuations in pension costs caused
by financial market volatility. The effect of this change on
1998 results of operations, including the cumulative effect of
prior years, was not material.
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Amortization of Pension Obligation
Gain/Loss

ARMCO INC. (DEC)

Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income

{Dollars in millions, except

At the time it originally adopted the standards governing
accounting for pensions and other postretirement benefits,
Armco chose to use a minimum amortization method
whereby unrecognized net gains and losses, to the extent
they exceeded 10% of the larger of the benefit obligations or
plan assets, were amortized over the average remaining
service life of active participants. At Armco, the average
remaining service life is approximately 15 years. Use of this
method, however, resulted in the accumulation of $419.3 of
unrecognized net gains for pensions and other
postretirement benefits through 1997. Under the new

per share amounts) - 1998 1997 1996 accounting method, Armco recognizes into income, as a
Income before extraordinary loss fourth quarter adjustment, any unrecognized net gains and
and cumulative effect of an losses which exceed the 10% corridor, as described above,
accounting change $109.6 $79.8 $325 and amortizes amounts inside the corridor over the average
Extraordinary loss on retirement remaining service life of active participants. Adoption of the
of debt — (3.0) — new method increased 1998 income from continuing
Cumulative effect of a change in operations by approximately $3.0, or $0.03 per share of
accounting for postretirement common stock.
benefits (Note 2) 2375 - —
Net income 347.1 76.8 325
Basic earnings per share .
Income from continuing Deferred Compensation Arrangement
operations $0.85 $0.55 $0.08
Income from discontinued
operations — 0.03 0.06 FLOWSERVE CORPORATION (DEC)
Extraordinary loss on ;
retirement of debt —_ (0.03) —
Cumulative effect of an Consolidated Statements of Income
accounting change 2.20 - it (Amounts in thousands, except
Net income $ 3.05 $0.55 $0.14 per share data) 1998 1997 1996
Diluted earnings per share Earnings before cumulative
Income from continuing effect of change in accounting
operations $0.81 $0.55 - $0.08 principle $47,655 $51,566 $71,007
Income from discontinued Cumulative effect of change in
operations — 0.03 0.06 accounting principle, net (1,220) — —_
Ex“:t?’di"aﬂt/ kf)?!segtn 009) Net earnings $48,875 $51,566  $71,007
retirement 0 — . — - -
Cumulativg effect of an E?Z?):gg share (diluted
accounting change 1.58 — — Before cumulative effect of
Net income $ 269 $0.55 $0.14 change in accounting
principle $ 120 $ 126 $ 1.72
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL e oo o _ _
STATEMENTS : .
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) Net earnings per share $ 1.23 $ 1.26 $ 1.72

2 (In Part): Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

Effective January 1, 1998, Armco changed its method of
amortizing unrecognized net gains and losses related to its
obligations for pensions and other postretirement benefits.
In 1998, Armco recognized income of $237.5, or $2.20 per
share of common stock ($1.88 per diluted share), for the
cumulative effect of this accounting change.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

7. Deferred Compensation—Rabbi Trust

In September 1998, the Company adopted the provisions of
EITF No. 97-14 “Accounting for Deferred Compensation
Arrangements Where Amounts Earned Are Held in a Rabbi
Trust and Invested.” This standard established new
guidelines for deferred compensation arrangements where
amounts earned by an employee are invested in the
employer’s stock that is placed in a Rabbi Trust. The EITF
requires that the Company’s stock held in the trust be
recorded at historical cost, the corresponding deferred
compensation liability recorded at the current fair value of
the Company’s stock and the stock held in the Rabbi Trust
classified as treasury stock. The difference between the
historical cost of the stock and the fair value of the liability at
September 30, 1998, has been recorded as a cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle of $1,220, net of
tax. Prior-year financial statements have not been restated
to reflect the change in accounting principle. The effect of
the change on 1997 income before the cumulative effect
would have been a reduction of $490. The effect of the
change on 1996 income would not have been material.

Stock-Based Compensation

THE BOEING COMPANY (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Share-based Plans: In 1998 the Company adopted the
expense recognition provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation. The Company values stock options issued
based upon an option-pricing model and recognizes this
value as an expense over the period in which the options
vest. Potential distribution from the ShareValue Trust,
described in Note 16, have been valued based upon an
option-pricing model, with the related expense recognized
over the life of the trust. Share-based expense associated
with Performance Shares described in Note 16 is
determined based on the market value of the Company’s
stock at the time of the award applied to the maximum
number of shares contingently issuable based on stock
price, and is amortized over a five-year award period.
Performance Shares were first issued in 1998. Prior to
1998, the Company recognized no expense for stock
options and ShareValue Trust expense was determined
based on the change in the distributable market value of the
trust. Share-based plans expenses for stock options, the
ShareValue Trust, Performance Shares and other share-
based awards are offset by a credit to additional paid-in
capital.

16. Share-Based Plans

The Share-based expense plans expense caption on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations represents the total
expense recognized for all company plans that are payable
only in stock. These plans are described below.

In 1998 the Company adopted the expense recognition
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation. Had the Company not adopted SFAS No.
123, 1998 net earnings would have been $1,229, and basic
and diluted earnings per share would have been $1.27 and
$1.26. The following table compares 1997 and 1996 results
as reported to the results had the Company adopted the
expense recognition provision of SFAS No. 123:

1997 1996

Net eamings (loss) ~

As reported $(178) $1,818

Pro forma under SAFS No. 123 (332) 1,852
Basic earnings (loss) per share

As reported $(18) $1.88

Pro forma under SFAS No. 123 (.34) 1.9
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

As reported $(.18) $1.85

Pro forma under SFAS No. 123 (:34) 1.89

Contract Revenue Recognition

BROWN & SHARPE MANUFACTURING COMPANY
(DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

2. Accounting Change

Until 1998, it had been the Company’s policy to recognize
revenue on the percentage of completion method for its
larger, more fully configured machines. In the fourth quarter
of 1998, management elected to change its method of
accounting for these machines from the percentage of
completion method to the completed contract method. The
new accounting method was adopted because management
believes that the new method results in a better matching of
cost and revenue and it is more practical to recognize
revenues upon shipment as the Company's financial
position and results of operations would not vary materially
from those resulting from use of the percentage of
completion method due to the short-term nature of the
production cycle. This new method also more closely
correlates revenue recognition with the cash realization
relating to the sale, since payments are due after the
machines are actually shipped to the customers rather than
during the production period.

As a result of the adoption of the new accounting method
described above, 1998 sales and net income decreased
$2.2 million and $493 thousand ($.04 per share),
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respectively. In addition, the results of operations for the
years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996 have been
restated as follows:

1997 1996
Net Net
Sales (Loss) Sales  Income
Aspreviously reported  $322,513  $(10,530) $344,877  $7,805

Increase (decrease)
Restated

7,247
$329,760

(1,366) {2,193) (373)
$(9,164) $342684 $7,432

The effect of the change, on a basic and diluted per share
basis, was to decrease 1997 loss by $.10 per share and
1996 earnings by $.04 per share.

In addition, due to the restatement, accounts receivable
and inventories at December 31, 1997 decreased $7.9
million and increased $4.4 million, respectively, while
retained earnings (deficit) at December 31, 1995 increased
$3.5 million.

Highly Inflationary Foreign Operation

COLGATE-PALMOLIVE COMPANY (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Dollars in millions

2 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Changes: During 1998, as required by generally
accepted accounting principles, the Company ceased to
account for its Brazilian operations as highly inflationary as
historical inflation levels had fallen sharply. The effect of this
change was to reduce sharehoiders’ equity by $98.4,
primarily related to the recognition of deferred tax benefits
expected to be realized in the future. However, since the
close of 1998, the Brazilian currency has devalued sharply.
Based on management’s best estimates and events to date,
this devaluation will result in a charge to cumulative
translation adjustments of approximately $250 to be
recognized in 1999 which will be, in effect, a write-down of
the Company’'s foreign-currency-denominated assets
(primarily goodwill and property, plant and equipment). This
will be accompanied by lower amortization and depreciation
expense in future periods. The Company remains cautious
on the outlook for operations in Brazil in 1999.

Furnace Rebuild Costs

JOHNS MANVILLE CORPORATION (DEC)

Consolidated Statement of Income and

Comprehensive Income

(in thousands of dollars,
except per share amounts) 1998

1997

1996

Income before extraordinary
items and cumulative effect
of accounting change

Extraordinary losses, net of tax

Cumulative effect of a change
in accounting for furnace
rebuilds, net of tax (Note 21)

$185,291
(31,754)

27,409

$150,000

$406,771
(316,285)

Net income 180,946
Preference stock redemption

premium/dividends

150,000

90,486
(60,341)

Net income applicable to

common stock 180,946

150,000

30,145

Foreign currency translation

adjustments, net of tax (12,186)

(17,384)

(6,013)

Comprehensive income $168,760

$132,616

$24,132

Earnings per common share

Basic:
Income from continuing
operations $ 116
Gain on disposal of discontinued
operations, net of tax

12

143

Income before extraordinary

items and cumulative effect

of accounting change 1.16
Extraordinary losses, net of tax (.20)
Cumulative effect of a change in

accounting for furnace

rebuilds, net of tax (Note 21) A7

229
(2.09)

Net income applicable to
common stock $ 113

$ .20

Diluted:
Income from continuing
operations $ 115
Gain on disposal of discontinued
operations, net of tax

A2

$ 8
1.42

Income before extraordinary

items and cumulative effect

of accounting change 1.15
Extraordinary losses, net of tax (.20)
Cumulative effect of a change in

accounting for furnace

rebuilds, net of tax (Note 21) A7

82

227

(2.07)

Net income applicable to
common stock $ 112

$.20
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

21. Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change

Effective January 1, 1998, the Company changed its
method of accounting for glass furnace rebuild costs to the
capitalization method from the allowance method. Under the
capitalization method, costs to periodically rebuild the
refractory components of the glass furnaces are capitalized
when incurred and depreciated on a straight-line basis over

Derivative Financial Instruments

TIME WARNER INC. (DEC)

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

the estimated useful life of the rebuild. The capitalization
method provides an improved measure of the Company'’s
capital investment and is consistent with industry practice.
Previously, estimated costs to rebuild furnaces were
credited to an allowance and charged to operations over the
estimated period to the next rebuild date. The cumulative
effect of this change in accounting principle increased 1998
earnings by $27.4 million, net of taxes of $17.9 million. This
change resuited in an increase in depreciation expense but
eliminated the provision for furnace rebuilds. The pro forma
effect of this change on net income was not material.

Preferred Common Paid-In Accumulated

(millions) Stock Stock Capital Deficit Total
Balance at December 31, 1997 4 1 12,675 (3.334) 9,356
Net income 168 168
Foreign currency translation adjustments 4 4
Increase in realized and unrealized losses

on derivative financial instruments, net

of $13 million tax benefit (20) (20)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting :

for derivative financial instruments, net

of $3 million tax benefit (18) (18)
Comprehensive income (loss) 134 134
Common stock dividends (216) (216)
Preferred stock dividends (540) (540)
Issuance of common stock in connection

with the conversion of zero-coupon

convertible notes due 2013 1,150 1,150
Issuance of common stock in connection :

with the conversion of convertible

preferred stock (] 1 151 (150) -
Repurchases of Time Wamer common '

stock h)] (2,239) (2,240)
Shares issued pursuant to stock option,

dividend reinvestment and benefit

plans 1 1,397 (190) 1,208
Balance at December 31, 1998 $2 $12 $13,134 $(4,296) $8,852
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Organization and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

Financial Instruments: Effective July 1, 1998, Time Warner
adopted FASB Statement No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“FAS 133").
FAS 133 requires that all derivative financial instruments,
such as interest rate swap contracts and foreign exchange
contracts, be recognized in the financial statements and
measured at fair value regardiess of the purpose or intent
for holding them. Changes in the fair value of derivative
financial instruments are either recognized periodically in
income or shareholders’ equity (as a component of
comprehensive income), depending on whether the
derivative is being used to hedge changes in fair value or
cash flows. The adoption of FAS 133 did not have a
material effect on Time Warner's primary financial
statements, but did reduce comprehensive income by $18
million in the accompanying consolidated statement of
shareholders’ equity.

The carrying value of Time Warner's financial instruments
approximates fair value, except for differences with respect
to long-term, fixed-rate debt. (Note 7) and certain
differences relating to cost method investments and other
financial instruments that are not significant. The fair value
of financial instruments is generally determined by reference
to market values resulting from trading on a national
securities exchange or in an over-the-counter market. In
cases where quoted market prices are not available, such
as for derivative financial instruments, fair value is based on
estimates using present value or other valuation techniques.

Reporting Standards Effective For Future
Periods

AMETEK, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

15 (In Part): New Accounting Pronouncements

Pending Accounting Pronouncements: In March 1998, the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)
issued Statement of Position (SOP) No. 98-1 “Accounting
for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained
for Internal Use.” The Statement is effective for the
Company’'s financial statements beginning in 1999.
Adoption of the Statement will have an insignificant effect on
the Company’s consolidated results of operations, financial
position, and cash flows.

In April 1998, The AICPA issued SOP 98-5, “Reporting on
the Costs of Start-up Activities,” which provided guidance on
the financial reporting for start-up and organization costs.
The Statement requires costs for start-up activities to be
expensed as incurred, and is effective for the Company’s
financial statements beginning in 1999. Adoption of the
Statement will have no effect on the Company’s

consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash
flows.

In June 1998, the FASB issued Statement No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” The Statement establishes accounting and
reporting standards for derivative financial instruments. The
Statement requires recognition of derivatives in the
statement of financial position, to be measured at fair value.
Gains or losses resulting from changes in the value of
derivatives would be accounted for depending on the
intended use of the derivative and whether it qualifies for
hedge accounting. This Statement is effective for the
Company’s financial statements beginning in 2000. The
Company is currently studying the future effects of adopting
this Statement. However, due to the Company’s limited use
of derivative financial instruments, adoption of Statement
No. 133 is not expected to have a significant effect on the
Company’s consolidated results of operations, financial
position, or cash flows.

BAXTER INTERNATIONAL INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Start-up Costs: Effective at the beginning of 1999, the
company will adopt AICPA Statement of Position (SOP) 98-
5, “Reporting on the Costs of Start-up Activities.” This SOP
requires that costs of start-up and organization activities
previously capitalized be expensed and reported as a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, and
requires that such costs subsequent to adoption be
expensed as incurred. Management currently estimates that
the after-tax cumulative effect adjustment that will be
recognized upon adoption of the SOP in the first quarter of
1999 will be between $30 million and $35 million. Excluding
the initial effect of adopting the standard, management does
not anticipate that the new SOP will have a material impact
on future results of operations.

THE COASTAL CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” (‘FAS 133"): The Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB") has issued FAS 133 to be effective for all
fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999.
FAS 133 requires that an entity recognize all derivatives as
either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial
position and measure those instruments at fair value. The
accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative will
depend on the intended use of the derivative and the
resulting designation. The Company is currently evaluating
the impact of FAS 133.
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Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 98-10: The FASB
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 98-10, to be
effective for years beginning after December 15, 1998,
states that energy trading contracts (as defined) should be
marked to market with the gains and losses included in
earnings and separately disclosed in the financial
statements or footnotes thereto. The Company does not
believe the application of Issue No. 98-10 will have a
material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

Statement of Position 98-5 (“SOP 98-5"): The AICPA has
issued SOP 98-5, to be effective for periods beginning after
December 15, 1998. SOP 98-5 provides guidance on
accounting for costs incurred to open new facilities, conduct
business in new territories or otherwise commence some
new operation. The application of SOP 98-5 is not expected
to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

MONSANTO COMPANY (DEC)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

New Accounting Standards (In Part)

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” (FAS 133). FAS 133 requires all derivatives to be
recognized as assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and
measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives should be recognized in either net income or
other comprehensive income, depending on the designated
purpose of the derivative. This statement is effective for
Monsanto on Jan. 1, 2000. Because of the effect of recent
acquisitions, Monsanto is reassessing its position and has
not yet determined the effect this statement will have on its
consolidated financial position or results of operations.

TEXAS INSTRUMENTS INCORPORATED (DEC)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting Policies and Practices (In Part)

Accounting standard SFAS No. 133 was issued in 1998 and
is effective in 2000. It requires that all derivatives be
marked-to-market on an ongoing basis. This applies
whether the derivatives are stand-alone instruments, such
as forward currency exchange contracts and interest rate
swaps, or embedded derivatives, such as call options
contained in convertible debt investments. Along with the
derivatives, the underlying hedged items are also to be
marked-to-market on an ongoing basis. These market value
adjustments are to be included either in the income
statement or stockholders’ equity, depending on the nature
of the transaction. The company expects to adopt the
standard in the first quarter of 2000 on a cumulative basis.
Based on analysis to date, the company expects the most
significant impact of this standard will be the cumulative, as
well as ongoing mark-to-market, adjustment through the
income statement of the embedded call option on Micron

Technology, Inc. (Micron) common shares contained in the
convertible note received from Micron in connection with
TP's 1998 sale of its memory business. The value of this
option can be volatile given its sensitivity to changes in the
value of Micron common shares. For example, at
September 30, 1998, the estimated value of the option was
$82 million; at December 31, 1998, it was $192 million.
Under SFAS No. 133, this change in value of $110 million
could be included in the income statement. Under current
accounting principles, the change in value of the Micron
convertible note, including the embedded call, is an
adjustment to stockholders’ equity.

Accounting standard SOP 98-1 was issued in 1998 and is
effective in 1999. It requires capitalization of the
development costs of software to be used internally, e.g., for
manufacturing or administrative processes. The company,
which currently capitalizes significant development costs for
internal-use software, expects to adopt the standard in the
first quarter of 1999 for developmental costs incurred in that
quarter and thereafter. The effect is not expected to be
material. Accounting standard SOP 98-5 was issued in 1998
and is effective in 1999. It requires expensing, rather than
capitalizing, the cost of start-up activities. The company
currently expenses such amounts as incurred and therefore
expects no material effect from adoption of this standard.

CONSOLIDATION POLICIES

Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 states in part.

1. The purpose of consolidated statements is to
present, primarily for the benefit of the shareholders
and creditors of the parent company, the results of
operations and the financial position of a parent
company and its subsidiaries essentially as if the
group were a single company with one or more
branches or divisions. There is a presumption that
consolidated statements are more meaningful than
separate statements and that they are usually
necessary for a fair presentation when one of the
companies in the group directly or indirectly has a
controlling financial interest in the other companies.

5. Consolidated statements should disclose the
consolidation policy which is being followed. In most
cases, this can be made apparent by the headings or
other information in the statements, but in other cases
a footnote is required.

Effective for financial statements for fiscal year ending
after December 15, 1988, Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 94 amends ARB No. 51 by
requiring the consolidation of subsidiaries having
nonhomogeneous operations. Consequently, with rare
exception, the survey companies consolidate
nonhomogeneous operations. Table 1-9 shows the nature
of nonhomogeneous operations consolidated by the survey
companies.
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Examples of consolidation practice disclosures follow.

TABLE 1-9: NONHOMOGENEOUS OPERATIONS

CONSOLIDATED
Number of Companies

1998 1997 1996 1995
Credit 33 49 53 45
Insurance 19 21 21 26
Leasing 7 9 4 6
Banks 5 3 5 6
Real estate 4 5 7 9

"AMERICAN BILTRITE INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Pan): Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of American Biltrite Inc.
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (referred to as “ABI” or
the “Company”), as well as entities over which it has voting
control, including Congoleum Corporation, a publicly traded
company in which ABI at December 31, 1998 has a 49%
ownership interest and 64% of the wvoting shares.
Intercompany accounts and transactions, including
transactions with associated companies which result in
intercompany profit, are eliminated.

BROWN-FORMAN CORPORATION (APR)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of all majority-owned
subsidiaries. Investments in affliates in which the company
has the ability to exericse significant influence, but not
control, are accounted for by the equity method. All other
investments in affiliates are carried at cost. Intercompany
transactions are eliminated.

DANA CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation: Dana’s financial statements
include all significant subsidiaries in which Dana has the
ability to exercise significant influence over operating and
financial policies. The accounts of certain non-U.S.
subsidiaries are included for fiscal years ended November

30. Affiliated companies (20% to 50% ownership) are
generally recorded in the statements using the equity
method of accounting. Operations of affiliates outside North
American accounted for on the equity method of accounting
are generally included for periods ended within two months
of Dana’s year end. Less than 20%-owned companies are
included in the financial statements at the cost of Dana’s
investment. Dividends, royalties and fees from these cost
basis affiliates are recorded in Dana’s financial statements
when received.

DIMON INCORPORATED (JUN)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

A (In Pant): Significant Accounting Policies

The accounts of the Company and its consolidated
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements after elimination of significant intercompany
accounts and transactions. Certain foreign consolidated
subsidiaries of the Company have fiscal year ends of March
31 and May 31 to facilitate reporting of consolidated
accounts. The Company accounts for its investments in
certain investee companies (ownership 20%-50%) under the
equity method of accounting. Investments in certain other
foreign investees and subsidiaries that are combined with
other investments are stated at cost or less than cost
because the Company does not exercise significant
influence over financial or operating policies and because of
restrictions imposed on the transfer of earnings and other
economic uncertainties.

THE DOW CHEMICAL COMPANY (DEC)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Changes

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation: The
accompanying consolidated financial statements of The
Dow Chemical Company and its subsidiaries (the Company)
include the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of all
majority-owned subsidiaries over which the Company
exercises control, and for which control is other than
temporary. Intercompany transactions and balances are
eliminated in consolidation. Investments in nonconsolidated
affiliates (20-50 percent owned companies and majority-
owned subsidiaries over which the Company does not
exercise control) are accounted for on the equity basis.
Certain reclassifications of prior years’ amounts have
been made to conform to the presentation adopted for 1998.

K. Limited Partnerships

In April 1993, three wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company contributed assets with an aggregate fair value of
$977 to Chemtech Royalty Associates L.P. (Chemtech), a
then newly formed Delaware limited partnership. In 1993,
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outside investors acquired limited partner interests in
Chemtech totaling 20 percent in exchange for $200.

in early 1998, a subsidiary of the Company purchased the
limited partner interests of the outside investors in
Chemtech for a fair value of $210 in accordance with
windup provisions in the partnership agreement. The limited
partnership was renamed Chemtech Il L.P. (Chemtech ).
In June 1998, the Company contributed assets with an
aggregate fair value of $783 (through a wholly owned
subsidiary) to Chemtech Il and an outside investor acquired
a limited partner interest in Chemtech Il totaling 20 percent
in exchange for $200.

Chemtech Il is a separate and distinct legal entity from
the Company and its affiliates, and has separate assets,
liabilities, business and operations. The partnership has a
general partner, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
which directs business activities and has fiduciary
responsibilities to the partnership and its other members.

The outside investor in Chemtech |l receives a cumulative
annual pnonty return of $13 on its lnvestment and
participates in residual earnings.

Chemtech 1l will not terminate unless a termination or
liquidation event occurs. The outside investor may cause
such an event to occur in the year 2003. In addition, the
partnership agreement provides for various windup
provisions wherein subsidiaries of the Company may
purchase at any time the limited partner interest of the
outside investor. Upon windup, liquidation or termination,
the partners’ capital accounts will be redeemed at current
fair values.

In December 1991, three wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company contributed assets with an aggregate market
value of $2 billion to DowBrands L.P., a then newly formed
Delaware limited partnership. Outside investors made cash
contributions of $45 in December 1991 and $855 in June
1992 in exchange for an aggregate 31 percent limited
partner interest in DowBrands L.P. In July 1997, the outside
investors’ limited partnership interests in DowBrands L.P.
were purchased by subsidiaries of the Company for $909.

For financial reporting purposes, the assets (other than
intercompany loans, which are eliminated), liabilities, results
of operations and cash flows of the partnerships and
subsidiaries are included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements, and the outside investors’ limited
partner interests are reflected as minority interests.

HERCULES INCORPORATED (DEC)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of Hercules Incorporated and all majority-owned
subsidiaries. Following the acquisition of BetzDearborn, the
company continued BetzDearborn’s pratice of using a
November 30 fiscal year-end for all former BetzDearborn
non-U.S. subsidiaries, excluding Canada, to expedite the
year-end closing process. Invesments in affiliated
companies with a 20% or greater ownership interest are
accounted for on an equity basis and, accordingly,

consolidated income includes Hercules' share of their
income.

HEWLETT-PACKARD COMPANY (OCT)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (In Part)

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidation financial
statements include the accounts of Hewlett-Packard
Company and its wholly- and majority-owned subsidiaries.
All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated.

In July 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a final
consensus on Issue 96-16, “Investor's Accounting for an
investee When the Investor Has a Majority of the Voting
Interest but the Minority Shareholder or Shareholders Have
Certain Approval or Veto Rights.” This consensus precludes
investors from consolidating majority-owned investees when
a minority shareholder or shareholders hold substantive
participating rights, which, individually or in the aggregate,
would allow such minority shareholders to participate in
significant decisions made in the ordinary course of
business. The company has followed the guidance in EITF
96-16 with respect to all investments made after July 24,
1997 and intends to adopt this guidance with respect to its
previously existing majority-owned subsidiaries no later than
the fourth quarter of fiscal year 1999. The company has not
yet determined what, if any, impact this adoption will have
on its financial statements.

INTERNATIONAL PAPER COMPANY (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of International Paper Company and
its subsidiaries. Minority interest represents minority
shareholders’ proportionate share of the equity in several of
the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries, primarily Carter
Holt Harvey Limited, Zanders Feinpapiere AG, Georgetown
Equipment Leasing Associates, L.P. and Trout Creek
Equipment Leasing, L. P. All significant intercompany
balances and transactions are eliminated. Investments in
affiliated companies owned 20% to 50%, and the
Company’s 13% investment in Scitex Corporation Ltd.,
where the Company has the ability to exercise significant
influence, because the Company is party to a shareowners’
agreement with two other entities which together with the
Company own just over 39% of Scitex, are accounted for by
the equity method. The Company’s share of affiliates’
eamings is included in the consolidated statement of
earnings.



64 Section 1: General

PENNZOIL-QUAKER STATE COMPANY (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1. Spin-off from Pennzoil Company and Principles of
Consolidation ‘

Spin-off from Pennzoil Company: On December 30, 1998,
Pennzoil Company distributed (the “Spin-off) to its
stockholders 47.8 million shares of common stock of its
wholly owned subsidiary Pennzoil-Quaker State Company
(“Pennzoil-Quaker State” or the “Company”) representing all
of the shares of the Company owned by Pennzoil Company.
As a result of the distribution, Pennzoil Company, now
renamed PennzEnergy Company (‘PennzEnergy”), and
Pennzoil-Quaker State are no longer affiliated entities.

Principles of Consolidation: Pennzoil-Quaker State is
engaged primarily in the manufacturing and marketing of
lubricants, car care products, base oils and specialty
industrial products and in the franchising, ownership and
operation of fast lube centers. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements include all majority-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, including Jiffy Lube
International, Inc. (“Jiffy Lube”), Pennzoil Sales Company,
certain assets and liabilities of Pennzoil Company’s captive
insurance company (that is now a subsidiary of the
Company) and certain assets and liabilities previously
reported in Pennzoil Company’s corporate segment. These
financial statements reflect the historical costs and results of
operations of Pennzoil-Quaker State. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions within Pennzoil-
Quaker State have been eliminated. Pennzoil-Quaker State
follows the equity method of accounting for investments in
20% to 50% owned entities.

PRAB, INC. (OCT)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Nature of Business and Significant Accounting
Policies

Basis of Consolidation: Effective November 1, 1988, the
Company formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, Prab Limited,
to conduct certain of its operations. The subsidiary is
essentially inactive at the present time. The consolidated
financial statements include the accounts.of Prab, Inc. and
its subsidiary, after elimination of all significant
intercompany transactions and accounts.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Paragraphs 8 of APB Opinion No. 16 states:

The Board concludes that the purchase method and
the pooling of interests method are both acceptable in
accounting for business combinations, aithough not
as alternatives in accounting for the same business
combination. A business combination which meets
specified conditions requires accounting by the

pooling of interests method. A new basis of
accounting is not permitted for a combination that
meets the specified conditions, and the assets and
liabilities of the combining companies are combined at
their recorded amounts. All other business
combinations should be accounted for as an
acquisition of one or more companies by a
corporation. The cost to an acquiring corporation of an
entire acquired company should be determined by the
principles of accounting for the acquisition of an asset.
That cost should then be allocated to the identifiable
individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed
based on their fair values; the unallocated cost should
be recorded as goodwill.

Paragraphs 50 to 65 and 66 to 96 of Opinion No. 16
describe the manner of reporting and disclosures required
for a pooling of interests and a purchase, respectively.

Table 1-10 shows that in 1998 the survey companies
reported 27 business combinations accounted for as a
pooling of interests of which 4 such business combinations
did not result in a restatement of prior year financial
statements. Those companies not restating prior year
financial statements for a pooling of interests usually
commented that the reason for not doing so was
immateriality.

Example of business combination disclosures follow.

TABLE 1-10: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Poolings of interests 1998 1997 1996 1995
Prior year financial

statements restated........................ 23 20 17 19
Prior year financial

statements not restated.................. 4 18 15 13
Total 27 38 32 32

Purchase method ............coeveereuerense 317 278 256 244

Pooling of Interests

DANA CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions except share and per share amounts)

2. Business Combination

On July 9, 1998, Dana Corporation completed a merger with
Echlin Inc. by exchanging 59.6 million shares of its common
stock for all of the common stock of Echlin. Each share of
Echlin was exchanged for .9293 of one share of Dana
common stock. In addition, outstanding Echlin stock options
were converted at the same exchange ratio into options to
purchase approximately 1.8 million shares of Dana common
stock.

The merger has been accounted for as a pooling of
interests and accordingly all prior period consolidated
financial statements have been restated to include the
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combined results of operations, financial position and cash
flows of Echlin.

Prior to the merger Echlin’s fiscal year ended on August
31. In recording the business combination, Echlin’s prior
period financial statements have been restated to conform
with Dana’s year end.

The following information presents certain income
statement data of the separate companies for the periods
preceding the merger:

Six
months ended
June 30, 1998
1998 1997  (Unaudited)
Net sales

Dana $ 7683 $ 829038 $4,690.5
Echlin 3,292.5 3,620.2 1,778.9
$109788 $11,911.0 $6,469.4

Net income (loss)
Dana $ 3060 $ 369.1 $ 2236
Echlin 144.9 (49.0) 77.2
$ 4509 $ 3201 $ 3008

There were no material transactions between Dana and
Echlin prior to the merger. The effects of conforming
Echlin’s accounting policies to those of Dana were not
material.

Purchase Method

ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Acquisitions

On July 22, 1998, the company completed its acquisition of
Triangle Pacific Corp. (‘Triangle Pacific’}, a Delaware
corporation. Triangle Pacific is a leading U.S. manufacturer
of hardwood flooring and other flooring and related products
and a substantial manufacturer of kitchen and bathroom
cabinets. The acquisition, recorded under the purchase
method of accounting, included the purchase of outstanding
shares of common stock of Triangle Pacific at $55.50 per
share which, plus acquisition costs, resulted in a total
purchase price of $911.5 million. A portion of the purchase
price has been allocated to assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on estimated fair market value at the date
of acquisition while the balance of $831.1 million was
recorded as goodwill and is being amortized over forty years
on a straight-line basis.

Effective August 31, 1998, the company acquired
approximately 93% of the total share capital of DLW
Aktiengeselischaft (‘DLW”), a corporation organized under
the laws of the Federal Republic of Germany. DLW is a
leading flooring manufacturer in Germany. The acquisition,

recorded under the purchase method of accounting,
included the purchase of 93% of the total share capital of
DLW which, plus acquisition costs, resulted in a total
purchase price of $289.9 million. A portion of the purchase
price has been allocated to assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on the estimated fair market value at the
date of acquisition while the balance of $117.2 million was
recorded as goodwill and is being amortized over forty years
on a straight-line basis. In this purchase price allocation,
$49.6 million was allocated to the estimable net realizable
value of DLW's furniture business and a carpet
manufacturing business in the Netherlands, which the
company has identified as businesses held for sale.

The allocation of the purchase price to the businesses
held for sale was determined as follows:

(millions) 1998
Estimated sales price $54.3
Less: Estimated cash outfiows through disposal date 2.2

Allocated interest through disposal date (2.5)
Total $49.6

The final sales price and cash flows pertaining to these
businesses may differ from these amounts. Disposals of
these businesses should occur in the first half of 1999.

The table below refiecfts the adjustment to the carrying
value of the businesses held for sale relating to interest
allocation, profits and cash flows in 1998.

(millions) 1998

Carrying value at August 31, 1998 $49.6
Interest allocated September 1-December 31, 1998 1.1
Effect of exchange rate change 28
Profits excluded from consolidated earnings (0.4)
Cash flows funded by parent 28

Carrying value at December 31, 1998 $55.9

The purchase price allocation for these acquisitions is
preliminary and further refinements are likely to be made
based on the completion of final valuation studies. The
operating results of these acquired businesses have been
included in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings from
the dates of acquisition. Triangle Pacific’s fiscal year ends
on the Saturday closest to December 31, which was
January 2, 1999. The difference in Triangle Pacific’s fiscal
year from that of the parent company was due to the
difficulty in changing its financial reporting systems to
accommodate a calendar year end. No events occurred
between December 31 and January 2 at Triangle Pacific
materially affecting the company’s financial position or
results of operations. .

The table below reflects unaudited pro forma combined
results of the company, Triangle Pacific and DLW as if the
acquisitions had taken place at the beginning of fiscal 1998
and 1997:

(millions) 1998 1997
Net sales $3,479.8 $3,350.0
Net earnings (14.2) 173.2
Net earnings per diluted share (0.36) 422
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In management’'s opinion, these unaudited pro forma
amounts are not necessarily indicative of what the actual
combined results of operations might have been if the
acquisitions had been effective at the beginning of fiscal
1997 and 1998.

ATLANTIC RICHFIELD COMPANY (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

3. Acaquisition of Union Texas Petroleum Holdings, Inc.

In June 1998, ARCO completed its tender offer for all
outstanding common shares of Union Texas Petroleum
Holdings, Inc. (UTP) for approximately $2.5 billion, or $29
per share in cash. ARCO also purchased in a tender offer
1,649,500 shares of UTP’s 7.14% Series A Cumulative
Preferred Stock for approximately $200 million, or $122 per
share in cash. UTP was a U.S.-based, non-integrated oil
and gas company with substantially all of its oil and gas
producing operations conducted outside of the U.S. in the
United Kingdom sector of the North Sea, Indonesia and
Pakistan.

The acquisition is being accounted for as a purchase. The
results of operations of UTP are included in the
consolidated financial statements of ARCO as of July 1,
1998. The cost of the acquisition was allocated on the basis
of the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed and there are no contingencies or other
matters that could affect the allocation of the purchase cost.
The liabilities assumed included employee termination
costs of $78 million and other costs, such as lease and
other contract cancellation costs, totaling $18 million
associated with the merging of UTP’s businesses into
ARCO’s operations. At December 31, 1998, ARCO had
terminated 279 of the 357 employees to be terminated and
had paid out $52 million against the liability for severance
payments. The remaining cash costs for severance, office
lease and software maintenance contract buyouts totaling
$37 million are expected to be paid out by the end of 2000.
In addition, there were $7 million of non-cash charges. The
group of employees terminated included U.S. citizens
employed in exploration and production operations and
corporate headquarters personnel.

The following unaudited pro forma summary presents
information as if UTP had been acquired as of the beginning
of ARCO’s fiscal years 1998 and 1997. The pro forma
amounts include certain adjustments, primarily to recognize
depreciation, depletion and amortization based on the
allocated purchase price of UTP assets, and do not reflect
any benefits from economies which might be achieved from
combining operations. The pro forma information does not
necessarily reflect the actual results that would have
occurred nor is it necessarily indicative of future results of
operations of the combined companies:

(millions, except per share amounts) 1998 1997
Sales and other operating revenues $10,570 $15,061
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before extraordinary
item $ (702 $1,372
Income and gains on discontinued
operations 1,107 590
Extraordinary loss — (118)
Net income $ 405 $ 1,844
Earnings (loss) per share
Basic
Continuing operations $(2.19) $ 427
Discontinued operations 345 1.84
Extraordinary loss — 3.7)
Net income $1.26 $5.74
Diluted
Continuing operations $(2.19) $4.19
Discontinued operations 3.45 1.80
Extraordinary loss — {.36)
Net income $1.26 $5.63

BECTON, DICKINSON AND COMPANY (SEP)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
(Thousands of dollars)

2 (In Part): Acquisitions

During fiscal year 1998, the Company acquired six
businesses for an aggregate of $545,603 in cash and up to
595,520 shares of the Company’s common stock, or
297,760 shares on a pre-split basis. At September 30, 1998,
74,440 of these shares, or 37,220 shares on a pre-split
basis, remained in escrow, pending the resolution of certain
post-closing matters. These acquisitions were recorded
under the purchase method of accounting and, therefore,
the purchase prices have been allocated to assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based on estimated fair values. The
results of operations of the acquired companies were
included in the consolidated results of the Company from
their respective aquisition dates.

Included in 1998 acquisitions is the purchase of the
Medical Devices Division (“MDD”) of The BOC Group, which
was completed in April, for approximately $457,000 in cash,
subject to certain post-closing adjustments. In connection
with this acquisition, a charge of $30,000 for purchased in-
process research and development was included in the
Company’s third quarter results. This charge represented
the fair value of certain acquired research and development
projects that were determined to have not reached
technological feasibility. The estimated fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed relating to the MDD
acquisition, which is subject to further refinement, is
summarized below, after giving effect to the write-off of
purchased in-process research and development:
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Working capital $ 24,996
Property, plant and equipment 50,907
Other intangibles 172,472
Goodwill 195,313
Other assets 1,190
Long-term liabilities (18,173)

Goodwill and other intangibles related to MDD are being
amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives,
which range from 15 to 25 years. The Company expects to
finalize its plans for combining the acquired MDD
businesses with its existing operations by the middle of
fiscal 1999. Any resultant severance and exit costs will be
relfected as an adjustment to the allocation of the purchase
price.

The following unaudited pro forma data summarize the
results of operations for the periods indicated as if the MDD
acquisition had been completed as of the beginning of the
periods presented. The pro forma data give effect to actual
operating results prior to the acquisition, adjusted to include
the pro forma effect of interest expense, amortization of
intangibles and income taxes. The 1998 pro forma data
include the $30,000 for purchased in-process research and
development. These pro forma amounts do not purport to
be indicative of the results that would have actually been
obtained if the acquisition occurred as of the beginning of
the periods presented or that may be obtained in the future.

Twelve months ended  Twelve months ended

September 30, 1998  September 30, 1997

Revenues $3,206,837 $3,005,634

Net income 227,664 284,806
Eamings per share:

Basic 91 1.15

Diluted .86 1.09

Unaudited pro forma consolidated results after giving effect
to the other businesses acquired during fiscal 1998 would
not have been materially different from the reported
amounts for either year.

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

2 (In Part): Acquisitions

The Corporation acquired three companies in 1998 and one
company in 1996, as described below. All companies
acquired have been accounted for as purchases with the
excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of
the net assets acquired recorded as goodwill. The results of
each operation have been included in the consolidated
financial results of the Corporation from the date of
acquisition. ,

SiG-Antriebstechnik AG: On December 31, 1998, the
Corporation completed the acquisition of the shares of SIG-
Antriebstechnik AG, a unit of SIG Swiss Industrial Company
Holding Ltd., for approximately $22.0 million in cash, subject

to adjustments as provided in the agreement. The acquired
company, to be renamed Curtiss-Wright Antriebstechnik
GmbH (Curtiss-Wright Drive Technology, Ltd.), is a leading
provider of high-technology drive solutions for three principal
markets: military tracked and wheeled vehicles, high-speed
railroad trains, and commercial marine propulsion. The
Company’s drive system solutions involve electromechanical
and electrohydraulic actuation components and systems
including electronic controls. Drive Technology's sales were
approximately $17 million in 1998 with a year-end backlog
of approximately $53 million. The excess of purchase price
over the fair value of the net assets is approximately $17
million. The fair value of the net assets acquired was based
on preliminary estimates and may be revised at a later date.

Enertech: On July 31, 1998, the Corporation purchased
the assets of Enertech, LLC (Enertech) which distributes,
represents and manufactures a number of products for sale
into commercial nuclear power plants, both domestically
and internationally, Enertech also provides a broad range of
overhaul and maintenance services for such plants from its
two principal locations in California and Georgia. The
Corporation acquired the net assets of Enertech for
approximately $15.2 million in cash of which $13.2 million
was paid at closing and $2.0 million deferred to a specific
future contract date subject to adjustment as provided in the
agreement. The excess of purchase price over the fair value
of the net assets is approximately $9.0 million and is being
amortized over 30 years. The fair value of the net assets
acquired was based on preliminary estimates and may be
revised at a later date.

Alpha Heat Treaters: The Corporation purchased the
assets of the Alpha Heat Treaters (*Alpha”) division of
Alpha-Beta Industries, Inc. on April 30, 1998. Alpha services
a broad spectrum of customers from its York, Pennsylvania
location and provides a number of metal treating processes
including carburizing, surface hardening, stress relieving,
induction hardening and black oxide surface treatment
services. The Corporation acquired the net assets of Alpha
for approximately $6.1 million in cash. The excess of
purchase price over the fair value of the net assets is
approximately $1.0 million, which is being amortized over 25
years. The fair value of the net assets acquired was based
on preliminary estimates and may be revised at a later date.

EG&G, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

2 (In Part): Acquisitions

On December 16, 1998, the Company acquired
substantially all of the outstanding common stock and
options of Lumen Technologies, Inc. (Lumen), a maker of
high-technology specialty light sources. The purchase price
of approximately $253 million, which included $75 million of

assumed debt, was funded with existing cash and

commercial paper borrowings. The acquisition was
accounted for as a purchase under Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 16 (APB No. 16). In accordance with
APB No. 16, the Company allocated the purchase price of
Lumen based on the fair value of the assets acquired and
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liabilities assumed. Portions of the purchase price, including
intangible assets, were identified by independent appraisers
utilizing proven valuation procedures and techniques. These
intangible assets include approximately $2.3 million for
acquired in-process research and development (in-process
R&D) for projects that did not have future alternative uses.
This allocation represents the estimated fair value based on
risk-adjusted cash flows related to the in-process R&D
projects. At the date of the acquisition, the development of
these projects had not yet reached technological feasibility,
and the R&D in progress had no alternative future uses.
Accordingly, these costs were expensed in the fourth
quarter of 1998. Acquired intangibles totaling $11.8 million
included the fair value of trade names, trademarks and
patents. These intangibles are being amortized over their
estimated useful life of ten years. Goodwill resulting from
the Lumen acquisition is being amortized over 30 years.
Approximately $5 million has been recorded as accrued
restructuring charges in connection with the acquisition. The
restructuring plans include initiatives to integrate the
operations of the Company and Lumen, and reduce
overhead. The primary components of these plans relate to:
(a) the transfer of certain manufacturing activities to lower-
cost facilities, (b) integration of the sales and marketing
organization and (c) the termination of certain contractural
obligations. The Company expects that these actions will
result in a reduction in workforce of approximately 200
individuals. Management is in the process of finalizing its
restructuring plans related to Lumen, and, accordingly, the
amounts recorded are based on management’s current
estimates of those costs. The Company will finalize these
plans during 1999, and the majority of the restructuring
actions are expected to occur by 1999-2000.

The components of the purchase price and preliminary
allocation are as follows:

(in thousands)
Consideration and acquisition costs:

Cash paid to Lumen for stock and options $162,050
Debt assumed 74,388
Fair value of options exchanged 6,500
Deferred purchase price for subsidiary minority
interest 6,000
Acquisition costs 3,925
$252,863
Preliminary allocation of purchase price:
Current assets $66,829
Property, plant and equipment 52,525
Acquired intangibles 11,800
In-process R&D 2,300
Goodwill 175,446
Liabilities assumed and other (56,037)
$252,863

As indicated earlier, some allocations are based on studies
and valuations which are cumently being finalized.
Management does not believe that the final purchase price
allocation will produce materially different results than those
reflected herein.

In December 1998, the Company acquired Life Science
Resources Limited (LSR), a U.K.-based developer and

supplier of biotechnology, biomedical and clinical research
instrumentation, for $11 million. In April 1998, in connection
with the divestiture of the Sealol Industrial Seals division,
the Company purchased Belfab, the advanced metal
bellows division of John Crane, Inc. for $45 million in cash.
in February 1998, the Company acquired Isolab, inc., a
supplier of systems for clinical diagnostic screening, for $10
million. These acquisitions were accounted for using the
purchase method. While the Company has not yet finalized
the Belfab purchase price allocation, the excess of the cost
over the fair market value of the net assets acquired is
estimated to be $33 million, which is being amortized over
20 years using a straight-line method. The Company does
not expect that the final allocation of purchase price for
Belfab will produce materially different results from those
reflected herein. The results of operations of the
acquisitions are included in the consolidated results of the
Company from the date of each respective acquisition.

Unaudited pro forma operating results for the Company,
assuming the acquisition of Lumen occurred on December
29, 1996, are as follows:

(in thousands except per share data) 1998 1997
Sales $1,550,951 $1,564,451
Net income 82,476 19,103
Basic earnings per share 1.82 42
Diluted earnings per share 1.80 42

The pro forma amounts in the table above exclude the $2.3
million in-process R&D charge. Pro forma amounts for the
other 1998 acquisitions are not included as their effect is not
material to the Company’s financial statements.

HARMON INDUSTRIES, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

11 (In Part): Acquisitions of Business

On January 29, 1998 the Company acquired the stock of
CSS Inc. This acquisition was made with the issuance of
80,820 shares of unregistered common stock valued at
$17.92 per share. This acquisition has been accounted for
by the purchase method of accounting and accordingly, the
operating results have been included in the Company’'s
consolidated results of operations from the date of
acquisition. The- excess of the consideration given over the
fair value of net assets acquired has been recorded as
goodwill of $1,158,348.

On April 20, 1998 the Company established a new wholly
owned subsidiary, Industrias Harmon de Mexico, S.A. de
C.V. (Harmon de Mexico). The operating results have been
included in the Company’s consolidated results of
operations from the date of incorporation.

On October 1, 1998 the Company established a new
wholly owned subsidiary, Harmon Industries Australia PTY
LTD (Harmon Australia), which was capitalized through a
cash investment. On that same date, Harmon Australia (the
newly formed subsidiary) acquired substantially all of the
assets of Henkes & Harmon Industries PTY LTD (Henkes
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Harmon) which consisted primarily of inventory and
accounts receivable. Harmon Australia also assumed
certain liabilities related to the purchased assets on the
acquisition date. This acquisition has been accounted for by
the purchase method of accounting and accordingly, the
operating results have been included in the Company’'s
consolidated results of operations from the date of
acquisition. The excess of the consideration given over the
fair value of net assets acquired has been recorded as
goodwill of $373,000.

On October 1, 1998, the Company acquired the stock of
Seaboard Systems CO., Inc. for an initial purchase price of
$1,800,000 in cash. In addition to the initial purchase price,
the purchase agreement provides for contingent payments.
These payments are based on the average earnings before
taxes for the calendar years 1998 through 2000. Any
additional consideration paid will be recorded as goodwill.
The acquisition has been accounted for by the purchase
method of accounting and accordingly, the operating results
have been included in the Company’s consolidated results
of operations from the date of acquisition. The excess of the
cash paid over the fair value of net assets acquired has
been recorded as goodwill of $277,166.

On October 1, 1998 the Company acquired the stock of
SES CO, Inc. This acquisition was made with the issuance
of 95,026 shares of unregistered common stock valued at
$21.05 per share and $10,200,000 in cash. In addition to
the initial purchase price, the purchase agreement provides
for contingent payments. These payments are based on the
average earnings before taxes for the calendar years 1998
through 2000. Any additional consideration paid will be
recorded as goodwill. The acquisition has been accounted
for by the purchase method of accounting and accordingly,
the operating results have been included in the Company’s
consolidated results of operations from the date of
acquisition. The excess of the cash paid over the fair value
of net assets acquired has been recorded as goodwill of
$7,601,076.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated results of
operations are presented as if the acquisition of SES CO,
Inc. had been made at the beginning of the periods
presented. The effects of the other 1998 acquisitions on the
consolidated financial statements are not significant and
have been excluded from the pro forma presentation.

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands of dollars) 1998 1997
Net sales $276,812 $227,653
Net earnings 13,440 12,020
Basic earnings per common share 1.28 117
Diluted earnings per common share 1.26 1.16

The pro forma consolidated results of operations include
adjustments to give effect to amortization of goodwill,
interest expense on ‘acquisition debt and certain other
adjustments, together with related income tax effects. The
unaudited pro forma information is not necessarily indicative
of the results of operations that would have occurred had
the purchase been made at the beginning of the periods
presented or the future results of the combined operations.

MEREDITH CORPORATION (JUN)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

3 (In Part): Acquisitions and Dispositions
See Note 13 for information regarding an acquisition

‘agreement entered into subsequent to June 30, 1998.

On July 1, 1997, the company purchased the net assets
of three television stations affiliated with the FOX television
network from First Media Television, L.P. (First Media). The
three stations were: KPDX serving the Portland, Ore.
market; WHNS serving the Greenville, S.C./Spartanburg,
S.C./Asheville, N.C. market; and KFXO serving the Bend,
Ore. market. The total purchase price of the three stations
was $216 million.

Meredith had also agreed to acquire WCPX-TV, a CBS
network-affiliated television station serving the Orlando, Fla.
market, from First Media. However, the company already
owned WOFL, a FOX network-affiliated television station
serving the Orlando market. FCC regulations currently
prohibit the ownership of more than one television station in
a market. Therefore, Meredith reached an agreement with
Post-Newsweek Stations, Inc. (Post-Newsweek), to
exchange the net assets of WCPX for the net assets of
WFSB, a CBS network-affiliated television station serving
the Hartford/New Haven, Conn. market. Post-Newsweek is
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Washington Post
Company. The acquisition of WCPX and the subsequent
exchange for WFSB were completed on September 4,
1997, at a net cost of $159 million.

These acquisitions have been accounted for as asset
purchases, and accordingly, the operations of the acquired
properties have been included in the company’'s
consolidated operating results from their respective
acquisition dates. The costs of the acquisitions have been
allocated on the bases of the estimated fair market values of
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These
purchase price allocations included the following intangibles:
FCC licenses of $212.4 million, network affiliation
agreements of $90.7 million and goodwill of $40.1 million.
FCC licenses and goodwill are being amortized over periods
not exceeding 40 years. Network affiliation agreements are
being amortized over periods ranging from 15 to 40 years.
The acquisitions also included property, plant and
equipment and broadcast program rights and the related
payables. (See Note 6 for information on the debt incurred
to finance these acquisitions.)
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Pro forma results of operations as if the acquisitions had Current assets $ 357.2
occurred at the beginning of each period presented are as PP&E 1743
follows: In-process technology 9.0

Goodwill 679.0

Years Ended June 30, Intangibles 276.8

(in thousands except per share) 1998 1997 Other assets 13.0

Total revenues $1,016,083 $938,036 Total assets $1,500.3

Earninas from continuing operati } 7,489 Current liabilities (240.0)

armings from continuing operations ___$ 80,033 36 Long-term liabilfies (2408)

Net earnings $ 80,033 $ 95182 Long-term debt (251.9)

Basic eamings per share: Fair market value of SPX $ 776.6
Earnings from continuing

operations $ 151 $ 126

. The intangibles, including customer lists of $118.0

Net eamings § 151 $ 178 developed technologies of $85.8, trademarks and work
Diluted eamings per share: force of $73.0, and goodwill will be amortized over 10 to 40

Earnings from continuing years. The valuation included in-process technology of $9.0,

operations $ 146 $ 122 which was expensed in the fourth quarter of 1998. The

; valuations of identifiable intangibles and in-process

Net eamings $ 146 $ 172 technology were based upon independent external
appraisals.

SPX CORPORATION (DEC) The company obtained a new $1,650.0 financing facility,

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

(Dollar amounts and shares in millions, except per
share amounts)

2. Merger of SPX and GSX

On October 6, 1998 (the “Merger Date”), GSX merged into a
subsidiary of SPX Corporation (the “Merger”). On an
aggregate basis, GSX shareholders received 0.4186 share
of SPX common stock and $18.00 in cash for each share
owned of GSX common stock. In total, approximately
18.236 million shares of SPX common stock and $784.2 in
cash were exchanged for the outstanding common stock of
GSX. Outstanding restricted stock and stock options of GSX
were either redeemed through change of control payments
or terminated.

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisition
whereby GSX was treated as the acquirer and SPX as the
acquiree, because GSX shareholders owned a majority of
the company as of the Merger Date and GSX was
approximately twice the size of SPX. Purchase accounting
was performed on SPX based upon its fair market value at
the transaction date. The cash portion of the consideration
was accounted for as a dividend by the company.

The fair market value of SPX was based on the average
per share value of SPX’s common stock near July 17,
1998—the date that the merger agreement was signed.
Additionally, since the company assumed the stock options
outstanding of SPX, the fair value of these options was
included in determining the valuation of SPX.

The valuation of SPX, including transaction costs of
$15.6, was $776.6. A summary of assets and liabilities
acquired, at estimated fair market value was as follows:

including a $250.0 Revolving Loan. Three term loans
aggregating $1,400.0 funded various payments due upon
the Merger, including the cash consideration and the
refinancing of certain debt (see Note 14).

The accompanying consolidated financial statements
include the results of GSX for all periods and the results of
SPX beginning on the Merger Date. The following unaudited
1998 and 1997 pro forma selected financial data reflect the
Merger and related financing as if they had occurred at the
beginning of the applicable year. The 1997 pro forma
financial data also reflect SPX's 1997 disposition of its
Sealed Power division, GSX's 1997 disposition of its
General Signal Pump Group (“GSPG”), and GSX’s 1997
contribution of its General Signal Electric Group (“GSEG”) to
EGS Electrical Group LLC (“EGS”), a venture with Emerson
Electric Co., as if such transactions had occurred on
January 1, 1997. The unaudited pro forma financial data
does not purport to represent what the company’s results
from continuing operations would actually have been had
the transactions in fact occurred as of an earlier date, or
project the results for any future date or period.

Pro Forma (unaudited) 1998 1997
Revenues $2,519.4 $2,500.3
Cost of sales 1,7725 1,718.3
Selling, general and administrative 597.9 551.1
Goodwill/intangible amortization 419 413
Special charges 94.6 116.5
Operating income 125 73.1
Other (expense) income, net 1.0 11.3
Equity in earnings of EGS 40.2 388
Interest expense, net (122.2) (94.2)
Income taxes 10.5 (22.8)
Income (loss) from continuing

operations $ (58.0) $ 62

Diluted income (loss) per share $ (1.88) $ 018
Weighted average number of shares 30,801 34,425
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WITCO CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands)

18. Acquisitions and Dispositions

On May 29, 1998 the Company swapped its epoxy and
adhesives business for Ciba Specialty Chemicals’ PVC heat
stabilizer business. The PVC heat stabilizer business had
an appraised value of approximately $31,000. The
acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and results of
operations have been included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date of the acquisition. A preliminary
allocation of the purchase price (the appraised value of
$31,000) resulted in no goodwill. The disposition of the
Company’s epoxy systems and adhesives business resulted
in a gain of $362 ($221 after-tax; with no earnings per share
effect). The pro forma net sales and results of operations for
this acquisition, had the acquisition occurred at the
beginning of 1998 and 1997, are not significant, and
accordingly, have not been provided.

Formation of Jointly Owned Companies

ARVIN INDUSTRIES, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

2 (In Part): Acquisitions, Divestitures and Discontinued
Operations

In November 1998 Arvin formed a joint venture with Kayaba
Industry Co., Ltd., of Tokyo, Japan to meet the ride control
product demands of North American passenger car and
light truck manufacturers. The joint venture, Arvin-Kayaba,
LLC (A-K), includes Kayaba’'s operation in Franklin, Indiana
and the Arvin Ride Control U.S. operation in Pulaski,
Tennessee. Arvin contributed $50.1 million in net assets
from its Pulaski operation to acquire 50.1 percent ownership
in A-K. There was no gain or loss recorded as a result of
this business combination. The results of A-K’s operations
have been included in the consolidated financial statements
since the date of acquisition.

Also in November 1998, Arvin purchased the remaining
60 percent ownership interest of its Thailand-based joint
venture, Able-Arvin Company Limited, for $3.9 million. Able-
Arvin, renamed Arvin Exhaust Thailand, is located in
Rayong, Thailand where it manufactures and sells exhaust
assemblies. This acquisition was accounted for under the
purchase method and the resuits of Arvin Exhaust Thailand
have been included in the consolidated financial statements
since the date of acquisition.

QUANTUM CORPORATION (MAR)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

5. MKE/Quantum Recording Heads Joint Venture

On May 16, 1997, the Company sold a controlling interest in
its recording heads operations to MKE, thereby initiating a
recording heads joint venture with MKE. The operations are
involved in the research, development, and manufacture of
MR recording heads used in the Company’s disk drive
products manufactured by MKE.

MKE-Quantum Components LLC (“MKQC") was formed
by the Company to hold the operations, assets, and certain
liabilities of the Company’s recording heads operations.
Quantum contributed recording heads assets and
operations, and leased certain premises to MKQC. MKQC
assumed $51 million of debt payable to Quantum, which
matures in the year 2022 with periodic amortization based
on certain available cash. MKE paid Quantum $94 million
and contributed $110 million to MKQC in exchange for a
51% majority ownership interest in MKQC. Quantum
retained a 49% minority ownership interest in MKQC.

The recording heads assets that Quantum contributed to
MKQC consisted of inventory, equipment, accounts
receivable, and intangibles, which aggregated $211 million.
MKQC assumed $24 million of third-party liabilities.
Quantum employees who were involved in the recording
heads operations became employees of MKQC.

MKE and the Company share pro rata in MKQC'’s results
of operations, and would share pro rata in any capital
funding requirements. The Company and MKE plan to
continue to utilize the recording heads manufactured by
MKQC in the Company’s disk drive products manufactured
by MKE. '

Subsequent to May 16, 1997, the Company accounted for
its 49% interest in MKQC using the equity method of
accounting. The results of the Company’s involvement in
recording heads through May 15, 1997, were consolidated.

The Company provided support services to MKQC. The
support services were mainly finance, human resources,
legal, and computer support. MKQC reimbursed the
Company for the estimated cost of the services.

Summarized Financial Information: The following is
summarized financial information for MKQC:

Period from
May 16, 1997 to

(in thousands) March 31, 1998
Sales ' $165,775
Gross margin (loss) (43,677)
Loss from continuing operations (131,693)
Net loss (134,816)

March 31, 1998
Current assets $ 49,520
Noncurrent assets 213,230
Current liabilities 94,707
Note payable to Quantum 50,823

Other noncurrent liabilities 14,964
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Unaudited Pro Forma Information: Giving effect to the
above-noted sale transaction as if it had occurred on April 1,
1996, the pro forma effect on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet at March 31, 1997, would not have been
significant, and net income would have been approximately
$174 million and $180 million for fiscal years 1998 and
1997, respectively, and diluted net income per share would
have been $1.09 and $1.25, respectively. This unaudited
pro forma information is intended for information purposes
only and is not necessarily indicative of the future results of
operations of MKQC or the results of the Company that
would have occurred had the joint venture arrangement
been in effect for the full fiscal year presented.

CONTINGENCIES

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5 defines
a contingency as “an existing condition, situation or set of
circumstances involving uncertainty as to possible gain or
loss to an enterprise that will ultimately be resolved when
one or more future events occur or fail to occur.”
Paragraphs 8-16 of SFAS No. 5 set forth standards of
financial accounting and reporting for loss contingencies.
Paragraph 17 of SFAS No. 5 states the accounting and
reporting standards for gain contingencies. Table 1-11 lists
the loss and gain contingencies disclosed in the annual
reports of the survey companies.

Examples of contingency disclosures, except for tax
carryforwards, follow. Examples of operating loss
carryforwards are presented on pages 379-382.

TABLE 1-11: CONTINGENCIES

Number of Companies

1998 1997 1996 1995
Loss Contingencies
Litigation... 452 433 431 422
Environmental 266 286 296 291
Insurance 56 67 68 64
Possible tax assessments ................. 54 52 53 61
Government investigations ................ 31 39 36 M4
Other-described...........ccocovvrnrerernene 56 57 54 69
Gain Contingencies
Operating loss carryforward............... 293 307 217 282
Investment credit carryforward .. 34 42 32 43
Plaintiff litigation.......................... 39 44 40 47

Other-described...........o. 12 12 12 11

LOSS CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

AMERICAN HOME PRODUCTS CORPORATION
(DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

10 (In Part): Contingencies

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings,
including product liability and environmental matters of a
nature considered normal to its business. See Note 5 for a
discussion of environmental matters. It is the Company’s
policy to accrue for amounts related to these legal matters if
it is probable that a liability has been incurred and an
amount is reasonably estimable.

The Company has been named as a defendant in
numerous legal actions, many of which are purported class
actions, relating to Pondimin and/or Redux, which the
Company estimates were used in the United States prior to
their voluntary market withdrawal by approximately 6 million
people. These actions typically allege, among other things,
that the use of Pondimin and/or Redux, independently or in
combination with the prescription drug phentermine (which
the Company does not manufacture, distribute or market),
causes certain serious conditions, including valvular heart
disease. The Company believes that it has meritorious
defenses to these actions and that it has acted properly at
all times in dealing with Pondimin and Redux matters.

The Company is a defendant in numerous cases that
have been consolidated in federal district court in lllinois as
Brand Name Prescription Drugs Antitrust Litigation (MDL
997) relating to claims made by certain retail pharmacies
against the Company and other pharmaceutical
manufacturers. The Company and other pharmaceutical
manufacturers also are defendants in similar litigation
brought on behalf of consumers and in some cases on
behalf of pharmacies in various state courts. The Company
has settled the class action case in MDL 997 and certain
other cases but remains as a defendant in other cases. The
Company believes it has complied with the antitrust laws
and other applicable laws and settied these cases in order
to avoid the cost and risks of litigation. The settlement
agreements are not admissions of any violation of law.
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The Company is self-insured against ordinary product
liability risks and has liability coverage in excess of certain
limits from various insurance carriers.

In the opinion of the Company, although the outcome of
any legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty,
the ultimate liability of the Company in connection with its
legal proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s financial position but could be material to the
results of operations in any one accounting period.

BORG-WARNER SECURITY CORPORATION (DEC)

* NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

8 (In Part): Contingent Liabilities

The Company’s discontinued property and casualty
insurance subsidiary (“Centaur”) ceased writing insurance in
1984 and has been operating under rehabilitation since
September 1987. Rehabilitation is a process supervised by
the llinois Director of Insurance to attempt to compromise
claim liabilities at an aggregate level that is not in excess of
Centaur’'s assets. In rehabilitation, Centaur's assets are
being used to satisfy claim liabilities under direct insurance
policies written by Centaur. Any remaining assets will be
applied to Centaur's obligations to other insurance
companies under reinsurance contracts. The foregoing has
resulted in a pending lawsuit against the Company for
recovery of alleged damages incurred in excess of $100
million as a result of the failure of Centaur to satisfy its
reinsurance obligations. On August 10, 1998 the Company,
the California Insurance Commissioner as trustee of the
Mission Insurance Companies Trust (“Mission Trust”) and
the lllinois Director of Insurance as rehabilitator of Centaur
agreed to settle such lawsuit, subject to court approval. As
part of such settlement, the Company agreed to pay the
Mission Trust $4 million and one-third of any dividend or
other distribution that may be paid to the Company atter
rehabilitation of Centaur. The payments will not have an
effect on Company earnings. Separately, the Mission Trust
and Centaur agreed to an uncontested liquidated claim in
the Centaur estate of $48 million, for which the Company is
not liable. Additionally, the lllinois Director of Insurance, on
behalf of the Centaur estate, and the Company agreed to
exchange mutual releases of any remaining liability of the
Company to the Centaur estate. The parties have finalized
and executed the settlement and release agreements. The
required court approvals of the settlement are being sought
by the parties with final approval and dismissal of the
lawsuit anticipated in the first half of 1999.

In November and December, 1998, Loomis, Fargo &
Company made various claims against the Company for
indemnification under the Contribution Agreement dated
November 28, 1996 for certain cargo losses and
environmental losses. The Company has objected to the
claims. If the parties are unable to resolve their dispute, it
will be referred to arbitration as provided for under the
Contribution Agreement.

The Company believes that the various asserted claims
and litigation in which it is involved will not materially affect
its financial position, future operating results or cash flows,

although no assurance can be given with respect to the
ultimate outcome of any such claim or litigation.

DELUXE CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

15. Legal Proceedings

During 1997, a judgment was entered against Deluxe
Electronic Payment Systems, Inc. (DEPS), in the U.S.
District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania. The
case was brought against DEPS by Mellon Bank in
connection with a potential bid to provide electronic benefit
transfer services for the Southern Alliance of States. In
September 1997, the Company recorded a pretax charge of
$40 million to reserve for this judgment and other related
costs. This charge was reflected in other expense in the
1997 consolidated income statement. At December 31,
1997, the remaining liability for this obligation was $40
million and was classified as other long-term liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheet.

In 1998, Mellon’s motion for prejudgment interest was
denied by the district court and the Company reversed $4.2
million of the $40 million liability. This reversal is reflected in
other income in the 1998 consolidated statement of income.
In January 1999, the United States Court of Appeals for the
Third Circuit affirmed the judgment of the district court. At
December 13, 1998, the remaining liability of $34.4 million
was classified as other accrued liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet.

16. Subsequent Events (unaudited)

In February 1999, the Company acquired all of the
outstanding shares of eFunds Corporation for $13 million.
eFunds provides electronic check conversion solutions for
financial services companies and retailers. This acquisition
was accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements of the Company will include the results of this
business subsequent to its acquisition date. The purchase
price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their fair values on the date of purchase.
The estimated total cost in excess of net assets acquired of
$15.7 million will be reflected as goodwill and will be
amortized over 10 years. The effect of this acquisition was
not material to the operations or financial position of the
Company.

In January 1999, the Company’s appeal of the judgment
against its subsidiary, Deluxe Electronic Payment Systems,
Inc., was denied by the Third Circuit Court of Appeals and
the Company paid $32.2 million to Mellon Bank in February
1999. The Company is reviewing whether a further appeal is
warranted (see Note 13).
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FMC CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

15 (In Part): Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

On April 14, 1998, a jury returned a verdict against the
company in the amount of $125.0 million in conjunction with
a federal False Claims Act action, in which Mr. Henry
Boisvert filed and ultimately took to trial allegations that the
company had filed false claims for payment in connection
with its contract to provide Bradley Fighting Vehicles to the
Army between 1981 and 1996. Under law, portions of the
jury verdict were subject to doubling or trebling. On
December 24, 1998, the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of California entered judgment for Mr. Boisvert in the
amount of approximately $87 million. This was
approximately $300 million less than the maximum
judgment: possible under the jury verdict. The reduction
resulted from several rulings by the District Court in favor of
the company in the post-trial motions. Cross-appeals to the
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit are now pending.
Both sides are asserting arguments on appeal, and a
number of those arguments, if successful, would alter or
eliminate the amount of the existing judgment. Any legal
proceeding is subject to inherent uncertainty, and it is not
possible to predict how the appellate court will rule.
Therefore, it is the position of the company’s management
based on a review, including a review by outside counsel,
that it is not possible to estimate the amount of a probable
loss, if any, to the company that might result from some
adverse aspects of the judgment in this action ultimately
standing against the company. Accordingly, no provision for
this matter has been made in the company’s consolidated
financial statements.

The company also has certain other contingent liabilities
resulting from litigation, claims, performance guarantees,
and other commitments incident to the ordinary course of
business. Management believes that the probable resolution
of such contingencies will not materially affect the financial
position, results of operations or cash flows of FMC.

FORT JAMES CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

13 (In Part): Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

Litigation and Environmental Matters: The Company is party
to various legal proceedings generally incidental to its
business and is subject to a variety of environmental and
poliution control laws and regulations. As is the case with
other companies in similar industries, Fort James faces
exposure from actual or potential claims and legal
proceedings.

in May 1997, the Attorney General of the State of Florida
filed a civil action against the Company and eight other
manufacturers of sanitary paper products. The complaint
alleges violations of federal and state antitrust and unfair
competition laws and seeks civil penalty under Florida law

of $1 million for each alleged violation against each
defendant, an unspecified amount of treble damages and
injunctive relief. Three other state attorney generals have
brought similar suits which are expected to be consolidated
in the Florida District Court. In addition, numerous other
filings have been filed in federal courts on behalf of an
alleged class of direct purchasers, all seeking similar
damages for similar alleged violations. The class actions
were consolidated in the Florida District Court, and in July
1998, the Court conditionally certified the class. State class
actions also have been filed in certain states, on behalf of
an alleged class of indirect purchasers, seeking similar
damages for similar alleged violations under state law. The
Company believes these cases are without merit and is
vigorously defending both federal and state actions.

Although the ultimate disposition of legal proceedings
cannot be predicted with certainty, it is the opinion of the
Company’s management that the outcome of any claim
which is pending or threatened, either individually or on a
combined basis, will not have a materially adverse effect on
the consolidated financial condition of Fort James but could
materially affect consolidated results of operations in a
given year.

HILLENBRAND INDUSTRIES, INC. (NOV)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

14 (In Part): Contingencies

On August 16, 1995, Kinetic Concepts, Inc., and Medical
Retro Design, Inc.. (collectively, the “plaintiffs”), filed suit
against Hillenbrand Industries, Inc., and its subsidiary Hill-
Rom Company, Inc., in the United States District Court for
the Western District of Texas, San Antonio Division. The
plaintiffs allege violation of various antitrust laws, including
illegal bundling of products, predatory pricing, refusal to deal
and attempting to monopolize the hospital bed industry.
They seek monetary damages totaling in excess of $269
million, trebling of any damages that may be allowed by the
court, and injunctions to prevent further alleged unlawful
activities. The Company believes that the claims are without
merit and is aggressively defending itself against all
allegations. Accordingly, it has not recorded any loss
provision relative to damages sought by the plaintiffs. On
November 20, 1996, the Company filed a Counterclaim to
the above action against Kinetic Concepts, Inc. (KCI) in the
U.S. District Court in San Antonio, Texas. The Counterclaim
alleges, among other things, that KCI has attempted to
monopolize the therapeutic bed market, interfere with the
Company’'s and Hill-Rom’s business relationships by
conducting a campaign of anticompetitive conduct, and
abused the legal process for its own advantage.
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MALLINCKRODT INC. (JUN)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

21 (In Part): Contingencies

The Company is subject to various investigations, claims
and legal proceedings covering a wide range of matters that
arise in the ordinary course of its business activities.

On October 6, 1994, Augustine Medical, Inc. (Augustine)
commenced a patent infringement litigation against
Mallinckrodt Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary,
Mallinckrodt Medical, Inc. (collectively, the Company) in the
U.S. District Court for the District of Minnesota. Specifically,
Augustine alleged that the Company’s sale of all five models
of its convective warming blankets infringes certain claims
of one or more of its patents. The Company filed
counterclaims against Augustine in connection with the
above actions alleging unfair competition, antitrust
violations, and invalidity of the asserted patents, among
other things.

The liability phase of the case was tried to a jury in
August 1997 and the verdict was that the Company’s
blankets infringe certain Augustine patents under the
doctrine of equivalents, but do not literally infringe the
patents. There was also a finding of no willful infringement.
On September 22, 1997, the jury awarded damages in the
amount of $16.8 million for the period ended September 30,
1997 and the judge put in place an injunction which stopped
the Company from manufacturing and selling blankets in the
United States. The Company appealed the jury verdicts of
liability and damages to the Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit (a special court for patent appeals that does not
involve a jury). The Court of Appeals has stayed the
injunction pending the outcome of the Company’s appeal,
and the Company continues to sell and manufacture
blankets in the United States. With the advice of outside
counsel, the Company believes there was insufficient
evidence of equivalents presented and, consequently, for
this and other reasons the verdicts were in error. The
Company is working vigorously in the Appeals Court to
overturn the verdicts and believes that it has strong
arguments that its blankets do not infringe Augustine’s
patents.

Based on all the facts available to management, the
Company believes that it is probable that the jury verdict
and the trial court injunction will be overturned on appeal. If
damages were assessed in the same manner as
determined by the jury for sales subsequent to September
30, 1997 plus interest on the estimated total, the total
liability would approximate $22.4 million at June 30, 1998.
The Company has not recorded an accrual for payment of
the damages, because an unfavorable outcome in this
litigation is, in management’s opinion, reasonably possible
but not probable.

THE McGRAW-HILL COMPANIES, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

14. Legal Proceedings

In June 1996, a complaint was filed against the company in
the United States Bankruptcy Court, Central District of
California, in an action captioned County of Orange v.
McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., d/b/a Standard & Poor’s. The
complaint alleged that Standard & Poor’s breached its rating
contracts with Orange County (‘the County”), was
professionally negligent and aided and abetted the County’s
officers in breaching their fiduciary duty. The lawsuit was
transferred to the United States District Court for the Central
District of California in December 1996 following dismissal
by the Bankruptcy Court of the aiding and abetting claim. In
April 1997, the County filed an amended complaint against
the company alleging breach of contract and “professional
malpractice” and adding a claim for unspecified punitive
damages. In December 1998, the County filed a motion
seeking reconsideration of the previous dismissal of the
aiding and abetting claim and requesting leave to file an
amended complaint adding the aiding and abetting claim.
The trial, previously scheduled to commence on March 2,
1999, was adjourned by the District Court pending a
decision by the California Supreme Court whether to review
an appeal in another litigation concerning the scope of
aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty claims under
California law.

In response to the company'’s interrogatories, the County
has claimed (inconsistently with damages claims made by
the County in other litigation documents) compensatory
damages of approximately $2.1 billion, subject to certain
offsets.

While the ultimate outcome of the above-mentioned
litigation cannot be ascertained at this time, based on
current knowledge of the applicable law and facts and
taking into consideration the opinion of the company’'s
general counsel that the allegations by the County and the
damages claims lack merit and that the company should
prevail ultimately in this litigation, management believes that
this lawsuit should not have a material adverse effect on the
company’s financial statements or its business operations.

PFIZER INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

17 (In Part): Litigation

In June 1993, the Ministry of Justice of the State of Sao
Paulo, Brazil, commenced a civil public action against the
Company's Brazilian subsidiary, Laboratorios Pfizer Ltda.
(“Pfizer Brazil”) asserting that during a period in 1991, Pfizer
Brazil withheld sale of the pharmaceutical product Diabinese
in violation of antitrust and consumer protection laws. The
action seeks the award of moral, economic and personal
damages to individuals and the payment to a public reserve
fund. On February 8, 1996, the trial court issued a decision
holding Pfizer Brazil liable. The award of damages to
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individuals and the payment into the public reserve fund will
be determined in a subsequent phase of the proceedings.
The trial court’s opinion sets out a formula for calculating the
payment into the public reserve fund which could result in a
sum of approximately $88 million. The total amount of
damages payable to eligible individuals under the decision
would depend on the number of persons eventually making
claims. Pfizer Brazil is appealing this decision. The
Company believes that this action is without merit and
should not have a material adverse effect on the financial
position or the results of operations of the Company.

WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION (JUN)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

4 (In Part): Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

Legal Proceedings: The Company was sued by Amstrad
PLC (“Amstrad”) in December 1992 in Orange County
Superior Court. The complaint alleges that hard drives
supplied by the Company in calendar 1988 and 1989 were
defective and caused damages to Amstrad of $186.0 million
in out-of-pocket expenses, lost profits, injury to Amstrad’s
reputation and loss of goodwil. The Company filed a
counterclaim for $3.0 million in actual damages in addition
to exemplary damages in an unspecified amount. The
Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to
Amstrad’s claims and intends to vigorously defend itself
against the Amstrad claims and to press its claims against
Amstrad in this action. The case is scheduled for trial in
September 1998. Although the Company believes that the
final disposition of this matter will not have an adverse effect
on the Company’s financial condition or operating results, if
Amstrad were to prevail on its claims, a judgment for a
material amount could be awarded against the Company.

Between December 12, 1997 and February 24, 1998,
eight class action suits were filed against the Company and
certain of its officers and directors. The plaintiffs in the
actions purport to represent purchasers of the Company’s
common stock during various periods ranging from July 25,
1996 through December 2, 1997 (collectively, the “Class
Periods”). The complaints allege that the Company issued
false and misleading statements during the respective Class
Periods concerning the outlook for the Company’s
operations and earnings and that the Company issued false
and misleading financial statements in fiscal years 1996 and
1997 by improperly deferring the write-down of obsolete
inventory. The complaints seek compensatory damages for
the purported class members in an unspecified amount. The
Court ordered the cases consolidated and designated the
plaintiffs in the first case filed as the lead plaintiffs and the
law firm representing such plaintiffs as lead counsel. The
Company filed a motion to dismiss the amended
consolidated complaint which was granted by the Court with
prejudice.

The Company is also subject to other legal proceedings
and claims which arise in the ordinary course of its
business. Although occasional adverse decisions or
settlements may occur, the Company believes that the final
disposition of such matters will not have a material adverse
effect on its financial position, results of operations or
liquidity.

Environmental Matters

THE COASTAL CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

16 (In Part): Litigation, Environmental and Regulatory
Matters

Environmental Matters: The Company’s operations are
subject to extensive and evolving federal, state and local
environmental laws and regulations. Compliance with such
laws and regulations can be costly. Additionally,
governmental authorites may enforce the laws and
regulations with a variety of civil and criminal enforcement
measures, including monetary penalties and remediation
requirements.

The Company spent approximately $13 million in 1998 on
environmental capital projects and anticipates capital
expenditures of approximately $44 million in 1999 in order to
comply with such laws and regulations. The majority of the
1999 expenditures is attributable to projects at the
Company’s refining, chemical and terminal facilities. The
Company currently anticipates capital expenditures for
environmental compliance for the years 2000 through 2002
of $20 to $40 million per year.

The  Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act, also known as “Superfund,”
imposes liability for the release of a “hazardous substance”
into the environment. Superfund liability is imposed without
regard to fault and even if the waste disposal was in
compliance with the then current laws and regulations. With
the joint and several liability imposed under Superfund, a
potentially responsible party (“PRP”) may be required to pay
more than its proportional share of such costs. Certain
subsidiaries of the Company and a company in which
Coastal owns a 50% interest have been named as a PRP in
several “Superfund” waste disposal sites. At the 11 sites for
which there is sufficient information, total cleanup costs are
estimated to be approximately $620 million, and the
Company estimates its pro-rata exposure, to be paid over a
period of several years, is approximately $7.5 million and
has made appropriate provisions. At nine other sites, the
Environmental Protection Agency (*EPA”) is currently
unable to provide the Company with an estimate of total
cleanup costs and, accordingly, the Company is unable to
calculate its share of those costs. Additionally, certain
subsidiaries of the Company have been named as PRPs in
two state sites. At one site, the North Carolina Department
of Health, Environmental and Natural Resources has
estimated the total cleanup costs to be approximately $50
million, but the Company believes the subsidiary’s activities
at this site were de minimis. At the second state site, the
Florida Department of Environmental Protection has
demanded reimbursement of its costs, which total $100,000,
and suitable remediation. There is not sufficient information
to estimate the remedial costs or the Company’s pro-rata
exposure at this site.

Future information and developments, including legislative
and enforcement developments, will require the Company to
continually reassess the expected impact of these
environmental matters. However, the Company has
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evaluated its total environmental exposure based on
currently available data, including its potential joint and
several liability, and believes that compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations will not have a material
adverse impact on the Company’s financial position or
results of operations.

COMMERCIAL METALS COMPANY (AUG)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

9 (In Part): Commitments and Contingencies

In the ordinary course of conducting its business, the
Company becomes involved in litigation, administrative
proceedings and governmental investigations, including
environmental matters.

The Company has received notices  from the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or equivalent state
agency that it is considered a potentially responsible party
(PRP) at thirteen sites, none owned by the Company, and
may be obligated under the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980
(CERCLA) or similar state statute to conduct remedial
investigations, feasibility studies, remediation and/or
removal of alleged releases of hazardous substances or to
reimburse the EPA for such activities. The Company is
involved in litigation or administrative proceedings with
regard to several of these sites in which the Company is
contesting, or at the appropriate time may contest, its PRP
designation. In addition, the Company has received
information requests with regard to other sites which may be
under consideration by the EPA as potential CERCLA sites.

Some of these environmental matters or other
proceedings may result in fines, penalties or judgments
being assessed against the Company, which, from time to
time, may have a material impact on earnings for a
particular quarter. While the Company is unable to estimate
precisely the ultimate dollar amount of exposure to loss in
connection with the above-referenced matters, it makes
accruals as warranted. Due to evolving remediation
technology, changing regulations, possible third-party
contributions, the inherent shortcomings of the estimation
process and other factors, amounts accrued could vary
significantly from amounts paid. Accordingly, it is not
possible to estimate a meaningful range of possible
exposure. It is the opinion of the Company’s management
that the outcome of these proceedings, individually or in the
aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the
business or consolidated financial position of the Company.

ENGELHARD CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Environmental Costs: In the ordinary course of business,
like most other industrial companies, the Company is

subject to extensive and changing federal, state, local and
foreign environmental laws and regulations, and has made
provisions for the estimated financial impact of
environmental cleanup related costs. The Company’s policy
is to accrue environmental cleanup related costs of a
noncapital nature when those costs are believed to be
probable and can be reasonably estimated. The
quantification of environmental exposures requires an
assessment of many factors, including changing laws and
regulations, advancements in environmental technologies,
the quality of information available related to specific sites,
the assessment stage of each site investigation, preliminary
findings and the length of time involved in remediation or
settlement. For certain matters, the Company expects to
share costs with other parties. The Company does not
include anticipated recoveries from insurance carriers or
other third parties in its accruals for environmental liabilities.

17. Environmental Costs

With the oversight of environmental agencies, the Company
is currently preparing, has under review, or is implementing,
environmental investigations and cleanup plans at several
currently or formerly owned and/or operated sites, including
Plainville, MA, Salt Lake City, UT and Attapulgus, GA. The
Company is continuing to investigate contamination at
Plainville under a 1993 agreement with the United States
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and is awaiting
approval of a decommissioning plan by the State of
Massachusetts under authority delegated by the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission. Investigation of the environmental
status at the Salt Lake City site continues under a 1993
agreement with the Utah Solid and Hazardous Waste
Control Board. An approved reclamation program at the
Attapulgus site, under a 1994 consent order with the
Georgia Department of Natural Resources, Environmental
Protection Division, is complete pending final Department
approval. .

In addition, seven sites have been identified at which the
Company believes liability as a potentially responsible party
(PRP) is probable under the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as
amended, or similar state laws (collectively referred to as
Superfund) for the cleanup of contamination resulting from
the historic disposal of hazardous substances allegedly
generated by the Company, among others. Superfund
imposes strict, joint and several liability under certain
circumstances. In many cases, the dollar amount of the
claim is unspecified and claims have been asserted against
a number of other entities for the same relief sought from
the Company. Based on existing information, the Company
believes that it is a de minimis contributor of hazardous
substances at a number of the sites referenced above.
Subject to the reopening of existing settlement agreements
for _extraordinary circumstances or natural resource
damages, the Company has settled a number of other
cleanup proceedings. The Company has also responded to
information requests from EPA and state regulatory
authorities in connection with other Superfund sites.

The liabilities for environmental cleanup related costs
recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at December
31, 1998 and 1997 were $39.5 million and $43.6 million,
respectively, including $1.2 milion and $3.8 million,
respectively, for Superfund sites. These amounts represent
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those costs which the Company believes are probable and
reasonably estimable. Based on currently available
information and analysis, the Company’s accrual represents
approximately 55% of what it believes are the reasonably
possible environmental cleanup related costs of a noncapital
nature. The estimate of reasonably possible costs is less
certain than the probable estimate upon which the accrual is
based.

During the past three-year period, cash payments for
environmental cleanup related matters were $4.1 million,
$6.0 million and $7.0 million for 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively. The amounts accrued in connection with
environmental cleanup related matters were not significant
over this time period.

For the past three-year period, environmental related
capital projects have averaged less than 10 percent of the
Company’s total capital expenditure programs, and the
expense of environmental compliance (e.g., environmental
testing, permits, consultants and in-house staff)y was not
material.

There can be no assurances that environmental laws and
regulations will not become more stringent in the future or
that the Company will not incur significant costs in the future
to comply with such laws and regulations. Based on existing
information and currently enacted environmental laws and
regulations, cash payments for environmental cleanup
related matters are projected to be $8.0 million for 1999, all
of which has already been accrued. Further, the Company
anticipates that the amounts of capitalized environmental
projects and the expense of environmental compliance will
approximate current levels. While it is not possible to predict
with certainty, management believes that environmental
cleanup related reserves at December 31, 1998 are
reasonable and adequate and that environmental matters
are not expected to have a material adverse effect on
financial condition. These matters, if resolved in a manner
different from the estimates, could have a material adverse
effect on operating results or cash flows.

THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY
(DEC)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Accounting Policies

Environmental Cleanup Matters: The Company expenses
environmental expenditures related to existing conditions
resulting from past or current operations and from which no
current or future benefit is discernible. Expenditures that
extend the life of the related property or mitigate or prevent
future environmental contamination are capitalized. The
Company determines its liability on a site by site basis and
records a liability at the time when it is probable and can be
reasonably estimated. The Company’s estimated liability is
reduced to reflect the anticipated participation of other
potentially responsible parties in those instances where it is
probable that such parties are legally responsible and
financially capable of paying their respective shares of the
relevant costs. The estimated liability of the Company is not
discounted or reduced for possible recoveries from
insurance carriers. Refer to Note 20.

20 (In Part): Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

At December 31, 1998, the Company had recorded
liabilities aggregating $71.7 million for anticipated costs,
including legal and consulting fees, site studies, the design
and implementation of remediation plans, post-remediation
monitoring and related activities, related to various
environmental matters, primarily the remediation of
numerous waste disposal sites and certain properties sold
by the Company. The amount of the Company’s ultimate
liability in respect of these matters may be affected by
several uncertainties, primarily the ultimate cost of required
remediation and the extent to which other responsible
parties contribute, and is expected to be paid over several
years. Refer to Environmental Cleanup Matters at Note 1.

PITNEY BOWES INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

14 (In Part): Commitments, Contingencies and Regulatory
Matters

The company is subject to federal, state and local laws and
regulations concerning the environment, and is currently
participating in administrative or court proceedings as a
participant in various groups of potentially responsible
parties. As previously announced by the company, in 1996
the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) issued an
administrative order directing the company to be part of a
soil cleanup program at the Sarney Farm site in Amenia,
New York. The site was operated as a landfill between the
years 1968 and 1970 by parties unrelated to the company,
and wastes from a number of industrial sources were
disposed there. The company does not concede liability for
the condition of the site, but is working with the EPA to
identify and then seek reimbursement from other potentially
responsible parties. The company estimates that the cost of
this remediation effort will range between $3 million and $5
million for the soil remediation program. All of these
proceedings are at various stages of activity, and it is
impossible to estimate with any certainty the total cost of
remediating, the timing and extent of remedial actions which
may be required by governmental authorities, or the amount
of liability, if any, of the company. If and when it is possible
to make a reasonable estimate of the company’s liability in
any of these matters, the company will make a financial
provision as appropriate. Based on facts presently known,
the company does not believe that the outcome of these
proceedings will have a material adverse effect on its
financial condition.

RALSTON PURINA COMPANY (SEP)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Commitments and Contingencies (In Part)

Legal and Environmental Matters: The Company is a party
to a number of legal proceedings in various state, federal
and foreign jurisdictions. These proceedings are in varying
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stages and many may proceed for protracted periods of
time. Some proceedings involve highly complex questions
of fact and law.

The operations of the Company, like those of other
companies engaged in similar businesses, are subject to
various federal, state, and local laws and regulations
intended to protect the public health and the environment.
These regulations primarily relate to, among other things, air
and water quality, underground fuel storage tanks and
waste handling and disposal. The Company has received
notices from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency,
state agencies, and/or private parties seeking contribution,
that it has been identified as a “potentially responsible party”
(PRP), under the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act or similar state statutes, and
may be required to share in the cost of cleanup with respect
to 13 “Superfund” sites. The Company’s ultimate liability in
connection with those sites may depend on many factors,
including the volume of material contributed to the site, the
number of other PRP’s and their financial viability, and the
remediation methods and technology to be used.

In the opinion of management, based on the information
presently known, the ultimate liability for all such matters,
together with the liability for all other pending legal
proceedings, asserted legal claims and known potential
legal claims which are likely to be asserted, taking into
account established accruals of $12.6 for estimated
liabilities, should not be material to the financial position of
the Company, but could be material to results of operations
or cash flows for a particular quarter or annual period. Costs
of future expenditures for environmental remediation
obligations are not discounted to their present value.

REPUBLIC GROUP INCORPORATED (JUN)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Environmental Remediation and Compliance: Environmental
expenditures are expensed or capitalized, as appropriate.
Liabilities are recorded when assessments and/or remedial
efforts are probable and the cost can be reasonably
estimated.

6. Other Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

In connection with the Company’s preparation for a
warehouse addition to its paperboard mill located in
Commerce City, Colorado, a suburb of Denver, the
Company discovered and has been investigating the
presence of subsurface petroleum hydrocarbons. The
Company retained an environmental consultant who
concluded that fuel oil, jet fuel and gasoline additives had
migrated in the subsurface of the Company’s property from
an adjacent property. The Company has conducted its own
investigations, and the adjacent property owner has
conducted its own investigations. Additionally, the Company
and the adjacent owner have jointly sponsored
investigations. Discussions between the parties continue.
The Company has completed the construction of the

warehouse addition under approval of the Colorado
Department of Health.

On October 17, 1997, the West Virginia Division of
Environmental Protection (“DEP”) filed a complaint against
Republic Paperboard Company of West Virginia (the “West
Virginia Subsidiary”) in the Circuit Court of Jefferson
County, West Virginia. The complaint alleges that the West
Virginia Subsidiary has violated and continues to violate a
previous order entered into between the West Virginia
Subsidiary and DEP on January 17, 1995 and further
alleges that the West Virginia Subsidiary has violated and
continues to violate certain provisions of its wastewater
discharge permit. The West Virginia Subsidiary has
responded in a timely manner to the allegations of the
complaint.

At this time, the Company has not ascertained the future
liability, if any, of the above matters. Environmental
expenditures directly related to these matters were $12,000
in fiscal 1998, $11,000 in fiscal 1997, and $3,000 in fiscal
1996. These costs were included in selling and
administrative expenses.

ROCK-TENN COMPANY (SEP)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

10 (In Part): Commitments and Contingencies

Environmental and Other Matters: The Company is subject
to many federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws
and regulations. The Company is currently involved in the
assessment of various sites, two of which the Company has
an ownership interest in and all others of which are owned
by third parties. Environmental expenditures which relate to
an existing condition caused by past operations and which
have no significant future economic benefit to the Company
are expensed. Future environmental-related expenditures
cannot be reliably determined in many circumstances due to
the early stages of investigations, the uncertainty of specific
remediation methods, changing environmental laws and
interpretations and other matters. Such costs are accrued at
the time the expenditure becomes probable and the costs
can be reasonably estimated. Costs are accrued based
upon estimates determined by management.

The Company has been named as a potentially
responsible party at nine sites. At such sites, a variety of
potentially responsible parties are involved. Management
believes that it is probable that the parties associated with
these sites will fulfill their obligations.

Expenses associated with and amounts accrued for
environmental assessment and remediation have not been
material for the three years ended September 30, 1998. It is
possible that costs in excess of amounts accrued may be
incurred; however, management believes that such
additional amounts will not have a material effect on the
Company’s financial position and results of operations.

On December 1, 1995, a suit was filed by a private party
against, among others, the Company in the United States
District Court for the Western District of Michigan alleging
that the Company is jointly and severally liable under federal
and state law for the release of certain hazardous materials
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at the Allied Paper, Inc./Portage Creek/Kalamazoo River
Superfund Site. The Company has entered into a settlement
agreement pursuant to which the Company paid $325,000
and received releases from certain past, present and future
environmental claims and actions involving this site.

TWIN DISC, INCORPORATED (JUN)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

N. Contingencies

The Company is involved in various stages of investigation
relative to hazardous waste sites, two of which are on the
United States EPA National Priorities List (Superfund sites).
The Company's assigned responsibility at each of the
Superfund sites is less than 2%. The Company has also
been requested to provide administrative information related
to two other potential Superfund sites but has not yet been
identified as a potentially responsible party. Additionally, the
Company is subject to certain product liability matters.

At June 30, 1998, the Company has accrued
approximately $1,350,000, which represents management’s
best estimate available for possible losses related to these
contingencies. This amount has been provided over the
past several years. Based on the information available, the
Company does not expect that any unrecorded liability
related to these matters would materially affect the
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.

WHITMAN CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

15. Environmental and Other Contingencies

The Company is subject to certain indemnification
obligations under agreements with previously sold
subsidiaries for potential environmental liabilities. There is
significant uncertainty in assessing the Company's share of
the potential liability for such claims. The assessment and
determination for cleanup at the various sites involved is
inherently speculative during the early stages, and the
Company’s share of related costs is subject to various
factors, including possible insurance recoveries and the
allocation of liabilities among many other potentially
responsible and financially viable parties.

The Company’s largest environmental exposure has been
and continues to be the remedial action required at a facility
in Portsmouth, Virginia for which the Company has an
indemnity obligation. This is a superfund site which the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency required be remediated.
Through 1998, the Company had spent an estimated $16.3
million (net of $3.1 million of recoveries from other
responsible parties) for remediation of the Portsmouth site
(consisting principally of soil treatment and removal) and
has accrued and expects to incur an estimated $9 million to
complete the remediation over the next one to two years.

Although the Company has indemnification obligations for
environmental liabilities at a number of other sites, including
several superfund sites, it is not anticipated that the
expense involved at any specific site would have a material
effect on the Company. In the case of the other superfund
sites, the volumetric contribution for which the Company has
an obligation has been estimated and other large, financially
viable parties are responsible for all or most of the
remainder.

At January 2, 1999, the Company had $24.3 million
accrued to cover potential environmental liabilities, including
$8.0 million classified as current liabilities, which excludes
possible insurance recoveries and is determined on an
undiscounted cash flow basis. Based on the latest
evaluations from outside advisors and consultants, the
Company believes the upper end of the range for its
potential future environmental liabilities is approximately $15
million higher than the current accrued balance. Whitman
has determined that there is a range of possible liabilities.
Whitman has determined that there is no amount within the
range that appears to be a better estimate than any other
amount within the range and the minimum amount within
the range has been accrued. The Company expects a
significant portion of the accrual will be disbursed during the
next four years. During 1998, the Company recorded
recoveries of $11.3 million from insurance companies and
other responsible parties related to these environmental
liabilities, a portion of which will be received in future
periods. Receivables from such recoveries were included as
assets on the Company’s balance sheets.

These estimated liabilities include expenses for the
remediation of identified sites, payments to third parties for
claims and expenses, and the expense of on-going
evaluations and litigation. The estimates are based upon the
judgments of outside consultants and experts and their
evaluations of the characteristics and parameters of the
sites, including results from field inspections, test borings
and water flows. Their estimates are based upon the use of
current technology and remediation techniques, and do not
take into consideration any inflationary trends upon such
claims or expenses, nor do they reflect the possible benefits
of continuing improvements in remediation methods. The
accruals also do not provide for any claims for
environmental liabilities or other potential issues which may
be filed against the Company in the future.

The Company also has other contingent liabilities from
various pending claims and litigation on a number of
matters, including indemnification claims under agreements
with previously sold subsidiaries for products liability and
toxic torts. The ultimate liability for these claims, if any,
cannot be determined. in the opinion of management, and
based upon information currently available, the- ultimate
resolution of these claims and litigation, including potential
environmental exposures, and considering amounts already
accrued, will not have a material effect on the Company’s
financial condition or the results of operations. While
additional claims and liabilities may develop and may result
in additional charges to income, principally through
discontinued operations, the Company does not believe that
such charges, if any, would have a material effect upon the
Company’s financial condition or the results of operations.

Existing environmental liabilities associated with the
Company’s continuing operations are not material.
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Insurance Coverage/Self-Insurance

STEELCASE INC. (FEB)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Self-Insurance: The Company is self-insured for certain
losses relating to workers’ compensation claims, employee
medical benefits and product liability claims. The Company
has purchased stop-loss coverage in order to limit its
exposure to any significant levels of workers’ compensation
and product liability claims. Self-insured losses are accrued
based upon the Company’'s estimates of the aggregate
liability for uninsured claims incurred using certain actuarial
assumptions followed in the insurance industry and the
Company’s historical experience.

The accrued liabilities for self-insured losses included in
other accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets are as follows:

(in millions) Feb. 27,1998  Feb. 28, 1997
Workers’ compensation claims $16.8 $16.1
Product liability claims 115 9.6

$28.3 $25.7

The Company maintains a Voluntary Employees’
Beneficiary Association (VEBA) to fund employee medical
claims covered under self-insurance. The estimates for
incurred but not reported medical claims have been fully
funded by the Company as of February 27, 1998 and
February 28, 1997.

WINNEBAGO INDUSTRIES, INC. (AUG)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

10 (In Part): Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

The Company self-insures for a portion of product liability
claims. Self-insurance retention liability varies annually
based on market conditions and for the past three fiscal
years was at $2,500,000 per occurrence and ranged from
$6,000,000 (fiscal 1998) to $8,500,000 in aggregate per
policy year. Liabilities in excess of these amounts are the
responsibility of the insurer.

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings
which are ordinary routine litigation incident to its business,
many of which are covered in whole or in part by insurance.
While it is impossible to estimate with certainty the ultimate
legal and financial liability with respect to this litigation,
management is of the opinion that while the final resolution
of any such litigation may have an impact on the Company's
consolidated results for a particular reporting period, the
ultimate disposition of such litigation will not have any
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or liquidity.

Possible Tax Assessments

EG&G, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

19 (In Part): Contingencies

The Company has received notices from the Internal
Revenue Service (IRS) asserting deficiencies in federal
corporate income taxes for the Company’s 1985 to 1994 tax
years. The total additional tax proposed by the IRS amounts
to $74 million plus interest. The Company has filed petitions
in the United States Tax Court to challenge most of the
deficiencies asserted by the IRS. The Company believes
that it has meritorious legal defenses to those deficiencies
and believes that the ultimate outcome of the case will not
result in a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
results of operations or financial position.

PENNZENERGY COMPANY (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

2 (In Part): Income Taxes

In September 1998, PennzEnergy received a letter and
examination report from the District Director of the Internal
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